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Dear Stockholder,

2006 was an extraordinary year for WebSideStory as we expanded beyond web analytics into multi-channel customer analytics.
Our merger with Visual Sciences opened up many new opportunities for the company and allows us to offer new, technologically
advanced solutions to our customers. This was truly a game changing merger.

We posted strong revenue growth for the year with revenue growing at 64% and we ended the year with over 1,500 enterprise
customers. We posted a loss for the year as our operational earnings were impacted by the adoption of the new stock based
compensation accounting standard, SFAS 123R, and the large amount of amortization of intangibles related 1o our mergers,
both of which are non-cash charges. Excluding the cash utiiized in the Visual Sciences merger, the business generated $20 million
dollars in cash during 2006.

2006 was a year of integration for the company after our merger with Visual Sciences, "We posted Strong
culminating in the announcernent of a merged sales, services and support analytics

revenue growth
our Visual Sciences products to prepare to market, sell and support large enterprise for the ye ar Wlth

organization for 2007. These groups went through extensive training in 2006 on

customers, as welt as small and midsize businesses.

revenue growing at

Q
on the integration of the Visual Sciences and WebSideStory analytics products which 64 A) and we endEd
culminated with the availability of Visual HBX, a bridge between the HBX architecture the year with over
and the Visual Sciences platform. In the site search arena, we released the industry’s

In the product area, we continued to release award winning solutions while we worked

1,500 enterprise

first Web site search solution to automatically rank site search relevancy based on
the bread spectrum of Web site behavioral data and we afso released our first AJAX- customers.”
based search product.

In the macro environment around our business we see growing streams of data that our clients need to anatyze. The continued
rapid expansion of the amount of customer activity data that requires analysis is being driven by consumer broadband penetration
and the mainstream use of internet videa. In the telecommunications industry, where our clients now make up over 85% of US.
revenue, we see rapid expansion to next generation interactive multi-media data services that require new analysis capabilities
that we are uniquely prepared to serve. We also see the ongoing deployment of new customer interaction systems, such as
advanced point of sale systems and customer facing kiosks, driving new volumes of data that require analysis. In the web analytics
space, we continue to see on-line commerce and on-line ad spending growing at between 25% and 30%. WebSideStory is well
positioned to provide its clients with solutions for analyzing these large and growing streams of real-time data.

On a persanal note, | was very excited to be named the company’s president and chief executive officer in November 2006 and
I look forward to leading the company in 2007 and beyond. In 2007, we will be focused on delivering superior levels of service
and support to our customers and continuing cur history of innovation by releasing and supporting the most technologically
sophisticated customer analytics products on the market today.

Sincerely,

Jim Maclntyre
Chief Executive Officer
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PART 1

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements” intended to qualify for the safe harbor
from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any statements in this report
about our expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or future events or performance are not historical
facts and are forward-looking statements. This report contains forward-looking statements that are based on
management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. You can identify
these forward-looking statements by the use of words or phrases such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would” and similar
expressions intended to identify forward-looking statements. Among the factors that could cause actual resuits to
differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements are risks and uncertainties inherent in our
business including, without limitation, the company’s reliance on its web analytics services for the majority of its
revenue; blocking or erasing of cookies or limitations on our ability to use cookies; the company’s limited
experience with customer intelligence applications beyond web analytics; the risks associated with integrating the
operations and products of Avivo Corporation and Visual Sciences, LLC with those of the company; privacy
concerns and laws or other domestic or foreign regulations that may subject the company to litigation or limit our
ability to collect and use Internet user information; WebSideStory’s ability to defend itself against claims of patent
infringement alleged by NetRatings, Inc.; WebSideStory’s ongoing ability to protect its own intellectual property
rights and to avoid violating the intellectual property rights of third parties; the highly competitive markets in which
we operate that could make it difficult for us to acquire and retain customers; the risk that our customers fail to
renew their agreements; the risks associated with our indebtedness, including the risk of non-compliance with the
covenants in our credit facility; the risk that the company’s services may become obsolete in a market with rapidly
changing technology and industry standards; and other risks described below under the heading “Item 1A. Risk
Factors.” Given these uncertainties, you should not place undL‘l'e reliance on these forward-looking statements.
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Any forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and,
as such, speak only as of the date made. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these
forward-looking statements publicly or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available.

Item 1. Business.
Overview

WebSideStory, Inc. was founded and commenced operations in September 1996 and is a leading provider of
real-time customer intelligence solutions. In 2006, we operated through two divisions, the WebSideStory division
and the Visual Sciences division, which was acquired as a result of our merger with Visual Sciences on February 1,
2006. In December 2006, we announced the consolidation of our analytics sales, services and marketing
organizations into a single force for 2007, enabling us to execute a single strategy across two brands, WebSideStory
and Visual Sciences, and their associated product lines. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements for
additional information regarding our operating segments.

The services we provide deliver comprehensive insight into the lifetime of customer interactions across on-line
and off-line channels. We identify developing trends, analyze and test business hypotheses and optimize the
performance of customer facing business systems without the need for significant investments in internal
infrastructure,

Our customers can take advantage of the broad range of solutions we offer with flexible pricing and deployment
options, including on-demand service and licensed software. Our WebSideStory line of products are typically
delivered as an on-demand service over the Internet using secure, proprietary, and scalable applications and system
architecture. On-demand delivery allows us to concurrently serve a large number of customers securely and to
efficiently distribute the workload across our network of servers with provisions for redundant, fault-tolerant
operations, These services are provided on a subscription basis to customers for a fee, which is either fixed or based
on the actual number of web sites and total events (e.g., page views or rich internet application events) and




transactions menitored by our services. Contracts for subscription services typically range in duration from one to
three years. The utility nature of our delivery model enables us to extend to our customers the services of over thirty
business partners who exchange data through our system architecture.

Users of our Visual Sciences product line analyze information concerning their customers’ data and interactions
as it streams in from their web sites, call centers, and messaging systems. We deliver our Visual Sciences product
line either in-house by installation of licensed software on a customer’s hardware or on-demand over the Internet
using secure, proprietary and scalable applications and system architectures. The pricing for the Visual Sciences
product line is typically based on the number of licenses and modules sold. Post-contract support and professional
services are often sold in addition to the licenses. The on-demand option is offered as a subscription service based
upon the contract period, generally ranging from one month to three years. The licensed software delivery model
enables us to respond to a broad range of application, performance, and security requirements found in the largest
and most analytically competitive organizations. We provide our clients with a seamless transition between these
two analytic product lines that preserves their data and their investment in our technology.

We derive our revenue from the sale of products and services that we classify into the following four categories:
(1) subscription, hosting and support; (2) license; (3) professional services; and (4) advertising. We derive the
majority of our revenue from HBX™ Analytics, the flagship product in the WebSideStory product line which is
delivered as a hosted solution on a subscription basis. Web analytics refers to the collection, analysis and reporting
of information about Internet user activity. HBX Analytics collects data from web browsers, processes that data and
delivers analytic reports of online behavior to our customers on demand, allowing them to improve their websites
and their online marketing campaigns.

As of December 31, 2006, we had over 1,500 customers purchasing services from our WebSideStory and Visual
Sciences product lines. Our direct sales force sells our services to a broad range of organizations in many industries
including sports and entertainment, news, retail, financial services, travel, technology, manufacturing,
telecommunications and education.

The majority of our operations are conducted in the United States. In order to pursue the sale of our products and
services in international markets, we established wholly owned subsidiaries in France (February 2000), the
Netherlands (August 2000) and the United Kingdom (April 2003). See Note 2 to our consolidated financial
statements for additional information regarding the geographic markets in which we operate.

Recent Acquisitions; 315 million Revolving Credit Facilfity

In May 2005, we acquired Avivo Corporation, which was doing business as Atomz, a provider of on-demand
website search and web content management, in exchange for approximately $4.2 million in cash, 2,958,713 shares
of common stock and 164,434 options to purchase our common stock. We believe the acquisition of Avivo
advanced our strategy of using analytics data to drive the optimization of other, related marketing applications,
which may expand our market opportunity. Over the course of 2006, Avivo’s website search and web content
management applications, which we refer to as WebSideStory Search and WebSideStory Publish, respectively, were
integrated with HBX Analytics to support this strategy.

In February 2006, we merged with Visual Sciences, LLC, a provider of streaming data analysis and visualization
software and services, in exchange for $22.0 million in cash, 568,512 shares of common stock, warrants to purchase
1,082,923 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $18.47 per share, and $20.0 million in aggregate
principal amount of senior notes. We also granted 189,507 shares of restricted common stock to certain employees
of Visual Sciences and non-qualified stock options to purchase 350,000 shares of common stock to certain
employees of Visual Sciences.

In February 2007, we entered into a two-year, $15 million senior secured revolving credit facility. We used $5.0
million of initial borrowings under this credit facility, together with cash-on-hand, to repay all of the senior notes we
issued in connection with the Visual Sciences merger. For more information about the new credit facility, please see
“[tem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and
Capital Resources.”




The merger with Visual Sciences expanded and strengthened our strategic capabilities, enabling us to drive real-
time customer intelligence applications into the full breadth of enterprise opportunities. The Visual Sciences brand
extends our product suite in several dimensions: to real-time multichanne] customer analytics for organizations that
market and service through call centers, messaging systems, and retail points-of-sale; to licensed software
deployments where security or privacy are dominant considerations as in healthcare or financial services; to
intranets and extranets where hosted analytics is not practical; and to the largest and most complex web sites where
parallel performance is required to manage terabytes of data.

Benefits of Our Services

We enable our clients to collect customer and business process information across multiple channels, such as the
Web, retail points-of-sale, or call centers, and then apply such information to build a holistic picture of customer
behavior, value, and business performance. Our clients use our products to monitor this stream of event and
customer data for significant changes, to explore it visually and interactively, and to relate it to other corporate data
assets. We help them apply the resulting insight by initiating or automating action through taitored web content,
search results, or keyword bidding strategies. Our solutions enable our clients to make informed decisions about
their customers and processes across a lifetime of interactions, transactions, and associated data resulting in
significant revenue upside as well as business efficiencies.

We believe our services:

*  Enable a More Complete View of the Customer Lifecycle: Our solutions deliver flexible deployment and data
collection options which allow our customers to analyze any number of sources of data. Utilizing our Visual
Sciences product line, the online behavioral data captured in our web analytics solutions can be analyzed
separately or in conjunction with other data sources, enabling customer analysis across multiple channels.
These potential data sources include, but are not limited to: integrated voice response (IVR); email traffic;
product sales data across web, catalog, phone, and store channels; and custom data.

*  Provide Valuable Information to Improve Online and Offline Initiatives. Our analytic reports and drill down
and visualization capabilities help our customers understand how users navigate and engage with their
websites. Our reporting services allow businesses to compare the popularity and effectiveness of their content
over time and across sections of their websites. These reports can reveal which paths in a website lead to the
greatest number of sales and where bottlenecks occur and enable rapid testing of the effects that changes in
content and design have on browsing, shopping and buying behavior. In addition, our services allow our
customers to develop offline marketing strategies based on online analysis. We also correlate browsing and
searching behavior with purchasing to reveal shopping patterns and trends.

*  Empower Customers to Implement Informed Marketing Decisions. While our web analytics service provides
a basis for decisions affecting online marketing, our customers can use our analytics-driven applications to
apply the insights gained. Our customers can use our website search application to influence how visitors
navigate their website and search for content and products. Our web content management application allows
our customers to publish and modify website content. Through integration with HBX Analytics, both site
search and website content can be automatically optimized based on website visitor behavior.

*  [mprove Marketing Return on Investment. Our web and internet channel analytics reports help businesses
determine where their marketing budgets are best spent. We capture, analyze and report on on-line responses
to both online and offline marketing campaigns. Using our services, our customers can run simultaneous
campaigns, assess results in real time and then reallocate marketing resources to the most effective
campaigns. Our customers can also identify which referral sources generate the most customer leads and can
assess each campaign’s return on investment in terms of sales relative to costs.




Our Strategy

We provide a broad range of solutions that address the diverse reporting and analysis needs found in the market
today. We believe that success with analytical tools requires different levels of features, user interface,
monitoring/reporting outputs, performance, and investment to capture every stage of the customer lifecycle and
address the level of analytics maturity within an organization over time. An effective analytics solution also needs to
provide the appropriate data to the relevant audience in the way that makes the most sense to that particular user or
group of users.

To accomplish this, we offer a product line that ranges from our simplest and lowest-priced Web reporting
product 1o our highest-priced and most capable multi-channel customer analytics products based on the Visual
Sciences platform. Customers can invest anywhere along this product continuum with full confidence that their
analytics needs will be met as their businesses change and mature, protecting their data and their investment for the
life of our business relationship.

The key components of our strategy are to:

« Expand the Features and Functionality of Our Services. We plan to further enhance the features and
functionality of our applications, as well as adapt our services to changing Internet environments and
business practices. We also plan to continue to increase the number of languages supported by our services.

»  Pursue New Customers in Our Existing Markets, Cross-Sell Qur Products and Expand into New Geographic
Markets. Our applications currently serve diverse organizations, including Fortune 500 corporations, small
and medium businesses, and educational and government institutions. We intend to continue marketing our
services to a broad range of organizations, primarily through our direct sales force. We plan to increase the
number of sales people that we employ and to develop other marketing or distribution channels for our
services. Additionally, we plan to leverage our sales force to cross-sell our applications, extended services
and packaged service offerings across our current and potential customer base. We also plan to increase our
marketing efforts to customers outside of North America, and we may also expand outside North America.

»  Continue to Develop and Acquire Related Services and Technologies. We believe that our success in web
analytics will help us sell both related customer analytics applications and analytics-driven applications such
as call center analytics, point of sale analytics, website search applications, web content management,
keyword bid management, marketing surveys, email marketing and affiliate marketing networks. In the past
year, we have developed or acquired several of these customer intelligence applications, and we intend to
develop or acquire additiona! applications. We believe our strengths in data analysis, scalability and delivery
of on-demand application services will allow us to compete effectively with other companies that may
attempt to offer comparable customer intelligence services.

»  Provide Superior Customer Service and Build Lasting Relationships with Our Customers. We believe that we
can generate more revenue from our customers by promoting wider and more diverse deployments of our
services. We seek to learn industry best practices based on feedback from our customers and to incorporate
these practices into our technology and professional services. This strategy enhances the value our customers
receive from our services. We intend to keep our customers satisfied by responding promptly to their
feedback and requests and by building technology that helps them achieve their goais.

»  Encourage the Development of Third-Party Applications that Integrate with and are Complementary to Our
Services. Our services are designed to allow third-party developers to create applications complementary to
our core services offering. Our analytic reporting and data collection processes can be integrated with third-
party applications through our published application programming interfaces, or APIs, and through standard-
format data feeds. We actively encourage our customers to integrate our services with other systems and
applications that they use to increase the value of our services.




Qur Services

Most typically our customers begin by leveraging our web and Internet channel analytics solutions and over time
adopt our solutions across their other customer channels,

Service Description

HBX On-Demand Web Analytics ..... HBX is our on-demand web analytics service that collects, processes, stores
and reports on Internet user behavior based on browser activity. Reports that
we provide give our customers an extensive analysis of what visitors are
doing on their web pages. For example, HBX can be used to inform our
customers which marketing initiatives visitors responded to, what search
engines they used, what keywords they entered, how much time they spent
on web pages, what they bought online, when they abandoned shopping carts
and what geographic area they live in.

Visual Site ...ooooveeveeeriiniiieinns Visual Site provides customers real-time visibility into Internet channel
campaigns, sites, visitors and segments. Visual Site can integrate data from
other visitor or transaction data sources to enable customers to gain a
comprehensive view of their Internet visitors.

Visual Call............coooriiiiniiinnn Visual Call provides customers real-time visibility into voice channel
systems, customers and segments.

Visual Mail .o Visual Mail provides customers real-time visibility into e-mail channel
content, customers and segments.

WebSideStory Search.........cococinn Search is our on-demand application that delivers relevant search results to
visitors of our customers’” websites and guides them, step-by-step, to the
products and information they want. Search also enables our customers to
learn from their website visitors’ behavior and improve their business
decisions based on what visitors are searching for and how often they find
what they want. Customers can customize the search interface and results
templates to match their website design.

WebSideStory Publish....................... Publish is our cn-demand web content management application that helps
businesses improve their website. Publish allows marketers and website
owners to control website content, without sacrificing control over workflow,
design and permissions required by web teams. For example, customers of
Publish can navigate their own website to the content they want to modify,
click a button and make the change. An additional click of a button will
publish the changed content. Little to no training is required to utilize this
application, and no technical expertise is needed.

WebSideStory Bid ..o Bid is our on-demand keyword bid management application that enables
search engine marketers to actively manage pay-per-click bids from a single,
easy-to-use interface. Bid is integrated with HBX to enable customers 1o
analyze the effectiveness of their keyword bid strategies.

Our other services include the following:

Professional Services. We also offer professional services to help our customers implement and use our
applications. Our advice helps them interpret analytic reports, and we develop recommendations for improving our
customers’ websites and marketing programs. We assist in implementing our own recommendations, analyze the
results and develop new recommendations based on these results.

HBX DataFeed HBX DataFeed allows companies to combine our on-demand web analytics with most in-house
data applications. Customers that want the raw behavioral data that we collect can obtain it through data feeds that
are easy to implement and compatible with standard database formats.




HitBox Professional. HitBox Professional is a web analytics application for small and medium-sized businesses
that need web analytics services, but do not need all of the features and capabilities of HBX. HitBox Professional
includes many, but not all of the features of HBX, and is offered at a lower base price.

Express Search. Express Search is a reduced-feature version of WebSideStory Search for small businesses and
other website operators. We provide Express Search in exchange for the right to display text advertisements in the
search results on our customers’ websites. We generate revenue from these online text advertisements.

Technology and Operations
Technology
WebSideStory Product Line:

The WebSideStory products are offered as on-demand solutions. These on-demand technologies are highly
scalable, allowing us to serve large numbers of customers, including high-volume customers. Our on-demand
proprietary software is designed to run on custom-built computer networks that we control and maintain. Unlike
installed software, these solutions do not need to support different hardware, operating systems or databases, or
develop software for customers’ unique computing environments. As a result, we can dedicate a greater proportion
of our development resources to improve the features, functions, reliability and speed of our services.

Our technology is based on multi-tenant application architecture. We use commercially available hardware and
proprietary software. To a lesser extent, we also use some commercially available software as components of our
technology. We have custom-built core services such as visitor session measurement and a data management system
that allow us to achieve both data manipulation and real-time reporting. We have built a distributed environment for
both data collection and end-user report generation that routes both tasks efficiently to many servers, instead of to
single, dedicated servers. Qur customers can access our on-demand services through a web browser without
installing any software. They can also receive reports and data from our systems through data feeds, a browser plug-
in, a Microsoft Excel plug-in, our APIs and scheduled email delivery.

To handle farge volumes of data efficiently at high speeds, we have built our own proprietary data management
systems. These systems include proprietary data management software, data storage methods and compression
algorithms. These data management systems allow us to make information and reports related to data collected over
long periods of time available on demand.

Our services provide extensive reporting and analytics functionality accessible through hierarchical menus and
interactive graphical reports available on demand. Users can customize reports and dashboards, schedule report
delivery, model scenario analyses based on business criteria that they determine and monitor the results over time.

Other applications can address our services either through our APIs or through the use of data feeds from our
network. Our systems allow customers and technology partners to insert and collect information from our services.
We maintain security through the use of firewalls, intrusion detection, proprietary monitoring and network policies
and procedures.

Visual Sciences Product Line:

Our proprietary Visual Sciences platform was designed to offer dramatic improvements in the collection,
integration, analysis, visualization, and reporting of very large and disparate data sets for large enterprise customers.
Our platform and applications allows us the flexibility to offer our clients an on premises or on-demand distribution
model. As a result, we can meet the diverse needs and requirements of enterprise customers.

The platform technology is highly scalable due to our proprietary “clustering” capability which allows multiple
servers to be managed and accessed together as if they are a single server. The platform runs on commodity and
non-proprietary Intel and AMD server equipment keeping costs low both internally for systems we manage and for
our customers who run our software in their internal environment. The distributed and parallel architecture of our
platform allows the correct combination and capabilities to be delivered o each of our customers, regardless of size,
security requirements, or complexity of their operating environments,




Our technology platform includes extremely flexible data collection and importing options. Our platform can
extract, translate, and load data collected in real-time or batch from event tags, proprietary sensors on web and
application servers, flat files or ODBC sources.

The Visual Sciences product line is available as an on-demand service or as an installed solution. Our customers
access our on-demand services or on premises software through a thin client, Visual Workstation. Visual
Workstation allows customers to access a rich language of metrics, dimensions and filters that can be defined in
real-time and used in a wide array of visualizations. Customers can also receive reports and data from our systems
through data feeds, output to Microsoft Excel, a web-based report portal and scheduled email delivery. Our system
can also be configured to generate and publish reports and alerts based upon the occurrence of triggering events,
thresholds, or calculated conditions.

The Visual Sciences Platform is composed of various product components including: Visual Workstation®,
Visual Dashboard™, Visual Report™, Visual Server®, Visual Load®, Visual Transform™, Visual Sensor®, Visual
Repeater™ and Visual Geography™. Together, these Platform software components provide an integrated system
for collecting, processing, integrating, analyzing, and visualizing real-time information.

Qur Visual Sciences Platform technology forms the core base upon which our market applications, such as
Visual Site and Visual Call operate. The technology platform can also be easily configured to analyze various other
data sources including: orders, payments, reservations, ATM transactions, kiosk transactions, document meta-data,
electronic mail, network activity, and other types of event data.

Cur technology development expenses, including related stock-based compensation expenses, were $12.8
million, $5.0 million and $3.8 million in the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Operations

All of our servers and our customers’ data are located at three, third-party co-location facilities: one in San
Diego, California operated by Level 3 Communications, LLC, which we use primarily for our HBX web analytics
services; one in San Jose, California operated by Equinix Operating Co., Inc., which we use for our site search and
web content management services; and one in Ashburn, Virginia also operated by Equinix, which we use for our
Visual Sciences product line. Our co-location agreements generally obligate the vendor to provide us with secure
facilities, which generally includes biometric access screening and escort-controlled access, and on-site backup
generators in the event of a power failure. The co-location agreements generally give us the right to keep our own
network operators on-site around-the-clock. We regularly rotate tapes of customer data out of these facilities and
store them in a separate location in the event of data loss at any of the facilities. In addition, we gain access to the
Internet through several diverse Internet service providers, including Level 3. OQur agreement with Leve] 3 expires in
September 2007. Qur agreement with Equinix for the San Jose facility expires in April 2007 but is subject to
automatic one-year renewals unless either party provides notice of non-renewal to the other party at least 45 days
prior to the end of the then-applicable term. Our agreement with Equinix for the Ashburn facility expires in
November 2007 but is subject to automatic one-year renewals unless either party provides notice of non-renewal to
the other party at least 90 days prior to the end of the then-applicable term,

We regularly monitor the performance of our services. The monitoring features we have built or licensed include
centralized performance consoles, automated load distribution and various self-diagnostic tools and programs. We
have service-level agreements with our customers warranting certain levels of uptime reliability and permitting them
to receive credits or terminate their agreements in the event that we fail to meet those levels.

Customers

As of December 31, 2006, we had over 1,500 customets purchasing our services across our product lines. None
of our customers individually accounted for more than 10% of our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005 or 2004.




Sales and Marketing

Direct Sales

We primarily sell our services through our direct sales force, consisting of inside sales and field sales personnel.
Our inside sales representatives are responsible for sales primarily to small and medium business customers assigned
by geographic region as well as following up on leads generated from our marketing campaigns, Qur field sales
personnel are responsibie for our enterprise business customers, and they generally sell our services in face-to-face
client meetings rather than over the telephone. We organize our sales and marketing programs by geographic regions
and by product lines. Our North American sales programs are managed out of our San Diego, California
headquarters and our San Bruno, California office. All of our European sales programs are managed out of our
Amsterdam facility. in addition, we have sales consultants in Australia, Singapore and Canada.

Marketing

Our marketing strategy is to build our brand name and raise awareness of the company as a leading provider of
real-time customer intelligence applications. Our marketing campaigns include a variety of advertising, public
relations activities and web-based seminars and roundtables, all of which are targeted at executives and other
decision makers within business organizations.

Our principal marketing initiatives include:
= advertising on industry-related websites;
* participation in, and sponsorship of, Internet user conferences, trade shows and industry events;
« partnering with well-known organizations within the industry;
* using our website to provide product and company information and industry-related downloads; and
* issuing press releases about business and product developments as appropriate.
Customer Service and Support

We believe that customer service and support begins with our sales personnel who are trained to understand our
customers’ needs. QOur sales people work with our technologists to ensure that our customers receive the services
they need for their businesses. Continuing superior customer support beyond the signing of our service contract
helps us retain and expand our customer base. Support and assistance is available to our customers by telephone or
email, depending on the size of the customer and its preference. Our customer support group is equipped to answer
general inquiries regarding our services and more technical questions relating to the use of our services. We offer
training to our customers to help them use the services they purchase from us.

International Sales

In fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, we generated approximately 13%, 14% and 16% of our total revenue,
respectively, from subsidiaries located outside the United States. Qur international operations primarily consist of
sales activities for customers based in Europe and Asia. Our United States operations provide technical, legal and
network operating support services to support our European and Asian customers. Our international direct and
indirect subsidiaries were established for the purpose of paying the salaries of our sales personnel based in Europe
and other expenses related to the billing and coliecting of revenue from our European customers. Qur current
international strategy is to grow and strengthen our presence in international markets by hiring additional sales
personnel and designing our services to support additional languages.




Competition

The market for web analytics and other customer intelligence applications is rapidly evolving and highly
competitive. We expect competition to increase from existing competitors as well as new market entrants. We
compete primarily with other application service providers and software vendors on the basis of product
functionality, price, performance and level of service. We also compete with companies that offer web analytics
software bundled with other products or services. Our current principal competitors include:

web analytics providers such as Coremetrics, Omniture and WebTrends;

website search providers such as Endeca, Google and Verity;

* web content management providers such as Interwoven and Vignette; and

+ providers of keyword bid management solutions such as Did-It and Efficient Frontier.

In addition, we face competition from companies that develop similar technologies for their own use. Many
companies, including some of our largest potential customers, use internally-developed interactive marketing
software rather than the commercial services or software offered by us or our competitors. These companies may
seek to offer their internally-developed software commercially in the future, which would bring us into direct
competition with their products.

We believe the principal competitive factors in our market include the following:

+ product functionality and breadth of services offered;

¢ price and cost of ownership;

+ brand name and reputation;

» rates of user adoption among the decision makers;

» performance, security, scalability, reliability and flexibility of the services;

» ability to gather and process large amounts of data;

« speed and ease of implementation and use;

» ease of integration with existing applications; and

+ quality of customer support and services.

We believe that we compete favorably on the basis of these factors. However, some competitors may have
features in their services that we do not include, and that customers prefer. Many of our current competitors and
potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition and substantially greater financial,
technical and marketing resources than we have. As a result, our competitors may be able to devote a greater portion
of their resources to the development, marketing and sale of their products than we can and may be able to respond
more quickly to the rapid advancements in technology and to the constant changes in customer needs. We cannot

assure you that our current or potential competitors will not offer or develop services that are considered superior to
ours, or that services other than ours will not achieve greater market acceptance.




Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of trademark, copyright and trade secret laws in the United States and other
Jjurisdictions as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary technology
and our brands. We also enter into confidentiality and proprietary rights agreements with our employees, consultants
and other third parties and control access to software, documentation and other proprietary information.

We pursue the registration of our trademarks and service marks in the United States and in other countries,
although we have not secured registration of all of our marks. WebSideStory, Visual Sciences, Visual Site and
HitBox, among others, are cur United States registered service marks. WebSideStory, Visual Sciences, Visual Site,
HBX and HitBox are also registered in the European Union. Certain of these marks as well as other marks are also
registered in several other international jurisdictions. We have applied to register the HBX service mark in the
United States.

As of December 31, 2006, we had three issued patents. Of these issued patents, two expire in 2019 and are
generally directed to Internet website traffic analysis. The third issued patent expires in 2020 and is generally
directed to the correction of indirect addresses in documents. We also have ten patent applications pending in the
United States, as well as one international patent application pending under the Patent Cooperation Treaty and one
pending patent application in each of the following countries/regions: Australia, Canada and Europe. In addition, we
have entered into a cross license agreement with NetlQ), pursuant to which we have a license to NetlQ’s U.S. Patent
No. 6,112,238, which expires in 2017, and certain patents pending and NetIQ has a license to our patents and certain
patents pending. We do not believe that this cross license is material to our ability to sell our current web analytics
services. This cross license agreement will terminate on the date the last patent expires. We cannot assure you that
our pending, or any future, patent applications will be granted, that any existing or future patents will not be
challenged, invalidated or circumvented, or that the rights granted under any patent that may issue will provide
competitive advantages to us. Many of our current and potential competitors dedicate substantially greater resources
to the protection and enforcement of intellectual property rights, especially patents. If a patent has been or is issued
to a third party that prevents us from using some or all of our non-patented technology, we would need either to
obtain a license to, or to design around, that patent. We may not be able to obtain a license on acceptable terms, if at
all, or design around the patent, which could harm our ability to provide our services.

The software and Internet industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of patents, trademarks
and copyrights and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violatiens of intellectual
property rights. For example, we, along with several of our competitors with technology similar to ours, are
currently involved in patent litigation with NetRatings, Inc. NetRatings filed a patent infringement lawsuit against us
in New York federal court in February 2006, and we have filed a similar patent infringement lawsuit against
NetRatings in federal court in San Diego. For more information about these lawsuits, please see “Item 3. Legal
Proceedings™ below.

While our patent applications, copyrights, trademarks and other intellectual property rights are important, we
believe that our technical expertise and ability to introduce new products in a timely manner will also be important
factors in maintaining our competitive position.

United States and Foreign Government Regulation

The Internet, and in particular, the regulation of commercial enterprises on the Internet, has become a focus of
state, federal and foreign governments in recent years. Discussions among policymakers and proposed regulation
regarding the Internet have focused on the protection of consumer privacy. Much of the proposed and enacted
legislation regulates the collection and disclosure of personally identifiable information of computer users such as
their names, addresses, credit card information and social security numbers,

It is possible that legislation intended 1o regulate tracking of consumer’s usage on the Internet could bring some
or all of our services within a regulatory framework. Such regulation could prevent us from operating our business
in its current fashion, and could require us to change our business practices or some of our services.
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Additionally, in the European Union, there is a range of legislation addressing, or affecting, Internet-related
businesses. In particular, the 1995 European Union Directive on Data Protection applies to the processing of
personal data, defined to include collection, storage, consultation and disclosure of information about identified or
identifiable individuals. In addition, the 2002 European Union Privacy and Electronic Communications Directive
regarding the processing of personal data and privacy in electronic communications prohibits the use of cookies,
spyware and other tracking devices unless the user is given clear and conspicuous notice and the right to opt out.
Because our service does not generally collect personal data as defined under the European Union Directives, and
because we do not associate the information we do collect with identified or identifiable individuals, we believe that
the data we collect and provide to our customers does not constitute personal data regulated by this Directive. We
also believe that in the instances where we collect personal data, we do so in compliance with the European Union
Directives.

State, federal and foreign governments are considering other laws that may regulate our activities or levy sales or
other taxes relating to our activities. The laws governing the Internet, however, remain largely unsettled, even in
areas where there has been some legislative action. It may take years to determine whether and how existing laws
such as those governing intellectual property, privacy, libel and taxation apply to the Internet and e-commerce
activities. In addition, the growth and development of the market for Internet commerce may prompt requests for
more stringent consumer protection laws, both in the United States and abroad, that may impose additional burdens
ont companies conducting business over the Internet. Our business and financial results could be materially harmed
by the adoption or modification of laws or regulations relating to the Internet.

Employees

On December 31, 2006, we had 278 full-time employees. We have never had a work stoppage. None of our
employees are represented under collective bargaining agreements. We consider our refationship with our
employees to be good.

Available Infermation

All materials we file with or furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission may be obtained electronically
through use of the SEC internet site, http:/www.sec.gov. Additionally, these materials may be obtained through the
SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549 or by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330.

We make available free of charge, on or through our Internet website, our annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports as soon as
reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. Our Internet address is
www.websidestory.com. Our internet address is not intended to function as a hyperlink. The information in our
website is not and should not be considered part of this report and is not incorporated by reference in this document.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following information sets forth factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those
contained in forward-looking statements we have made in this annual report and those we may make from time to
fime.

Risks Related to Qur Business

Our web analytics services comprise a substantial majority of our revenue, and our business will be harmed if
customer demand for these services declines.

Our web analytics services and related support represented 82%, 82% and 96% of our total revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. We anticipate that web analytics services and support will
continue to represent a substantial majority of our total revenues. Qur future success will depend, in part, on our
ability to further enhance our web analytics services to meet client needs, to add functionality and to address
technological advancements. Our future success will also be dependent upon our ability to attract new web analytics
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customers and to convince existing web analytics customers to renew their subscription agreements with us. In order
to expand or to maintain our web analytics business, we may need to make significant investments in additional
sales, marketing and other resources, which may not generate any additional revenues. We have experienced
significant competition from ather providers of web analytics services, and we cannot assure you that we will be
able to continue to enhance our web analytics technology, expand our business or remain competitive in this market,
any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have limited experience with customer intelligence applications other than web analytics and our efforts
to expand our services beyond web analytics may not be successful.

We have historically focused on the web analytics market and our efforts to expand our business beyond web
analytics may not be successful. In connection with our acquisition of Avivo in May 2005, we expanded our
services to include website search and web content management. We also introduced our keyword bid management
service in early 2006, and our strategy includes the further expansion of our service offerings to include additional
customer intelligence applications in the future. The launch of new services can involve technological challenges,
which may not be resolved on a timely basis or at all and may require significant development efforts and
expenditures. We cannot assure you that our website search, web content management, keyword bid management or
other new services will achieve broad market acceptance or generate significant revenues. In addition, the expansion
of our services beyond web analytics may result in a diversion of management’s attention and may require us to
commit significant financial and other resources to an unproven business that may not generate a commensurate
level of revenue or profits and could limit the resources we are able to devote to our existing business. If we are not
successful in our expansion efforts, our brand image and existing business could be harmed and our stock price
couid decline.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health,

As of December 31, 2006, we had $20.0 million in aggregate principal amount of senior notes outstanding that
were issued in connection with our merger with Visual Sciences in February 2006. In February 2007, we entered
into a $15 million two-year, senior secured revolving credit facility, We used $5.0 million of initial borrowings
under this credit facility, together with cash-on-hand, to repay all of the senior notes we issued in connection with
the Visual Sciences merger. As a result, we have $5.0 million of indebtedness outstanding under our senior credit
facility as of March 9, 2007.

Our indebtedness could have important consequences. For example, it could:

* increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

* impair our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital needs, capital expenditures,
acquisitions and general corporate purposes;

* require us to dedicate our cash flows from operations to the payment of principal and interest on our
indebtedness, thereby eliminating or reducing the availability of our cash flows to fund working capital
needs, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other general corporate purposes;

+ have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition if we are unable to service our
indebtedness or refinance such indebtedness;

+ limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we
operate; and

» place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less indebtedness.
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Covenants in our senior secured revolving credit facility may limit our ability to operate our business.

Under our senior secured credit agreement that we entered into in February 2007, we must comply with, among
other things, certain specified financial ratios, including a minimum consolidated adjusted quick ratio and a
minimum level of earnings before stock-based compensation, income taxes, depreciation and amortization expenses.
If we default under the senior secured credit facility, because of a covenant breach or otherwise, the outstanding
amounts thereunder could become immediately due and payable. In addition, the covenants contained in our senior
secured credit facility limit our ability to incur additional debt, sell assets, make certain investments or acquisitions,
grant liens, pay dividends and enter into certain merger and consolidation transactions, among other restrictions.

If we cannot successfully integrate our business with the businesses of Avive and Visual Sciences, or if the
benefits of these business combinations do not meet the expectations of investors or financial or industry
analysts, the market price of our common stock may decline.

We completed our acquisition of Avivo and merger with Visual Sciences on May 4, 2005 and February 1, 2006,
respectively. However, we cannot assure you that we will realize the anticipated benefits of these business
combinations. The market price of our common stock may decline as a result of our business combinations with
Avivo or Visual Sciences for a variety of reasons, including, among others, the following:

we may not be able to integrate the business of Avivo or Visual Sciences with our business in a timely and
efficient manner, or at all;

+ the combined company may not achieve the benefits of either business combination as rapidly as, or to the
extent, anticipated by investors or financial or industry analysts;

« we may not be able to expand the customer base of Avivo or Visual Sciences; or

« the former stockholders of Avivo or Visual Sciences could dispose of a significant portion of our common
stock that they received in connection with the business combinations.

We operate in highly competitive markets, which could make it difficult for us to acquire and retain
customers.

The market for customer intelligence applications is rapidly evolving and highly competitive. We expect
competition to increase from existing competitors as well as new market entrants. We compete primarily with other
application service providers and software vendors on the basis of product functionality, price, timeliness and level
of service. Should our competitors consolidate, or if our smaller competitors are acquired by other, larger
competitors, they may be able to provide services comparable to ours at a lower price due to their size. We also
compete with companies that offer customer intelligence software bundled with other products or services, which
may result in such companies effectively selling these services at prices below their market price. Our current
principal competitors include:

« web analytics providers such as Coremetrics, Omniture and WebTrends;

+ website search providers such as Endeca, Google and Verity;

« web content management providers such as Interwoven and Vignette; and

« providers of keyword bid management solutions such as Did-It and Efficient Frontier.

In addition, we face competition from companies that develop similar technologies for their own use. Many
companies, including some of our largest potential customers, use internally-developed customer intelligence
software rather than the commercial services or software offered by us or our competitors. These companies may
seek to offer their internally-developed software commercially in the future, which would bring us into direct
competition with their products. To date, no web analytics service has been adopted as the industry standard for
measuring Internet user behavior and preferences. However, if one of our current or future competitors is successful
in establishing its products and services as the industry standard, it will be difficult for us to retain current customers
or attract additional customers for our services.
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Furthermore, some businesses may require data or reports that are available only in competitors’ products, and

potential customers may, therefore, select the products of our competitors. Many of our current and potential
competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, access to larger client bases, and substantially
greater resources than us, including sales and marketing, financial, support and other resources. As a result, these
competiiors may be able to devote more resources to new customer acquisitions or may be able to respond to
evolving market needs more quickly than us. If we are not able to compete successfully against our current and
future competitors, it will be difficult to acquire and retain customers, and we may experience limited or no revenue
growth, reduced operating margins, loss of market share and diminished value in our services.

Many of our services are sold pursuant to short-term subscription agreements, and if our customers elect not
to renew these agreements, our revenue may decrease.

The majority of our services are sold pursuant to short-term subscription agreements, which are generally one to
three years in length with no obligation to renew. Many of our customers are relatively new, which makes it difficult
for us to predict if they will renew their agreements. Many of our subscription agreements will be subject to renewal
in the next 12 months, and we cannot assure you that such agreements will be renewed. Our renewal rates may
decline due to a variety of factors, including the services and prices offered by our competitors, the level of service
we provide, consolidation in our customer base or cessation of operations by some of our customers, If our renewal
rates are low or decline for any reason, or if customers renew on less favorable terms, our revenue may decrease,
which could adversely affect our stock price.

Because we recognize the majority of our revenue from subscriptions to our services over the term of the
applicable agreement, the lack of subseription renewals or new subscription agreements may not be
immediately reflected in our operating results.

We recognize a large portion of our revenue from our customers over the term of their agreements with us. As a
result, the majority of our quarterly revenue usually represents deferred revenue from subscription agreements
entered into during previous quarters. As such, a decline in new or renewed subscription agreements in any one
quarter will not necessarily be fully reflected in the revenue for the corresponding quarter but will negatively affect
our revenue in future quarters. In addition, the effect of significant downturns in sales and market acceptance of our
services may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until future periods. Similarly, revenue recognition
requirements also make it difficult for us to reflect any rapid expansion in our customer base or the addition of
significant new subscription agreements.

We may have difficulty maintaining our profitability.

Although we had generated net income in 2005, we incurred net losses of $7.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 primarily due to the stock-based compensation expense associated with the adoption of SFAS
No. 123R and the intangible asset amortization expense related to our merger with Visual Sciences. We may not be
able to regain our profitability in the future. We expect that our expenses relating to the sales of our services,
technology improvements and general and administrative functions, as well as the costs of operating and
maintaining our networks, will increase in the future. Because a large portion of our costs are fixed, we may not be
able to reduce or maintain our expenses in response to any decrease in our revenue, which could adversely affect our
operating results and profitability.

If we fail to respond to rapidly changing technology or evolving industry standards, our services may become
obsolete or less competitive,

The market for our services is characterized by rapid technological advances, changes in client requirements,
changes in protocols and evolving industry standards. If we are unable to develop enhancements to and new features
for our existing services or acceptable new services that keep pace with rapid technological developments, our
services may become obsolete, less marketable and less competitive and our business would be harmed. The success
of any enhancements, new features and services depends on several factors, including the timing of completion,
functionality and market acceptance of the feature or enhancement. Failure to produce acceptable new features and
enhancements may significantly impair our revenue growth and reputation.
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We may be liable to our customers and may lose customers if we provide poor service, if our services do not
comply with our agreements or if there is a loss of data.

The information in our databases may not be complete or may contain inaccuracies that our customers regard as
significant. Our ability to collect and report data may be interrupted by a number of factors, including our inability
to access the Internet or the failure of our network or software systems. In addition, computer viruses may harm our
systems causing us to lose data, and the transmission of computer viruses could expose us to litigation. Our
agreements generally give our customers the right to terminate their agreements for cause if we fail to meet certain
reliability standards stated in the agreements or if we otherwise materially breach our obligations. Any failures in the
services that we supply or the loss of any of our customers’ data may give our customers the right to terminate their
agreements with us and could subject us to liability. We may also be required to spend substantial amounts to defend
lawsuits and pay any resulting damage awards. We may be liable to our customers for loss of business, loss of future
revenue, breach of contract or even for the loss of goodwill to their business. In addition to potential liability, if we
supply inaccurate information or experience interruptions in our ability to supply information, our reputation could
be harmed and we could lose customers.

Although we have errors and omissions insurance with coverage limits of up to $5 million, this coverage may be
inadequate or may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, we cannot assure you that
this policy will cover any claim against us for loss of data or other indirect or consequential damages and defending
a suit, regardless of its merit, could be costly and divert management’s attention.

We may expand through acquisitions of, or investments in, other companies or through business
relationships, all of which may divert our management’s attention, result in additional dilution to our
stockholders or consume resources that are necessary to sustain our business.

One of our business strategies is to acquire competing or complementary services, technologies or businesses.
We also may enter into relationships with other businesses in order to expand our service offerings, which could
involve preferred or exclusive licenses, additional channels of distribution or discount pricing or investments in
other companies.

An acquisition, investment or business relationship may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and
expenditures. In particular, we may encounter difficulties assimilating or integrating the acquired businesses,
technologies, products, personnel or operations of the acquired companies, particularly if the key personnel of the
acquired company choose not to work for us, and we may have difficulty retaining the customers of any acquired
business due to changes in management and ownership. Acquisitions may also disrupt our ongoing business, divert
our resources and require significant management attention that would otherwise be available for ongoing
development of our business. Moreover, we cannot assure you that the anticipated benefits of any acquisition,
investment or business relationship would be realized or that we would not be exposed to unknown liabilities. In
connection with one or more of those transactions, we may:

issue additional equity securities that would dilute our stockholders;
« use cash that we may need in the future to operate our business;

» incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that we are unable to repay;
» incur large charges or substantial liabilities,

« encounter difficulties retaining key employees of the acquired company or integrating diverse business
cultures; and

 become subject to adverse tax consequences, or incur substantial depreciation or deferred compensation
charges.

We periodically engage in preliminary discussions relating to acquisitions, but we are not currently a party to
any acquisition agreements relating to pending or proposed acquisitions.
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Fluctuations in our operating results may make it difficult to predict our future performance and may result
in volatility in the market price of our common stock.

Due to our limited experience in offering a suite of customer intelligence applications, our evolving business
model and the unpredictability of our emerging industry, we may not be able to accurately forecast our rate of
growth. In addition, we may experience significant fluctuations in our operating results for other reasons such as:

* our ability to retain and increase sales to existing customers, attract new customers and satisfy our customers’
requirements;

» the timing and success of new product introduétions or upgrades by us or our competitors;

* changes in our pricing policies or payment terms or those of our competitors;

* concemns relating to the security of our networks and systems;

*+ the rate of success of our domestic and international expansion;

* our ability to hire and retain key executives as well as technical and sales and marketing personnel;

» our ability to expand our operations and the amount and timing of expenditures related to this expansion;
+ limitations in the scalability of our networks and systems;

+ costs related to the integration of Avivo and Visual Sciences with our business and the development or
acquisition of other technologies, products or businesses; and

» general economic, industry and market conditions.

These factors tend to make the timing and amount of revenue unpredictable and may lead to greater period-to-
period fluctuations in revenue than we have experienced historically.

As aresult of the factors described above, we believe that our quarterly revenue and results of operations are
likely to vary significantly in the future and that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be
meaningful. You should not rely on the results of one quarter as an indication of future performance. If our quarterly
revenue or results of operations fall below the expectations of investors, the price of our common stock could
decline substantially.

We rely on a small number of third parties to support our network, any disruption of which could affect our
ability to provide our services and could harm our reputation,

Our networks are susceptible to outages due to fires, floods, power loss, telecommunications failures, systems
failures, break-ins and similar events. We have experienced some outages due to power loss, systems failure and
telecommunications failure. In addition, some of our network infrastructure is located in San Diego, California and
in San Jose, California, areas susceptible to earthquakes and rolling electricity black-outs. We do not have multiple
operating sites for our services in the event of any such occurrence. Our servers are vulnerable to computer viruses,
break-ins and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering with our computer systems. Frequent or persistent
disruptions of our services could cause us to suffer losses that are impossible to quantify at this time, such as claims
by customers for indirect or consequential damages, 1oss of market share and damage to our reputation. Our business
interruption insurance may not compensate us for every kind of loss resulting from disruptions of our services, and
even if the type of loss is covered, the amount incurred may exceed the loss limitations in our insurance policies.
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Al of our servers and our customers’ data are located at three, third-party co-location facilities: one in San
Diego, California, operated by Level 3 Communications, LLC, which we use primarily for our HBX web analytics
services; one in San Jose, California, operated by Equinix Operating Co., Inc., which we use for our site search and
web content management services; and one in Ashburn, Virginia also operated by Equinix, which we use for our
Visual Sciences product line. Our agreement with Level 3 expires in September 2007 and Level 3 has the right to
terminate the agreement if (i) we fail to pay any amounts past due within ten days after written notice or (ii} we fail
1o observe or perform any other material term of the agreement and such failure continues for 30 days after written
notice to us by Level 3. In addition, Level 3 may terminate our rights to use the co-location space and receive co-
location services under certain circumstances. Our agreement with Equinix for the San Jose facility expires in April
2007 but is subject to automatic one-year renewals unless either party provides notice of non-renewal to the other
party at least 45 days prior to the end of the then-applicable term. Qur agreement with Equinix for the Ashburn
facility expires in November 2007 but is subject to automatic one-year renewals unless either party provides notice
of non-renewal to the other party at least 90 days prior to the end of the then-applicable term. In addition, Equinix
has the right to terminate an agreement with us if (i) we fail to pay any amounts past due within ten days after
written notice, (ii) we liquidate, become insolvent or cease doing business or (iii) we breach any other material term
of the applicable agreement and such failure continues for 30 days after written notice to us by Equinix.

We depend on access to the Internet through Internet service providers, or ISPs, to operate our business. If we
lose the services of one or more of our ISPs for any reason, we could experience disruption in our service offerings.
The loss of one of our ISPs as the result of consolidation in the ISP industry could delay us from retaining the
services of a replacement ISP and increase the potential for disruption of our business. Any disruption in our access
to the Internet could damage our reputation and result in a decrease in our revenue from the loss of current or
potential customers.

A rapid expansion of our networks and systems could cause us to lose data or cause our networks or systems
to fail.

Tn the future, we may need to expand our networks and systems at a more rapid pace than we have in the past.
We may suddenly require additional bandwidth for which we have not adequately planned. We may secure an
extremely large customer or a group of customers with extraordinary volumes of information to collect and process
that would require significant system resources, and our systems may be unable to process the information. Our
networks or systems may not be capable of meeting the demand for increased capacity, or we may incur additional
unanticipated expenses to accommodate such capacity constraints. In addition, we may lose valuable data or our
networks may temporarily shut down if we fail to expand our networks to meet future requirements. Any lapse in
our ability to collect or transmit data will decrease the value of our data, prevent us from providing the complete
data requested by our customers and affect some of our customers’ web pages. Any disruption in our network
processing or loss of Internet user data may damage our reputation and result in the loss of customers.

If our security measures are breached and unauthorized access is obtained, our services may be perceived as
not being secure, and custemers may hold us liable or stop using our services.

Our services involve the storage and transmission of proprietary information, and security breaches could expose
us to a risk of loss of this information, litigation and possible liability. While we have not experienced any material
security breach in the past of which we are aware, if our security measures are breached as a result of third-party
action, employee error or otherwise, and as a result, someone obtains unauthorized access to our data or our
customers’ data, we could incur liability and our reputation would be damaged. For example, hackers or individuals
who attempt to breach our network security could, if successful, misappropriate proprietary information or cause
interruptions in our services. If we experience any breaches of our network security or sabotage, we might be
required to devote significant capital and resources to protect against or to alleviate problems. We may not be able to
remedy any problems caused by hackers or saboteurs in a timely manner, or at all. Because techniques used to
obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched
against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. If
an actual or perceived breach of our security occurs, the perception of the effectiveness of our security measures
could be harmed and we could lose current and potential customers.
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Any failure to adequately expand our direct sales force will impede our growth,

We expect to be substantially dependent on our direct sales force to obtain new customers, particularly large
enterprise customers, and to manage our customer relationships. We plan to expand our direct sales force and
believe that there is significant competition for direct sales personnel with the advanced sales skills and technical
knowledge we need. Our ability to achieve significant growth in revenue in the future will depend, in large part, on
our success in recruiting, training and retaining sufficient direct sales personnel. New hires require significant
training and may, in some cases, take twelve months or more before they achieve full preductivity. Qur recent hires
and planned hires may not become as productive as we would like, and we may be unable to hire sufficient numbers
of qualified individuals in the future in the markets where we do business. If we are unable to hire and develop
sufficient numbers of productive sales personnel, sales of our services will suffer.

We may encounter difficulties managing our growth, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We have experienced significant growth in recent periods. Our total annual revenue has grown from $14.3
million in 2000 to $64.5 million in 2006. We anticipate that we will need to continue to expand and effectively
manage our organization, operations and facilities in order to manage our growth and regain our recent profitability.
We increased the number of our full-time employees from 130 as of January 1, 2001 to 278 as of December 31,
2006, and we expect to continue to expand our team to meet our strategic objectives. If we continue to grow, it is
possible that our management, systems and facilities currently in place may not be adequate. Our need to effectively
manage our operations and growth requires that we continue to improve our operational, financial and management
controls, reporting systems and procedures. We may not be able to successfully implement these tasks on a large
scale and, accordingly, may not achieve our strategic objectives.

The success of our business depends in large part on our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual
property rights.

We regard the protection of our inventions, patents, copyrights, service marks, trademarks and trade secrets as
important to our future success. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, service mark, trademark, and trade
secret laws and contractual restrictions to establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which only offer limited
protection. We endeavor to enter into agreements with our employees and contractors and agreements with parties
with whom we do business in order to limit access to and disclosure of our proprietary information. Despite our
efforts, the steps we have taken to protect our intellectual property may not prevent the misappropriation of
proprietary rights or the reverse engineering of our technology. Moreover, others may independently develop
technologies that are competitive to ours or infringe our intellectual property. The enforcement of our intellectual
property rights also depends on our legal actions against such infringers being successful, but we cannot be sure
such actions will be successful, even when our rights have been infringed.

Although we do have three issued U.S. patents, numerous registered 1.5, and foreign service marks and pending
patent and service mark applications, we cannot assure you that any future patents or service mark registrations will
be issued with respect to pending or future applications or that any issued patents or registered setvice marks will be
enforceable or provide adequate protection of our proprietary rights.

Because of the global nature of the Internet, our websites can be viewed worldwide, but we do not have
intellectual property protection in every jurisdiction. Furthermore, effective patent, trademark, service mark,
copyright and trade secret protection may not be available in every country in which our services are available over
the Internet. In addition, the legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of
intellectual property rights in Internet-related industries are uncertain and still evolving.

If a third party asserts that we are infringing its intellectual property, whether successful or not, it could
subject us to costly and time-consuming litigation or expensive licenses, and our business may be harmed.

The software and Internet industries are characterized by the existence of a large mamber of patents, trademarks
and copyrights and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual
property rights. For example, we, along with several of our competitors with technology similar to ours, are
currently involved in patent litigation with NetRatings. NetRatings filed a patent infringement lawsuit against us in
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February 2006 in New York federal court, and we have filed a similar patent infringement lawsuit against
NetRatings in federal court in San Diego. For more information about these lawsuits, please see “Item 3. Legal
Proceedings” below. We, and certain of our customers, have in the past received correspondence from third parties
alleging that certain of our services or customers’ use of our services violates such third parties’ patent rights. For
example, we are aware that four of our customers have received letters from third parties alleging, among other
things, that such customers’ online activities, including the use of our services, infringe patent rights held by these
third parties. Some of these customers have requested that we indemnify them against these allegations. Other
customers may receive similar allegations of infringement and make similar requests for indemnification under our
service agreements with them or these third parties may make claims directly against us. If a third party successfully
asserts a claim that we or our customers are infringing their proprietary rights, royalty or licensing agreements might
not be available on terms we find acceptable or at all. As currently pending patent applications are not publicly
available, we cannot anticipate all such claims or know with certainty whether our technology infringes the
intellectual property rights of third parties. We expect that the number of infringement claims in our market will
increase as the number of services and competitors in our industry grows. These claims, whether or not successful,
could:

» divert management’s attention;
+ result in costly and time-consuming litigation;

» require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements, which may not be available on acceptable terms, or at
all; or

» require us to redesign our software and services to avoid infringement.

As a result, any third-party intellectual property claims against us could increase our expenses and adversely
affect our business. In addition, many of our agreements require us to indemnify our customers for third-party
intellectual property infringement claims, which would increase the cost to us resulting from an adverse ruling in
any such claim. Even if we have not infringed any third parties’ intellectual property rights, we cannot be sure our
legal defenses will be successful, and even if we are successful in defending against such claims, our legal defense
could require significant financial resources and management’s time.

If we fail to develop our brands cost-effectively, our business may suffer.

We believe that developing and maintaining awareness of the brands maintained by WebSideStory and Visual
Sciences in a cost-effective manner is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our current and future services
and is an important element in attracting new customers. Furthermore, we believe that brand recognition will
become more important as competition in our market increases. Successful promotion of our brands will depend
largely on the effectiveness of our marketing efforts and on our ability to provide reliable and useful services at
competitive prices. Brand promotion activities may not yield increased revenue, and even if they do, any increased
revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building our brands. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain
our brands, or incur substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to promote and maintain our brands, we may
fail to attract enough new customers or retain our existing customers to the extent necessary to realize a sufficient
return on our brand-building efforts, and our business and results of operations could suffer.

We rely on our management team and will need to hire additional personnel to grow our business.

Our success and future growth depends to a significant degree on the skills and continued services of the
members of our senior management team, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer. We have
employment agreements with many of our executive officers; however, under these agreements, our employment
relationships with these executive officers are generally “at-will,” and they can terminate their employment
relationships with us at any time. We do not maintain key person life insurance on any members of our management
team. We anticipate that we will need to continue to hire key management personnel. We may not be able to
successfully locate, hire, assimilate and retain other qualified key management personnel to grow our business.
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Jeffrey W. Lunsford, who had served as our president and chief executive officer since April 2003, resigned in
November 2006 to become chief executive officer of a privately-held company. James W. Maclntyre, IV, who
previously served as the chief executive officer of our Visual Sciences subsidiary, was appointed as our president
and chief executive officer effective as of November 20, 2006. Any disruptions that result from the transition of
chief executive leadership from Mr. Lunsford to Mr, MaclIntyre could adversely affect our business.

Our future success also depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled technical, managerial,
sales, marketing and customer service personnel. We plan to hire additional personnel in all areas of our business, in
particular for our sales, marketing and technelogy development areas, both domestically and internationally,
Competition for these types of personnel is intense, particularly in the Internet industry. As a result, we may be
unable to successfully attract or retain qualified personnel. Qur inability to retain and attract the necessary personnel
could adversely affect our business.

Our business strategy includes expanding our international operations; therefore, our business is susceptible
to risks associated with international operations,

We currently maintain a sales office in the Netherlands and currently have sales personnel or independent sales
consultants in Australia, Canada, France, Germany, Singapore, Sweden and the United Kingdom. We have limited
experience operating in these foreign jurisdictions and no experience operating in other foreign markets into which
we may expand in the future. Conducting international operations subjects us to new risks that we have not generally
faced in the United States, These risks include but are not limited to:

¢ unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirements;

* localization of our service, including translation into foreign languages and associated expenses;

» fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

» political, social and economic instability abroad, including conflicts in the Middle East, terrorist attacks and
security concerns in general;

* longer accounts receivable payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;
« difficulties in managing and staffing international operations;

* potentially adverse tax consequences, including the complexities of foreign value added tax systems and
restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;

¢ maintaining and servicing computer hardware in distant locations;

¢ the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and different legal standards; and

* reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries,

The oecurrence of any one of these risks could negatively affect our international business and, consequently,
our resuits of operations generally. In addition, the Internet may not be used as widely in international markets in
which we expand our operations and, as a resuit, we may not be successful in offering our services internationally.

Some of our international fees are currently denominated in U.S. dollars and paid in local currency. As a result,

fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies may make our services more expensive for
international customers, which could harm our business.
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We previously identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, and our
business and stock price may be adversely affected if our internal controls are not effective.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires companies to perform a comprehensive evaluation of
their internal control over financial reporting. To comply with this statute, we are required to document and test our
internal contro! over financial reporting; our management is required to assess and issue a report concerning our
internal control over financial reporting; and our independent registered public accounting firm is required to attest
to and report on management’s assessment and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. In
connection with their evaluations of our disclosure controls and procedures, our Chief Executive Officer, or CEO,
and Chief Financial Officer, or CFQ, concluded that certain material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting existed during the periods ending December 31, 2005, March 31, 2006, June 30, 2006 and
September 30, 2006. These material weaknesses included insufficient staffing in our accounting and financial
reporting functions and weaknesses in our recognition of leasing transactions in accordance with related generally
accepted accounting principles. Our independent registered public accounting firm attested and reported that our
internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2005. We believe that each of these
material weaknesses has now been adequately remediated. Although our management has concluded and our
independent registered public accounting firm has attested and reported that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006, we cannot assure you that we will not discover other material
weaknesses in the future. The existence of one or more material weaknesses could result in errors in our financial
statements, and substantial costs and resources may be required to rectify these or other internal control deficiencies.
If we cannot produce reliable financial reports, investors could lose confidence in our reported financial information,
the market price of our common stock could decline significantly, we may be unable to obtain additional financing
to operate and expand our business, and our business and financial condition could be harmed.

Changes in financial accounting standards or practices or existing taxation rules or practices may cause
adverse, unexpected financial reporting fluctuations and affect our reported results of operations.

A change in accounting standards or practices or a change in existing taxation rules or practices can have a
significant effect on our reported results and may even affect our reporting of transactions completed before the
change is effective. New accounting pronouncements and taxation rules and varying interpretations of accounting
pronouncements and taxation practice have occurred and may occur in the future. Changes to existing rules or the
questioning of current practices may adversely affect our reported financial results or the way we conduct our
business. For example, in December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, or SFAS No. 123R. This statement is a revision of SFAS
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, or APB No. 25. SFAS No. 123R requires all share-based payments to
employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their
fair values. SFAS No. 123R required that we change the way we account for share-based payments, including
employee stock options. We previously accounted for stock-based awards to employees in accordance with APB
No. 25. Under our previous accounting policy, we recorded stock-based compensation based on the difference
between the exercise price of the stock option and the fair market value at the time of grant. To arrive at the fair
value for each option grant, SFAS No. 123R requires the use of an option pricing model to evaluate our stock by
factoring in additional variables such as expected life of the option, risk-free interest rate, expected volatility of the
stock and expected dividend yield. Subsequently, in May 2005, the SEC approved a rule delaying the effective date
of SFAS No. 123R to the annual period beginning after June 15, 2005. We adopted SFAS No. 123R effective as of
January 1, 2006. The impact of the adoption of SFAS No. 123R on our results of operations is set forth in the
consolidated financial statements contained in Item 8 of Part I1 of this report.

Our net operating loss carryforwards may expire unutilized, which could prevent us from offsetting future
taxable income.

Changes in control have occurred that have triggered the limitations of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code
on the net operating loss carryforwards of WebSideStory and Avivo. As a result of the Section 382 limitations, we
can only utilize a portion of the net operating loss carryforwards generated prior to the ownership changes to offset
future taxable income generated in U.S. federal and state jurisdictions.
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At December 31, 2006, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $30.6 million and state
net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $22.3 million, which are available to offset future taxable income.
The federal net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2020, The state net operating loss carryforwards
will begin to expire in 2012.

In 2006, net deferved tax assets increased approximately $6.0 million primarily due to the recognition of
approximately $4.3 million of net deferred tax assets in connection with compensation expense related to stock
options. The realization of the tax benefits of this deferred tax asset is dependent upon the stock price of the
Company exceeding the exercise price of the related stock options at the time of exercise, as well as the sufficiency
of taxable income in future years. The combined deferred tax assets represent the amounts expected to be realized
before expiration.

We periodically assess the likelihood that we will be able to recover our deferred tax assets. We consider all
available evidence, both positive and negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks
associated with estimates of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible profits. As a result of this
analysis of all available evidence, both positive and negative, we concluded that it is more-likely-than-not that our
net deferred tax assets will ultimately be recovered and, accordingly, no valuation allowance on such assets was
recorded as of December 31, 2006,

Risks Related to Our Industry

Widespread blocking or erasing of cookies or limitations on our ability to use cookies may impede our ability
to collect information with our technology and reduce the value of that data.

Our technology currently uses cookies, which are small files of information placed on an Intemnet user’s
computer, to collect information about the user’s visits to the websites of our customers. Third-party software and
our own technology make it easy for users to block or delete our cookies. Several software programs, sometimes
marketed as ad-ware or spyware detectors, block our cookies by default or prompt users to delete or block our
cookies. If a large proportion of users delete or block our cookies, this couid significantly undermine the value of the
data that we collect for our customers and could negatively impact our ability to deliver accurate reports to our
customers, which would harm our business.

Changes in web browsers may also encourage users to block our cookies. Microsoft, for example, frequently
modifies its Internet Explorer web browser. Certain modifications by Microsoft could substantially impair our
ability to use cookies for data collection purposes. If that happens and we are unable to adapt our technology and
practices adequately in response to changes in Microsoft’s technology, then the value of our services would be
substantially impaired. Additionally, other technologies could be developed that impede the operation of our
services. These developments could prevent us from providing our services to our customers ot reduce the value of
our services.

In addition, laws regulating the use of cookies by us and our customers could also prevent us from providing our
services to our customers or require us to employ alternative technology. A European Union Directive currently
being implemented by member countries requires us to tell users about cookies placed on their computers, describe
how we and our customers wiil use the information collected and offer users the right to refuse a cookie. Although
no European country currently requires consent prior to delivery of a cookie, one or more European countries may
do so in the future. [f we were required to obtain consent before delivering a cookie or if the use or effectiveness of
cookies is limited, we would be required to switch to altemative technologies to collect user profile information,
which may not be done on a timely basis, at a reasonable cost, or at all.

Currently, the only alternative to using cookies to identify a browser and its browsing session is the use of an
Internet protocol address, or IP address. The IP address is an identifier that each computer or other device connected
to the Internet has. However, for purposes of web analytics, IP addresses are not as reliable as cookies, because they
are often re-assigned by Internet service providers. We do not believe that a better alternative to using cookies
currently exists for tracking online customer behavior. Creating replacement technology for cookies could require us
to expend significant time and resources. We may be unable to complete this alternative technelogy development in
time to avoid negative consequences to our business, and the replacement methods we develop may not be
commercially feasible. The replacement of cookies might also reduce our existing customer base by requiring
current customers to take specific action io accommodate new technology.
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Privacy concerns and laws or other domestic or foreign regulations may subject us to litigation or limit our
ability to collect and use Internet user information, resulting in a decrease in the value of our services and an
adverse impact on the sales of our services.

We collect, use and distribute information derived from the activities of Internet users. Federal, state and foreign
government bodies and agencies have adopted or are considering adopting laws regarding the collection, use and
disclosure of personal information obtained from consumers. The costs of compliance with, and the other burdens
imposed by, such laws may limit the adoption of our services. In addition, some companies have been the subject of
class-action lawsuits and governmental investigations based on their collection, use and distribution of Internet user
information without the consent of Internet users. For example, the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, investigates
companies’ compliance with their own stated privacy policies. While we are not aware of any FTC investigation
regarding any practices we currently employ, the FTC may in the future investigate the practices we employ.
Governmental entities and private persons or entities may assert that our methods of collecting, using and
distributing Internet user information are illegal or improper. Any such legal action, even if unsuccessful, may
distract our management’s attention, divert our resources, negatively affect our public image and harm our business.

Both existing and proposed laws regulate and restrict the collection and use of information over the Internet that
personally identifies the Internet user. These laws continue to change and vary among domestic and foreign
jurisdictions, but certain information such as names, addresses, telephone numbers, credit card numbers and email
addresses are widely considered personally identifying. The scope of information collected over the Internet that is
considered personally identifying may become more expansive, and it is possible that current and future legislation
may apply to information that we currently collect without the explicit consent of Internet users. If information that
we collect and use without consent is considered to be personally identifying, our ability to collect and use this
information will be restricted and we would have to change our methods of operation.

Recently, the legislatures of several states including Utah, California, Arizona, Virginia, and Arkansas enacted
legislation designed to protect Internet users’ privacy by prohibiting certain kinds of downloadable software defined
as “spyware.” Similar legislation has been considered, or is being considered, in nearly all state legislatures and in
the U.S. House of Representatives. Such legislation, if it includes a broad definition of “spyware,” could restrict our
information collection methods. Any restriction or change to our information collection methods would cause us to
spend substantial money and time to make such changes and could decrease the amount and utility of the
information that we collect.

In addition, domestic and foreign governments are considering restricting the collection and use of Internet usage
data. Some privacy advocates argue that even anonymous data, individually or when aggregated, may reveal too
much information about Intemnet users. If governmental authorities were to follow privacy advocates’
recommendations and enact laws that limit our online data collection practices, we would likely have to obtain the
express consent, or opt-in, of an Internet user before we could collect, share, or use any of that user’s information. It
might not be possible to comply with all domestic and foreign governmental restrictions simultaneously. Any
change to an opt-in system of data collection would damage our ability to aggregate and utilize the information we
currently collect from Internet users and would reduce the amount and value of the information that we provide to
customers, A reduction in the value of our information might cause some existing customers to discontinue their use
of our services or discourage potential customers from subscribing to our services, which would reduce our revenue.
We would also need to devote considerable effort and resources, both human and financial, to develop new
information collection procedures to comply with an opt-in requirement. Even if we succeeded in developing new
procedures, we might be unable to convince Internet users to agree to our collection and use of their information.
This would negatively impact our revenue, growth and potential for expanding our business and could cause our
stock price to decline.

The success of our business depends on the continued growth of the Internet as a business tool and the growth
of the web analytics market.

Expansion in the sales of our services depends on the continued reliance on the Internet as a communications and
commerce platform for enterprises. The use of the Internet as a business tool could be adversely impacted by the
development or adoption of new standards and protocols to handle increased demands of Internet activity, security,
reliability, cost, ease-of-use, accessibility and quality-of-service. The performance of the Internet and its acceptance
as a business tool has been harmed by viruses, worms, and similar malicious programs, and the Internet has
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experienced a variety of outages and other delays as a result of damage to portions of its infrastructure. If, for any
reason, the Internet does not remain a widespread communications medium and commercial platform and business
processes do not continue to move online, the demand for our service would be significantly reduced, which would
harm our business.

In addition, the market for Internet user measurement and analysis services is new and rapidly evolving. In
particular, the market for outsourced, on-demand information services such as ours is relatively new and evolving.
We will not be able to sell our services or grow our business if the market for Internet user measurement and
analysis services does not grow or is not outsourced, or if on-demand services are not widely adopted.

Risks Related to the Securities Market and the Ownership of Our Common Stock

Qur stock price may be volatile and you may not be able to sell your shares at an attractive price.

COur common stock had not been publicly traded prior to our initial public offering, which was completed in
October 2004, and an active trading market may be difficult to sustain, We have not paid cash dividends since our
inception and do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Therefore, investors will have to rely on
appreciation in our stock price and a liquid trading market in order to achieve a gain on their investment. The market
prices for our common stock and for securities of technology companies in general have been highly volatile and
may continue to be highly volatile in the future. The trading price of our common stock may fluctuate subsiantially
as a result of one or more of the following factors:

* variations in our operating results;

¢ annmouncements of technological innovations, new services or service enhancements or significant
agreements by us or by our competitors;

» recruitment or departure of key personnel;

» changes in the estimates of our operating results or changes in recommendations by any securities analysts
that elect to follow our common stock;

+ sales of our common stock, including sales by officers, directors and funds affiliated with them;

¢ fluctuations in stock market prices and trading volumes of similar companies or of the securities markets
generally;

» market conditions in our industry, the industries of our customers and the economy as a whole; or
* economic and political factors, including wars, terrorism and political unrest,

We might require additional capital to support business growth and this capital might not be available on
acceptable terms, or at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to
respond to business challenges, including the need to develop new services or enhance our existing services,
enhance our operating infrastructure and acquire competing or complementary businesses and technologies.
Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional
funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer
significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to
those of holders of our common stock. The senior secured credit agreement we entered into in February 2007
includes restrictive covenants which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue
business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. In addition, we may not be able to obtain additional
financing on terms favorable to us, or at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms
satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to
business challenges could be significantly limited. If we need to raise additional funds and are unable to do so, we
may be required to modify our operations, which would have an adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows,
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Future sales of our common stock by our stockholders may depress our stock price.

Our existing stockholders hold a substantial number of shares of our common stock that they generally are
currently able to sell in the public market. In particular, the former Avivo shareholders who received shares of our
common stock pursuant to the merger agreement with Avivo are generally able to sell in the public market. We have
also registered the shares of our common stock that are subject to outstanding stock options or reserved for issuance
under our stock option plans, which shares can also be freely sold in the public market upon issuance. In addition,
certain stockholders have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering
their shares or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or for other
stockholders. Sales by our existing stockholders of a substantial number of shares, or the expectation that such sales
may occur, could significantly reduce the market price of our common stock.

In addition, in connection with our merger with Visual Sciences, 568,512 shares of our common stock were
placed in escrow for the benefit of the former members and certain optionholders of Visual Sciences. These shares
are subject to release from escrow on April 1, 2007, unless we assert indemnification claims against them under our
merger agreement, and generally may be sold in the public market pursuant to Rule 144 or pursuant to a shelf
registration statement that we are required to file with respect to such shares. Moreover, we issued to the former
members and certain optionholders of Visual Sciences warrants to purchase 1,082,923 shares of our common stock
at an exercise price of $18.47 per share. Any shares issued upon exercise of the warrants may also be sold pursuant
to such shelf registration statemnent, once it becomes effective. Sales by the former members and optionholders of
Visual Sciences of a substantial number of shares, or the expectation that such sales may occur, could significantly
reduce the market price of our common stock.

Moreover, certain of our stockholders have established trading plans under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, for the purpose of effecting sales of common stock, and
other employees and affiliates, including our directors and executive officers, may choose to establish similar plans
in the future. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market by our affiliates
could cause the market price of our common stock to decline and could impair our ability to raise additional capital
through equity financings.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws or under Delaware law might
discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our management and,
therefore, depress the trading price of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress the
trading price of our common stock by acting to discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or
changes in our management that the stockholders of our company may deem advantageous. These provisions:

e establish a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board are elected at one time;

» provide that directors may only be removed “for cause” and only with the approval of the holders of 66 2/3%
of our outstanding voting stock;

*+ require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and bylaws;

e authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could issue to increase the
number of outstanding shares to discourage a takeover attempt;

« prohibit stockholder action by written consent, requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of
our stockholders;

+ provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

* establish advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our board or for proposing matters that
can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.
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Additionally, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits
a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested”
stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an “interested”
stockhoider and which may discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None
Item 2. Properties,

We currently lease approximately 61,000 square feet of office space located in San Diego, California under a
lease that expires in January 2013, of which we currently occupy approximately 40,000 square feet. We sublease the
unused space at such facility under a sublease which expires in December 2007. We may not renew this sublease
and may begin using a portion of the subleased space for our operations upon the expiration of the sublease.

We lease approximately 8,250 square feet of office space located in San Bruno, California under a lease that
expires in January 2008.

We lease approximately 1,000 square feet of office space in the Netherlands, under a lease that expires in June
2009,

As a result of the February 2006 merger with Visual Sciences, we also lease approximately 28,500 square feet of
office space located in Herndon, Virginia under a lease that expires in 2013.

We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current operations.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

On February 3, 2006, NetRatings, Inc., an internet media and market research company, filed a lawsuit against
us in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. The suit alleges willful infringement of
United States Patent Nos. 5,675,510, 6,108,637, 6,115,680, 6,138,155, 6,763,386. In the complaint, NetRatings
seeks a preliminary and permanent injunction, unspecified monetary damages (compensatory and enhanced) and
recovery of its attorneys’ fees and costs. Our answer to the complaint, in which we denied the material allegations of
the complaint, was filed on March 24, 2006. A Markman claim construction hearing was held on February 1, 2007.
A final pre-trial conference for this case is scheduled for July 25, 2007. No trial date is currently set for this case.
Although there can be no assurance that an unfavorable outcome in this matter would not have a material adverse
effect on our operating results, liquidity or financial position, we believe the claims made by NetRatings are without
merit and intend to vigorously defend the action.

On February 22, 2006, we filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
California charging NetRatings with willfui infringement of United States Patent No. 6,393,479, The complaint
seeks a permanent injunction against continued tnfringement as well as monetary damages (compensatory and
enhanced) and recovery of our attorneys’ fees and costs. On March 30, 2006, we filed a first amended complaint
containing additional details regarding the NetRatings products currently accused of infringing the ‘479 patent,
NetRatings answered our amended complaint on April 12, 2006, denying the material ailegations of the amended
complaint and asserting counterclaims for a declaration of non-infringement and invalidity/unenforceability of the
‘479 patent. On May 5, 2006, we replied to the counterclaims, denying their material allegations. A Markman claim
construction hearing was held on January 24, 2007. A pre-trial conference for this case is scheduled for September
10, 2007. No trial date is currently set for this case. Given the nature of patent litigation, at the present time we are
unable to quantify the amount of remuneration we will ultimately seek in this proceeding or the likelihood of
recovering any portion of such remuneration once quantified.

From time to time, we are also involved in other routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of our business.
While the results of such litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that the final outcome of such
matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.

Item 4, Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders,

No matters were submitted to a vote of our security holders during the fourth quarter of 2006,
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PART 1

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Market Information
Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “WSSL.” The following table sets

forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing sale prices of our common stock as reported by Nasdag,
without retail mark-up, mark-down or commissions and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2005 High Low

FAEST QUAITET . .o.eceeeeeeeeeee it ee s e d s RS RS R SR SRR R R s s $ 1346 § 1076
SECONA QUATLET .vreveseeeeeeo oottt e senesesssssssssssssssssasssamssnsssnsssnsssssresssasesseraessssssssmnenrnnnes 9 13,108 9,95
THIED QUATTET 1.ttt e s ee e b b e s bR n AR e e ettt $ 19.10 § 13.63
FOUth QUATET ...t eeseeesesssessssssssssssssntasessesssenesenniesssersisnsssenssssiessisnssmssemenmencesnsenss 9 20,60 8§ 15.27
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2006 High Low

FATST QUATLET. cv.veeveereceeeeeeectetesetesass e et re e e et st s e sea e e e e s bbb bbb e e e e e R SRR e R E Rttt $ 2040 % 1358
SECONA QUATTET ......eeeevevecrcreeectceeetetee et sias s sr st e s e ss s s en e s eresasa s et s rss e sE e e Re et e bbb ba e s n e e e e s rssararasnsasas $ 1747 % 12,12
THIEA QUATTET ....oceeerereeeeaererar e ee st eb bR s b S s s bR S ra A e A e F e s s bbb e e e bR $ 13258 9590
FOUIH QUATTET ...cveveseeeurtsieterrseseseeroee e se e eeeee bbb et st st s ba bbb bR R B4 E S s e b b s bbb eb e e $ 1439 % 11.22

As of March 7, 2007, there were 20,220,656 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding, held by
approximately 252 holders of record of our common stock. This figure does not reflect persons or entities that hold
their stock in nominee or “sireet” name through various brokerage firms.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any
future earnings to finance the growth and development of our business and therefore do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, the credit agreement governing our senior secured revolving
credit facility restricts our ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock. Any future determination to pay cash
dividends will be at the discretion of the board of directors and wilt be dependent upon our financial condition,
results of operations, capitat requirements, general business condition and other factors that our board of directors
may deem relevant, including the restrictions contained in the agreement governing our senior secured credit facility
or any similar agreement, indenture or instrument.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The selected condensed consolidated financial and operating data set forth below have been derived from our
audited financial statements. The following tables should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ and our consolidated financial statements and
related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The historical results presented below are not
indicative of any future results.

As discussed elsewhere in this document, we acquired Avivo on May 4, 2005. Therefore, the condensed
consolidated statement of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2005 includes the results of operations of
Avivo beginning May 4, 2005 and the condensed consolidated balance sheet data includes the related assets and
liabilities of Aviveo as of December 31, 2005.
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As discussed elsewhere in this document, we merged with Visual Sciences on February 1, 2006. Therefore, the
condensed consolidated statement of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2006 includes the results of
operations of Visual Sciences beginning February 1, 2006, and the condensed consolidated balance sheet data
includes the related assets and liabilities of Visual Sciences as of December 31, 2006.

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations Data (in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Revenues $ 64,527 3 39,452 % 22602 % 16,360 % 13,570
(Loss) income from operations.......... (11,155) 5,758 1,642 (2,608) (1,887)
(Benefit from) provision for income

LAXES L.uiereeeeiereveeee et (4,491) (3,073) 46 3 (19
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle ..o 13 — — — —
Net (1085) iNCOME....ceverevrreeeeenceeireas (7,716) 9,659 1,768 (2,078) (2,625)
Net (loss) income attributable to

common stockholders........cocvvveeee. (7,716) 9,659 (947) (3,644) (3,992)
Basic net (loss) income per common

share:

Before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle .......ccoveee. $ (041) $ 056 % 0.13) 3 091) 8 (1.05)

Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle.........oecvenne — — — — —
Basic net {loss) income per share ...... b 041) % 056 3 013) 3 {0.91) § (L.05)
Diluted net (loss) income per
common share:
Before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle ............... $ 0.41) $ 051 % (0.13) $ (091) $ (1.05)
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle.........ccooceee. — —

Diluted net (loss) income per share... §$ 041 § 051 § 0.13) § (0.91) $ (1.05)
Shares used in per share calculations:
Basic .ot 18,678,099 17,231,411 7,300,809 4,001,979 3,806,550
Diluted ..ooovviiiiiiciinne, 18,678,099 18,774,978 7,300,809 4,001,979 3,806,550

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet Data (in thousands)

As of December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments......$ 253i9 $ 31,680 $§ 22,033 § 5690 § 4,563
Working capital {(deficit) ... (5,360) 24,692 17,664 2,679 2,740
Total ASSELS o.ccvvnvririrresrii it 137,568 87,743 37,618 9,917 8,605
Note payable ... 19,708 — 27 — 679
Redeemable preferred Stock ... iecrvvvnrsvercnrenees — — — 14,056 12,519
Convertible redeemable preferred stock ....................... — — — 28,837 30,008
Accumulated deficit............cmrvniinnniies (52,325) (44,609) (54,268) (56,036) (53,958)
Total stockholders’ equity (defiCit)......cccoevererrererererenns 85,753 69,816 28,145 (39,179)  (38,273)

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements, which involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various
Sfactors, including those set forth above under “Item IA. Risk Factors.” This Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and
related notes for the vear ended December 31, 2006, which are included elsewhere in this annual report,
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Overview

We are a leading provider of real-time customer intelligence solutions. In 2006, the Company operated through

two divisions, the WebSideStory division and the Visual Sciences division, which was acquired as a result of our h
merger with Visual Sciences on February 1, 2006. The merger with Visual Sciences expanded and strengthened our
strategic capabilities, enabling us to drive real-time customer intelligence applications into the full breadth of
enterprise opportunities. The Visual Sciences brand extends our product suite in several dimensions: to real-time
multichannel customer analytics for organizations that market and service through call centers, messaging systems,
and retail points-of-sale; to licensed software deployments where security or privacy are dominant considerations as
in healthcare or financial services; to intranets and extranets where hosted analytics is not practical; and to the
largest and most complex web sites where parallel performance is required to manage terabytes of data.

In December 2006, we announced the consolidation of our analytics sales, services and marketing organizations
into a single force for 2007, enabling us to execute a single strategy across two brands, WebSideStory and Visual
Sciences, and their associated product lines.

The services we provide deliver comprehensive insight into the lifetime of customer interactions across on-line
and off-line channels. We identify developing trends, analyze and test business hypotheses and optimize the
performance of customer facing business systems without the need for significant investments in internal
infrastructure.

We derive our revenue from the sale of products and services that we classify into the following four categories:
(1) subscription, hosting and support; (2) license; (3) professional services; and (4) advertising, We derive the
majority of our revenue from HBX™ Analytics, the flagship product in the WebSideStory product line which is
delivered as a hosted solution on a subscription basis. Web analytics refers to the collection, analysis and reporting
of information about Internet user activity. HBX Analytics collects data from web browsers, processes that data and
delivers analytic reports of online behavior to our customers on demand, allowing them to improve their websites
and their online marketing campaigns.

As of December 31, 2006, we had over 1,500 customers purchasing services from our WebSideStory and Visual
Sciences product lines. Our direct sales force sells our services to a broad range of organizations in many industries
including sports and entertainment, news, retail, financial services, travel, technology, manufacturing,
telecommunications and education.

The majority of our operations are conducted in the United States. In order to pursue the sale of our products and
services in international markets, we established wholly owned subsidiaries in France (February 2000), the
Netherlands (August 2000) and the United Kingdom (April 2003). In fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, we generated
approximately 13%, 14% and 16% of our total revenue, respectively, from subsidiaries located outside the United
States. Our current international strategy is to grow and strengthen our presence in international markets by hiring
additional sales personnel and designing our services to support additional languages.

Sources of Revenues

We derive our revenue from the sale of products and services that we classify into the following four categories:
(1) subscription, hosting and support; (2) license; (3) professional services; and (4) advertising. We sell our services
and license our products primarily through our direct sales force. We utilize written contracts as the means to
establish the terms and conditions upon which our products and services are sold to customers.

We recognize revenue in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA™)
Statement of Position (“SOP") 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, and related interpretations, SOP 98-9,
Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions, and Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104 - Revenue Recognition. For
arrangements outside the scope of SOP 97-2, we evaluate if multiple elements can be accounted for separately in
accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables. For more information about our revenue and our revenue recognition policy, please see
“Critical Accounting Policies” below in this Item 7.
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Cost of Revenues and Operating Expenses
Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues primarily consists of expenses related to running our network infrastructure, including Internet
connectivity, co-location and data storage, depreciation associated with computer equipment, web application
development activities, salaries and related expenses for network personnel, allocated overhead and amortization
associated with capitalized software. We allocate overhead such as rent and occupancy charges, employee benefit
costs and non-network related depreciation expense to all departments based on headcount. As a result, general
overhead expenses are reflected in our cost of revenues and each operating expense category. Cost of revenues also
includes professional services provided both on implementation of our software and on an on-going basis as we
advise our customers how to optimize the use of our products.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses represent our largest operating expense category and consist primarily of salaries
and related expenses for our sales and marketing staff. Sales and marketing expenses include commissions, travel
and entertainment, marketing programs, including advertising, events, corporate communications and other brand-
building and product-marketing expenses, and allocated overhead. We plan to increase our number of direct sales
and marketing personnel to expand our domestic and international sales and marketing activities. We also plan to
sponsor additional marketing events and programs to build brand awareness. We expect that sales and marketing
expenses will continue to increase as we hire additional sales and marketing personnel and increase our marketing
activities.

Technology Development Expenses

Technology development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses for our software engineers
and product development and quality assurance personnel, as well as other costs related to the development and
enhancement of existing services and allocated overhead. We have historically focused our research and
development efforts on enhancing our core technology, as well as improving the usability and accessibility of
information within our web analytics subscription services. We expect that research and development expenses wili
increase as we further enhance our core technology and services and develop technologies for new service offerings.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist of salaries and related expenses for executive, finance and
accounting, legal, human resources and management information systems personnel, professional fees, other
corporate expenses and allocated overhead. We expect that general and administrative expenses will increase as we
continue to add personnel as we expand our business and incur additional expenses to meet compliance
requirements associated with operating as a public company.

Stock-Based Compensation Expenses

On January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, which is a revision of SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensarion. SFAS No. 123R supersedes Accounting Principles Board (APB)
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows.
SFAS No. 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of stock options and the
compensatory elements of employee stock purchase plans, to be recognized in the income statement based upon
their fair values. Under the fair value recognition provisions of this statement, stock-based compensation cost is
measured at the grant-date fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the vesting period. Determining
the fair value of stock-based awards at the grant date requires judgment, including estimating our stock price
volatility, employee stock option exercise behaviors and forfeiture rates.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

This “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” is based on our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and expense and related
disclosures. On an on-going basis, we evaluate estimates, including those related to accounts receivable allowance,
stock-based compensation, estimated life of intangible assets, impairment of intangible assets and goodwill, income
tax valuation allowance and depreciation lives. These estimates are based on historical experience and on various
other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Critical accounting policies are those that, in management’s view, are most important in the portrayal of our
financial condition and results of operations and include revenue, allowance for doubtful accounts, accounting for
stock-based compensation, accounting for business combinations, impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill and
income taxes. Our significant accounting policies are disclosed in the footnotes to the consolidated financial
statements. Those critical accounting policies that require significant judgments and estimates are:

Subscription, Hosting and Support Revenue

Subscription, hosting and support revenue is recognized when all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1)
there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement; (2) the service has been provided to the customer as described
below; (3) the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable; and (4) the collection of the fees is
probable.

We begin revenue recognition for services based on the following:

*+ Revenue recognition for subscription services begins when the customer has been given access to the service
or after acceptance.

» Revenue recognition for post-contract support begins upon execution of the software license agreement or
after acceptance of the related sofiware license, and hosting support services begins upon acceptance of the
software. For contracts without acceptance provisions, revenue recognition for post-contract support begins
upon completion of installation and for hosting, upon delivery of the service.

Subscription and hosting revenues are recognized over the term of the related contract periods, which generally
range from six months to two years. We warrant certain levels of uptime reliability under subscription arrangements
and permit our customers to receive credits or terminate their agreements in the event that we fail to meet those
levels. We have rarely provided any such credits or termination rights. Subscription and hosting revenues that are
invoiced and paid in advance of delivery of the service are recorded as deferred revenue.

All software license arrangements include initial term post-contract support services, which are recognized
ratably over the term of the post-contract service period, typically one year. Post-contract support services provide
customers with rights to when and if available updates, maintenance releases and patches released during the term of
the support period.

License Revenue

We derive our license revenue from selling perpetual software licenses to our customers. We do not provide
custom software development services or create tailored products to sell to specific customers. Pricing is based on a
standard price list with volume and marketing related discounts. The perpetual software licenses are sold with the
first year of post-contract services, installation and training. As such, the combination of these products and services
represent a “multiple-element” arrangement for revenue recognition purposes.
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For contracts with multiple elements we recognize revenue using the residual method in accordance with SOP
98-9. Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of
the arrangement fee is allocated to the delivered elements and recognized as revenue, assuming all other revenue
recognition criteria have been met. If evidence of fair value for each undelivered element of the arrangement does
not exist, all revenue from the arrangement is recognized when evidence of fair value is determined or when all

elements of the arrangement are delivered. Vendor specific objective evidence, or VSOE, for post-coniract services
is based on the stated renewal rate in the contract if that rate is substantive.

Revenue for perpetual software licenses is recognized when all of the following occur:

1. Persuasive evidence of an atrangement exists, which consists of a written contract signed by both the
customer and us.

Delivery has occurred, which is after acceptance of the software, or for contracts without acceptance
provisions, delivery occurs after completion of installation,

3. The fee is fixed or determinable, which occurs when we have a signed contract that states the agreed upon
fee for our products and/or services and specifies the related terms and conditions that govern that
arrangement.

4. Collection is probable as determined by the payment history of the customer and the customer’s financial
position.

Professional Services Revenue

VSOE of fair value for professional consulting and training services is determined by reference to our
established pricing and discounting practices for these services when sold separately. Revenue is derived primarily
from time and material based contracts and is recognized as time is incurred.

Advertising Revenue
Advertising revenue is recognized based on actual delivery of advertisements.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from customers’ inability to pay
us. We calculate this provision based on our historical experience and for specific customers that, in our opinion, are
likely to default on our receivables from them. In order to identify these customers, we perform ongoing reviews of
all customers that have breached their payment terms, as well as those that have filed for bankruptcy or for whom
information has become available indicating a significant risk of non-recoverability, In addition, we have
experienced significant growth in customers; therefore, we have less payment history to rely on with these
customers. We rely on historical trends of bad debt as a percentage of total revenue and apply these percentages to
the accounts receivable associated with new customers and evaluate these customers over time. To the extent our
future collections experience differs from our assumptions based on historical trends and our past experience, the
amount of our bad debt and allowance recorded may be different.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, which is a revision of SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. SFAS No. 123R supersedes Accounting Principles Board (APB)
Opinion No. 23, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows.
SFAS No. 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of stock options and the
compensatory elements of employee stock purchase plans, to be recognized in the income statement based upon
their fair values. Under the fair value recognition provisions of this statement, stock-based compensation cost is
measured at the grant-date fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the vesting period. Determining
the fair value of stock-based awards at the grant date requires judgment, including estimating our stock price
volatility, employee stock option exercise behaviors and forfeiture rates,
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We previously accounted for our stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method as defined in APB
Opinion No. 25 and accordingly, prior to January 1, 2006, compensation expense for stock options was measured as
the excess, if any, of the fair value of our common stock at the date of grant over the amount an employee must pay
to acquire the stock. We used the modified prospective transition method to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 123R.
Under this method, unvested awards at the date of adoption are amortized based on the grant date fair value
estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, with the exception of options granted prior to
our initial public offering (“pre-1PO awards™). The pre-IPO awards will continue to be amortized based on the grant
date intrinsic value in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25. Awards that are granted or modified after the date of
adoption will be measured and accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 123R. Based upon our analysis of the
requirements of SFAS No. 123R, we reclassified our unamortized deferred compensation related to the issuance of
unvested common stock awards (excluding pre-IPO awards) that was reported in the equity section of the balance
sheet to additional paid-in capital.

Under SFAS No. 123, we previously followed an accounting policy of recognizing forfeitures as they occurred.
SFAS No. 123R requires that compensatien cost be recorded only for the awards that are expected to be earned and
therefore an estimate of expected forfeitures must be used. As part of the implementation of SFAS No. 123R, we
have estimated expected forfeitures based upon our history and experience and expectations for the future. Total
stock-based compensation expense has been recorded net of expected forfeitures.

We adopted the alternative transition method provided in FASB Staff Position No. FAS 123(R)-3, Transition
Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards. The alternative transition method
includes a simplified method to establish the beginning balance of the additional paid-in capital pool (APIC pool)
related to the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation which is available to absorb tax deficiencies
recognized subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

As of December 31, 2006, there was approximately $9.4 million and $0.3 million of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to stock options and restricted stock awards, respectively. These costs are expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 1.46 years for the stock options and 0.09 years for the restricted stock
awards.

Business Combinations ,

When we acquire businesses, we allocate the purchase price to tangible assets and liabilities acquired and
identifiable intangible assets based on all information available to management at the time. Any residual purchase
price is recorded as goodwill. The allocation of the purchase price requires management to make significant
estimates in determining the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, especially with respect to
intangible assets. These estimates are based on a combination of information which may include historical
experience and information obtained from the management of the acquired companies, cash flows that an asset is
expected to generate in the future, the fair value of the underlying asset based on similar circumstances in similar
industries, cost savings expected to be derived from acquiring an asset and valuations assigned by valuation
specialists using proprietary valuation models. These estimates are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. In
addition, unanticipated events and circumstances may occur which may affect the accuracy or validity of such
estimates.

Impairments of Long-lived Assets and Goodwill

We account for long-lived assets, excluding goodwill, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards, or SFAS, No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. We assess potential
impairment to our long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recovered. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of
the long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not
recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset. Any required impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of a
long-lived asset exceeds its fair value and is recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the related asset and a
charge to operating results.
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We account for goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives be tested for impairment at least annually. SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible assets with estimable
useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated useful lives and reviewed for impairment in accordance
with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. We test goodwill for
impairment annually, in the second quarter of each fiscal year, or more frequently if events and circumstances
warrant,

Income Taxes

We make estimates to determine our current provision for income taxes, as well as deferred tax assets and
liabilities, income taxes payable and any valuation allowances. Our estimates related to our current provision for
income taxes are based on current tax laws. Changes in tax laws or our interpretation of tax laws could impact the
amounts provided for income taxes in our financial statements. We assess the likelihood that we will be able to
recover our deferred tax assets. Realization of our deferred tax assets is dependent upon future taxable income as
well as our use of prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. Qur estimates regarding future profitability may
change due to future market and industry conditions, changes in tax laws and other factors. We consider all available
evidence, both positive and negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks associated with
estimates of future taxable income, changes in tax laws, ongoing prudent and feasible profits and our stock price. To
the extent we believe it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of our net deferred tax assets will not be
realized, we establish a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets. To the extent we establish or change a
valuation allowance in a period, we reflect the change with a corresponding increase or decrease to our tax provision
in the consolidated statement of operations.

Results of Operations

The following table presents our selected consolidated statements of operations data as a percentage of our total
revenues for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Revenues
Subscription, hosting and SUPPOTT........ccceoiiiiiii e eececnsrtes e sres s s ssse s e sre e sas s 83% 93% 99%
OISR 1ttt ceeeectirertseectte e tearitaessseasbnasnrnsabbbasasssebesasnsesa bbb aeasbe s bae e ee st baabstnsntnanrnsaras 5% 0% 0%
Professional SErvVICES ... ottt e s e 8% 3% 0%
AQVETTISITILE .ottt st re s s esasnesensssesseassasasnssasesanasnrssarerasasansasers 4% 4% 1%
TOMAL FEVEIUES ....eeecveerrireerrensseesisssesrreraseraraseessesrasoserssasasaessesrassrenrenareraresssesssesane 100% 100% 100%
Cost of revenues
COSt OF TEVEINUE . ...cciiiiiii e crrcsnins e s e stes e e e s s bnrsmt b s sa s e smpas et ernesnsnes 25% 17% 15%
Amortization of INtangible ASSetS......civirie i s 4% 1% 0%
Total COSt OF TEVEIUES .....ccieiiriiiieecceievre e s sasssann e e ens e s e e e e s resrs 29% 18% 15%
GrOSS PIOFIE ..o e s e e s st e s 71% 82% 85%
Operating expenses
Sales and MAarkEtiNE .. ....c.overieioreenrriie s s ee s e sabe e een 41% 37% 44%
TechnOlOZY AeVEIOPIMENL ... veieeeeevrvrereesereemeeersesrssessennenenserseassseseseenssrevrsnssssseesesens 20% 12% 17%
General and admMINISITALIVE ... .c.vcececiirererisr i e sas s se s snes 22% 16% 18%
Amortization of intangible ASSels.........ccoviiie e 3% 3% 0%
Total Operating @XPENSES......vviueererirerriisire e e 88% 68% 79%
(L 0ss) income from OPErations .......cvccerrririsere i erreresimn et (174 14% 6%
INTErESt EXPEIISE .veiiieeeercnrrr st ee s s e e rrrerrereereanasesaeeranerane (3)% 0% 0%
[NEETESE INCOMIE ...eeireesiriccreecrte ettt e se s e as s e m s e s e st sem e er s 1% 2% 1%
OFNET EXPEIISE ..uiivereieereieitesees e e s na b et see e ab b et e e abe b et s b gtk 0% 0% 0%

34




Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
(Loss) income before iNCOME tAXES wu.vuvvriminisinsisec i (19% 16% T%
(Benefit from) provision for iNCOME tAXES .......oocrirminimtieisrs e (7% {8)% 0%
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ................ (12)% 24% 7%
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (net of tax)........ooinnnnnnn. 0% 0% 0%
Nt (J0SS) INCOME ...oecevcerireriiirier et bbb s es (12)% 24% 7%
Constructive dividend on redemption of redeemable preferred StocK .....ccoviiininnee 0% 0% (6%
Accretion of discount on redeemable preferred stock ... 0% 0% (6)%
Net (loss) income attributable to common SIoCKROMETS. ..o (12)% 24% (5)%

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005
Revenues

Our total revenues were $64.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to $39.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2005, representing an increase of $25.0 million, or 64%. Revenues from our
WebSideStory division for the year ended December 31, 2006 comprised $55.1 million of our aggregate revenues,
and revenues from our Visual Sciences division comprised $9.4 million of our aggregate revenues. Revenues for the
year ended December 31, 2005 were derived entirely from our WebSideStory division.

Subscription, Hosting and Support Revenue. Subscription, hosting and support revenue was £53.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2006 compared to $36.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, representing an
increase of $16.6 million, or 45%. Approximately $10.9 million of the increase was the result of an increase in the
number of new customers for our services and lower attrition rates. The merger with Visual Sciences in February
2006 and the acquisition of Avivo in May 2005 accounted for $5.7 million of the remaining increase, We expect that
our subscription, hosting and support revenue will continue to increase in the future as we increase our customer
base and continue to consider oppertunities to grow our business organically and potentially through strategic
acquisitions or mergers.

License Revenue. License revenue was $3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. This revenue was
entirely attributable to our merger with Visual Sciences in February 2006. We had no license revenue during the
year ended December 31, 2005.

Professional Services Revenue. Professional services revenue was $5.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2006 compared to $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, representing an increase of $4.3 million, or
434%. The Visual Sciences merger accounted for $3.5 million of this increase, with the remaining increase due to
increased sales of optimization work. We expect that professional services revenue will continue to increase in
future periods.

Advertising Revenue. Advertising revenue was $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to
$1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, representing an increase of $0.7 million, or 38%. The inclusion
of Avivo’s advertising revenue for the full year in 2006 compared to seven months in 2005 was the primary reason
for this increase.

Cost of Revenues and Operating Expenses

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues was $18.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to $6.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2005, representing an increase of $12.1 millien, or 179%. Our cost of
revenues as a percentage of revenue was 29% for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 18% for the year
ended December 31, 2005. Approximately $4.2 million of the increase resulted from the merger with Visual
Sciences {excluding stock-based compensation expense and expense related to the arnortization of intangibles). The
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amortization of intangible assets related to our two business combinations increased $2.4 million. In addition, during
the first quarter of 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123R which resulted in an increase of $2.3 million in stock-based
compensation expense. The remaining increase primarily resulted from an increase in salaries, bonuses, and
employee-related costs associated with the expansion of our professional services department, We expect cost of
revenues to increase in absolute dollars in future periods. The increase, as a percentage of revenue, was attributable
to the inclusion of stock-based compensation expense related to our adoption of SFAS No. 123R and to the
amortization of intangibles related to the merger with Visual Sciences and, to a lesser degree, the increase in
professional services which has a higher cost of revenues than subscription.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expenses were $26.5 million for the year ended December
31, 2006 compared to $14.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, representing an increase of $11.8
million, or 80%. The merger with Visual Sciences contributed $3.3 million to this increase (excluding stock-based
compensation expense). The remaining increase came from the following: stock-based compensation expense
increased $3.6 million due to our adoption of SFAS No. 123R; salaries, wages and related employee benefits
increased $2.1 million; and trade shows and advertising expense increased by $574,000 as we expanded our
marketing efforts. The increase in sales and marketing personnel and number of customers also contributed to higher
travel, lodging, insurance and employee event costs in the amount of approximately $453,000. As our customer base
grows and our company expands to meet the increased detnands, we will continue to hire additional sales and
customer retention personnel in future periods, and, as a result, we expect such expenses to increase in the future.

Technology Development Expenses. Technology development expenses were $12.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 compared to $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, representing an increase of
$7.8 million, or 159%. The acquisition of development resources at Visual Sciences accounted for $2.2 million of
this increase (excluding stock-based compensation expense). Approximately $2.9 million of the increase was due to
the cost of expanding our development efforts in Russia, increased headcount and lower costs for internally
developed software, which we capitalize. Stock-based compensation expense increased by $2.2 million due to our
adoption of SFAS No. 123R. We expect that technology development expenses will increase in fulure periods as we
increase our investments in development and as the cost of internally developed software decreases. Our internally
developed software amortization expense will increase as we amortize the cost related to completed projects.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses were $14.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006 compared to $6.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, representing an increase
of $8.1 miilion, or 132%. Approximately $2.5 million of the increase was due to professional fees for accounting
and legal services. Stock-based compensation contributed $2.3 million to the increase, and the merger with Visual
Sciences contributed $1.4 million of the increase (excluding stock-based compensation expense). Approximately
$0.4 million of the remaining increase was attributable to salaries and wages and related employee benefits for
general and administrative personnel,

Amortization of Intangibles. Amortization of intangibles expense was $3.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2006 compared to $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, representing an increase of $2.1 million,
or 179%. The increase was primarily attributable to the merger with Visual Sciences. Amortization of intangibles
related 1o the acquisition of Avivo accounted for $1.9 million of the expense for the year ended December 31, 2006
based on $8.3 million in intangible assets. These intangible assets have estimated lives ranging from three to six
years with a weighted-average estimated life of approximately five years. Amortization of intangibles related to the
merger with Visual Sciences accounted for $1.3 million of the expense based on $18.7 million in intangible assets
with estimated useful lives of three to ten years. Intangible asset amortization of acquired complete technology is
included in cost of revenue and amortization of customer and maintenance contracts and trade name is included in
operating expenses.

Other Income, Net
Interest expense. For the year ended December 31, 2006, interest expense increased $1.7 million compared to the

prior year period. The increase in interest expense resulted from interest on the senior notes issued in February 2006
in connection with the Visual Sciences merger.
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Interest income. During the year ended December 31, 2006, interest income decreased $209,000, or 23%,
compared to the prior year period. The decrease was primarily due to lower cash, cash equivalent and investment
balances as a result of the cash used in connection with the Visual Sciences merger.

Provision for Income Taxes

The benefit from income taxes of $4.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the benefit for
income taxes of $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, primarily related to our 2006 net loss position.
Our effective income tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately 37% as compared to an
effective rate of 47% during the same period in 2005. In 2005 we had a valuation allowance on our deferred tax
assets, which was released in the fourth quarter of 2005. We do not have a valuation allowance on our deferred tax
assets as of December 31, 2006. We were profitable from the fourth quarter of 2003 through the end of 2005 and
began generating a net loss in 2006 primarily due to the stock-based compensation expense associated with the
adoption of SFAS No. 123R and the intangible asset amortization expense related to our Visual Sciences merger.
We believe that it is more likely than not that we will utilize our deferred tax assets in the near future; therefore, no
valuation allowance has been recorded as of December 31, 2006. We will continue to monitor our financial resuits
and the likelihood of utilizing our net operating loss carryforwards each quarter. Prior to the release of the valuation
allowance, we recorded income tax expense based-on the estimated amount of taxes payable within each period
presented. In 2006, we recorded a benefit based on our effective rate of approximately 37%. The statutory rate of
approximately 40% was reduced based on the permanent differences between book and tax. The permanent
differences consisted of the imputed interest associated with the senior notes and meals and entertainment expense.

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004
Revenues

Our total revenues were $39.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to $22.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004, representing an increase of $16.9 million, or 75%. Revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004 were derived entirely from our WebSideStory division,

Subscription, Hosting and Support Revenue. Subscription, hosting and support revenue was $36.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2005 compared to $22.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, representing an
increase of $14.3 million, or 64%. The increase in subscription revenues over the previous year was primarily the
result of increasing the number of new customers for our services to over 1,100 as of December 31, 2005 from
approximately 650 as of December 31, 2004, which resulted from expanding our sales staff and increasing our
product breadth and reach. The inclusion of subscription revenue from Avivo, which was acquired in May 2005,
also contributed to the increase. Deferred revenues increased 100% to $12.8 million for the year ended December
31, 2005 from $6.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Slightly offsetting the increase in revenue was
the negative foreign currency translation impact due to an approximate 13% decline of the U.S. Dollar in relation to
the Euro.

Professional Services Revenue. Professional services revenue was $1.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2005 compared to $71,000 for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase was primarily due to the acquisition
of Avivo and the inclusion of its professional services revenue beginning in May 2005.

Advertising Revenues. Advertising revenue was $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to
$0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, representing an increase of $1.6 million. This increase was due
to the acquisition of Avivo and the inclusion of its advertising revenue beginning in May 2005.

Cost of Revenues and Operating Expenses

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues was $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to $3.3
miltion for the year ended December 31, 2004, representing an increase of $3.5 million, or 104%. Our cost of
revenues as a percentage of revenue was 18% for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 15% for the year
ended December 31, 2004. The increase primarily resulted from an overall increase in headcount, a $1.4 million
increase in salaries, a $387,000 increase in consulting work, a $256,000 increase in bonuses and employee-related
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costs associated with the expansion of our professional services department and an increase in costs associated with
network personnel. In addition, we incurred higher utility costs and depreciation expense. Cost of revenue also
increased because we recognized $202,000 in amortization of intangibles related to the acquisition of Avivo.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expenses were $14.7 million for the year ended December
31, 2005 compared to $9.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, representing an increase of $4.8 million,
or 48%. The increase was primarily attributable to increased salaries and wages and related employee benefits for
additional sales and marketing personnel of $2.4 million and increased sales commissions and bonuses of $1.2
million related io increased revenue. The increase in sales and marketing personnel and number of customers
contributed to higher travel, lodging, communication and employee event costs in the amount of approximately
$582,000. Additionally, we also incurred higher marketing costs specifically related to our product user forum held
in November 2005. The acquisition of Avivo also added to the increase.

Technology Development Expenses. Technology development expenses were $5.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 compared to $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, representing an increase of
$1.2 million, or 31%. The increase was primarily the result of higher salaries and wages and related employee
benefit costs of $2.¢ million and higher depreciation expense partially offset by the capitalization of $1.2 million of
internally developed new product software in 2005. This compares to $185,000 of internally developed new product
software costs capitalized during 2004.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses were $6.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 compared to $3.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, representing an increase of
£2.2 million, or $7%. The increase was largely due to additional professional fees for accounting and legal services
of $1.1 million associated with being a public company, including the costs we incurred in 2005 associated with our
Sarbanes-Oxley compliance project, an overall increase of $1.0 million in salaries and wages and an increase in
certain insurance coverage. The acquisition of Avivo also added to the increase.

Other Income, Net

Interest income. During the year ended December 31, 2005, interest income increased $0.7 million, or 341%,
compared to the prior year period. The increase was primarily due to interest income earned on proceeds from our
initial public offering in October 2604.

Provision for Income Taxes

The benefit from income taxes of $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 primarily resulted from the
release of the valuation allowance we had recorded against our deferred tax assets. The net deferred tax assets relate
to our accumulated net operating loss carryforwards. As a result of the acquisition of Avivo and prior ownership
changes, these net deferred tax assets will be limited in use on an annual basis pursuant to Internal Revenue Code
Section 382. As we believe it is more-likely-than-not that our net deferred tax assets will ultimately be recovered,
we released our valuation allowance in 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

As of December 31, 2006, we had $19.7 million of cash and cash equivalents, $5.6 million in short-term
investments and $5.4 million in working capital deficit, as compared 1o $20.0 million of cash and cash equivalents,
$11.7 miliion in short-term investments, $3.3 million in long-term investments and $24.7 million in working capital
as of December 31, 2005. Our cash, cash equivalents and investments, combined with our positive cash flow from
operating activities and available borrowings under the revolving credit facility we entered into in February 2007,
are our principal sources of liquidity. We believe that our existing cash and short-term investments, anticipated cash
flows from operations, and available credit facility will be sufficient to meet our operating and capital requirements
through at least the next 12 months.
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Visual Sciences Merger. On February 1, 2006, we acquired Visual Sciences in exchange for $22.0 million in
cash, 568,512 shares of our common stock, warrants to purchase 1,082,923 shares of our common stock, which
expire on August 1, 2007 and have an exercise price of $18.47 per share, and $20.0 million in aggregate principal
amount of senior notes due August 1, 2007, subject to certain mandatory prepayment provisions. We also granted,
pursuant to our existing equity incentive plan, 189,507 shares of restricted common stock to certain employees of
Visual Sciences, which became fully vested at the end of January 2007, and non-qualified stock options to purchase
350,000 shares of our common stock to certain employees of Visual Sciences. Please see Note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report for further details regarding our merger with Visual Sciences.
As discussed below, in February 2007, we entered into a $15 million, two-year, senior secured revolving credit
facility. We used $5.0 million of initial borrowings under this credit facility, together with cash-on-hand, to repay all
of the senior notes we issued in connection with the Visual Sciences merger.

Avivo Acguisition. On May 4, 2005, we completed the acquisition of Avivo, a provider of on-demand website
search and content solutions. We paid approximately $4.2 million in cash, and issued 2,958,713 shares of common
stock and options to purchase 164,434 shares of common stock, to acquire Avivo. On the acquisition date,
approximately $0.8 million of the $4.2 million total cash consideration and approximately 592,000 of the 2,958,713
shares of common stock (together, the Escrow Amount) were deposited in escrow to secure indemnification
obligations of Avivo and pessible adjustments to the purchase price. In August 2006, upon the 15-month
anniversary of the closing, 325,538 shares of the Company’s common stock and cash in the amount of
approximately $444,000 were released from escrow. We recorded an increase to goodwill of $3.9 million as a result
of the value of the shares released from escrow based on the closing price of our common stock on August 4, 2006.
In addition, approximately $161,000 in cash was transferred out of the escrow 10 us and 118,261 shares of common
stock were cancelled as a result of an earn-out adjustment. One-fourth of the original Escrow Amount was held back
for an additional nine months to secure certain ongoing indemnification obligations of Avivo.

Initial Public Offering of Common Stock. On October 1, 2004, we completed the sale of 5,000,000 shares of our
common stock at an initial offering price to the public of $8.50 per share, resulting in $42.5 million of gross
proceeds to the company. After deducting the underwriting discount of $3.0 million and offering expenses of $1.4
million, our net proceeds from the initial public offering were $38.1 million. On October 26, 2004, in connection
with the full exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option, 750,000 additional shares of common stock were
sold to the public on behalf of certain selling stockholders at a price of $8.50 per share. We did not receive any of
the $6.4 million in gross proceeds from the sale of these additional shares by the selling stockholders. We used
$16.75 million of our net proceeds from the initial public offering to redeem all of our outstanding redeemable
preferred stock. We used the remaining proceeds from our initial public offering to pay the cash portion of the
purchase price for our acquisition of Visual Sciences described above.

New Credit Facility. In February 2007, we entered into a loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank,
which we refer to as the Credit Agreement, which provides for a $15 million senior secured revolving credit facility
through February 2009. Amounts borrowed under the Credit Agreement bear interest at 0.25 percent less than the
prime rate, or LIBOR plus 2.50 percent, as selected by us. All advances made under the Credit Agreement are
guaranteed by our domestic subsidiaries and are secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all of the
present and future personal property of us and certain domestic subsidiaries, other than intellectual property rights
and the capital stock of foreign subsidiaries. Advances under the revolving credit facility will be used by us for
working capital, to help repay the $20 million in aggregate principal amount of senior notes issued in connection
with the merger with Visual Sciences, and to fund our general business requirements.

Under the Credit Agreement, we are subject to certain limitations including limitations on our ability to incur
additional debt, sell assets, make certain investments or acquisitions, grant liens, pay dividends and enter into certain
merger and consolidation transactions, among other restrictions. We are also required to maintain compliance with
financial covenants which include a minimum consolidated adjusted quick ratio and a minimum level of earnings
before stock-based compensation, income taxes, depreciation and amortization expense.

In the first quarter of 2007, we used $5.0 million of borrowings under this credit facility, together with cash-on-

hand, to repay all of the senior notes we issued in connection with the Visual Sciences merger. As a result, we had
$5.0 million of indebtedness outstanding under our senior credit facility as of March 9, 2007.
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Cash Flows (in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Net cash provided by (used in)
OPerating ACHVILIES .....c.covieeeieerererere ettt e e eesee e e oo eeeesasars $ 13,601 § 7887 § 4,703
INVEStING ACHIVILES ..ottt vsea e srsare e erene e e s nees (15,921) 5,645 (26,437)
FiNancing aCtivities ....ccoeeeeriiiciccci e v estsssse e rsnes 1,898 827 21,749
Effect of exchange rate changes on €ash .....ccveeiiivecivnsicienires e 167 (10D 5
Net change in cash and cash equivalents...........cueemiiniccsnince e, by (255y § 14258 § 20

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $13.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Net cash
provided by operating activities consisted primarily of a net loss of $7.7 million and non-cash income taxes of $4.8
million partially offset by non-cash adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities of
$9.0 million for depreciation and amortization expense and $11.4 million for stock-based compensation. Total
changes in working capital increased the net cash provided by operations due to increases in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities of $2.7 million and deferred revenue of $6.5 million, partially offset by increases in accounts
receivable of $5.6 million. These working capital changes were due primarily to the timing of billed revenue,
collections and the delivery of service,

Net cash provided by operating activities was $7.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Net cash
provided by operating activities consisted primarily of $9.7 million in net income and changes in working capital,
including a $3.2 million increase in deferred revenues related to our increased customer base and a $1.3 million
increase in accounts payable and accrized expenses due primarily to increased fees from our independent public
accountants. Non-cash adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities included add
backs of $2.7 million and $1.0 million for depreciation and amortization and stock-based compensation,
respectively. Those increases to net cash provided by operating activities were partially offset by a $3.6 million
increase in accounts receivable, a $3.0 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets and a $3.3 million
increase in deferred tax assets.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $4.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Net cash
provided by operating activities consisted primarily of a $2.4 million increase in deferred revenues, a $0.8 million
increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses and the add-back of non-cash charges for depreciation and
amortization and stock-based compensation of $1.0 million and $0.9 million, respectively. This was partiaily offset
by a $1.5 million increase in accounts receivable.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $15.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. In February
2006, we acquired Visual Sciences which resulted in a net cash outflow of $20.2 million including transaction
expenses. The $4.3 million of property and equipment purchased during the year related mainly to servers, network
infrastructure and computer equipment and leasehold improvements. There were also cash outflows of $0.4 million
for the letters of credit to secure future payments under two leases and $0.4 million for the escrow payment to the
former Avivo shareholders. These cash outflows were partially offset by the net $9.5 million of purchases, sales and
maturities of investments.

Net cash provided from investing activities totaled $5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Net cash
provided from investing activities is attributable to the maturity of investments, partially offset by capital
expenditures of $1.5 million and the $2.7 million of net cash used in the acquisition of Avivo.

Cash used in investing activities totaled $26.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This included $1.4
million for capital expenditures and a net cash outflow of $25.0 million for the purchase of marketable securities.
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Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $1.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2006, The exercise of
stock options of $1.5 million and the windfall tax benefits from stock option exercises of $0.5 million, partially
offset by payments on capital leases contributed to this amount.

Cash provided by financing activities was $0.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2005. The exercise of
stock options of $1.0 million, partially offset by payments on capital leases and a note contributed to this amount.

Cash provided by financing activities was $21.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This consisted of
$38.1 million in net proceeds from our initial public offering offset by the $16.8 million redemption of our
redeemable preferred stock. The exercise of stock options and warrants also contributed cash during 2004.

Factors Thar May Affect Future Financial Condition And Liquidity

As of December 31, 2006, our principal commitments consisted of our $20 million aggregate principal amount
of senior notes due not later than August 1, 2007, and our obligations under operating leases for office space,
computer equipment and furniture and fixtures. Our capital lease obligations are for furniture and computer
equipment. As these capital lease amounts are relatively small, they do not materially affect our overall liquidity.

The following table summarizes our future minimum contractual obligations as of December 31, 2006, net of
sublease income, for the next five years and thereafter (in thousands):

Total 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 _Thereafter

Senior NOES { Do $ 209278% 209278 —% —% —8% — 8 —
Operating 1eases (2) ... 15,812 2,168 2,619 2,635 2,639 2,718 3,033
Capital 1885 ..ot 38 38 25 25 — — —
TOUAl oo sveesrrereeereeemenemene. 336,827 $ 23,133 § 2,644 § 2,660 $ 2,639 $ 2,718 § 3033

(1) Amount shown for senior notes includes principal and accrued interest. As noted elsewhere in this report, in
February 2007, we entered into a $15 million, two-year senior secured revolving credit facility. We used $5.0
million of initial borrowings under this credit facility, together with cash-on-hand, to repay all of the senior
notes we issued in connection with the Visual Sciences merger. As a result, we had $5.0 million of indebtedness
outstanding under our senior credit facility as of March 9, 2007.

(2) Net of sublease rental income of $597,000 in 2007,

We anticipate that our future capital uses and requirements will depend on a variety of factors. These factors
include but are not limited to the following:

» the costs of serving more customers;

« the costs of our network infrastructure;

« the costs of our research and development activities to improve our service offerings; and

« the extent to which we acquire or invest in other technologies and businesses.

We believe that our current cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, combined with our positive cash
flow from operating activities and available borrowings under our revolving credit facility, will be sufficient to meet
our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months. We believe that we will

have access to sufficient liquidity to fund our business, satisfy interest and principal payments under our senior
secured credit facility and meet our contractual lease obligations over a period beyond the next 12 months.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2006 and for all periods presented, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated
entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities,
which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes. Other than our operating leases for office space and computer equipment,
we do not engage in off-balance sheet financing arrangements. In addition, we do not engage in trading activities
involving non-exchange traded contracts. Therefore, we are not materially exposed to any financing, liquidity,
market or credit risk that could arise if we had engaged in these relationships.

Future Accounting Requirements

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, or FIN No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes, which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement process for recording in the financial
staternents uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Additionally, FIN No. 48 provides
guidance on the derecognition, classification, accounting in interim periods and disclosure requirements for
uncertain tax positions. The accounting provisions of FIN No. 48 will be effective for us beginning January 1, 2007.
We are in the process of determining the effect, if any, the adoption of FIN No. 48 will have on our financial
statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, or SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires additional disclosures about fair
value measurements. The accounting provisions of SFAS No. 157 will be effective for us beginning January 1,
2008. We are in the process of determining the effect, if any, the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have on our
financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC Staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, or SAB No. 108, Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements, which
addresses how the effects of prior-year uncorrected misstatements should be considered when quantifying
misstatements in current-year financial statements. SAB No. 108 requires companies to quantify misstatements
using both the balance sheet and income statement approaches to evaluate whether either approach results in
quantifying an error that is material in light of relevant quantitative and qualitative factors. When the initial adoption
is determined to be material, SAB No. 108 allows companies to record that effect as a cumulative effect adjustment
to beginning-of-year retained earnings. The accounting provisions of SAB No. 108 became effective for us as of the
end of our 2006 fiscal year. There was no impact on our financial statements as a result of the adoption of SAB No.
108.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations as we convert the financial statements of our
foreign subsidiaries in U.S. dollars in consolidation. If there is a change in foreign currency exchange rates, the
conversion of the foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements into U.S. dollars will lead to a translation gain or loss
which is recorded as a component of other comprehensive income. Our results of operations and cash flows are
subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Euro, We
analyze our exposure to currency fluctuations and may engage in financial hedging techniques in the future to
reduce the effect of these potential fluctuations. To date, we have not entered into any hedging contracts since
exchange rate fluctuations have had little impact on our operating results and cash flows. The majority of our
subscription agreements are denominated in U.S. doltars. To date, our foreign revenue has been primarily in Euros.
Revenue from our subsidiaries located outside the United States was 13%, 14% and 16% for years ended December
31, 2006, 2003 and 2004, respectively.
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Interest Rate Sensitivity

We had unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short and long-term marketable securities totaling $25.3 million
and $35.0 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-
term marketable securities are held for working capital purposes. Marketable securities were invested in certificates
of deposit and mortgage backed securities. These securities are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded on
the balance sheet at fair market value with unrealized gains or losses reported as a separate component of
stockholders’ equity. Unrealized losses are charged against income when a decline in fair market value is
determined to be other than temporary. The specific identification method is used to determine the cost of securities
sold. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Due to the short-term nature of these
investments, we believe that we do not have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of our investment
portfolio as a result of changes in interest rates. Our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to
changes in interest rates, or we may suffer losses in principal if forced to sell securities which have declined in
market value due to changes in interest rates.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Reference is made to the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements that appears on page F-1 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm from Pricewaterhouse
Coopers LLP, the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements listed in
the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, which appear beginning on page F-2 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K, are incorporated by reference into this Item 8.

The Condensed Consolidated Quarterly Financial Data have been derived from our unaudited consolidated
interim financial statements which, in our opinion, have been prepared on substantially the same basis as the audited
consolidated financial statements contained herein and include all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair
presentation of the financial information for the periods presented. These unaudited quarterly results should be read
in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this
annual report. The operating resuits in any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected
for any fisture period. Due to rounding and the use of quarterly financial data, the summation of the quarterly data
presented below may not correspond to the annual information shown elsewhere in this annual report.

Condensed Consolidated Quarterly Data (unaudited, in thousands, except share and per share data)

During the fourth quarter of 2006 we recorded an adjustment to correct for the timing of revenue recognition
which resulted in a $428,000 reduction of revenue. Of this amount, $74,000 related to 2005 and $354,000 related to
the first three quarters of 2006. We also recorded an adjustment of $182,000 related to the issuance of restricted
stock. This adjustment related to the first three quarters of 2006 and increased operating expenses. Management
concluded that no period was materially misstated; accordingly, these adjustments have been recorded in the fourth
quarter of 2006.

The following table presents our unaudited condensed consolidated quarterly statement of operations data for
2006 and 2005 (in thousands). It has been derived from our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

Three Months Ended

Dec, 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31,
2006 2006 2006 2006

REVERILIES e v veeeveereeeeeeeasesissesaseasesaseserbtraasmensssatretaenn et srs e sannanssasbaas $ 18,391 § 17,447 § 15245 § 13,443
COSE OF TEVEINLIES .1vivveveeieeeeeieseessaenseesnesstsnsernenenesstsasanarasssnessassansonnesss 5,553 5,002 4.736 3.638
GIOSS PIOfIcucuivcicveeeeeeeerc e sesssnisiss bbbttt 12,838 12,445 10,509 5.805
OPErAting EXPENSES......coovoirivisrsir e rssssenerssssmssssssitnarssssasnsanss e sasssesss 15,243 15,080 14.413 12,016
L0558 from Operations ... e {2,405) _ (2.635) __(3.904) (2,211)
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle...... (1,715 (1,827  (2,432) (1,755)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle v — — — 13
INEE HOSS cecveiniiriirierestrrrseeeseeabeesbsaseass e nesesansn s snnstsabesraesrmsasasnnesmenneassts $ (1,715) $_(1,827) § (2.432) 8§ (1,742)
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Three Months Ended
Dec. 34, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31,

2006 2006 2006 2006
Basic net loss per common share:
Before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.......... $ 0093 (0l $ (0.13) § (0.09
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ..o — — — —
Basic niet 1085 per Share. ... § OH g (010 3  (0.13) 5 (009
Diluted net loss per common share:
Before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle........ $ (009 $ (0.10y § (0.13) § (0.09)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .......ococoeeeeee. — — —
Diluted net 108S per SHAre.....c..iovrrnivereceeereerenscenesaesesesesasnenes $ (009§ (0ioys (0J3) $ (0.09)
Shares used in per share calculations:
BaSIC covuiiic et e 19,087 18,738 18,477 18,405
DHIIEEA 1o et sssss b eress b ssnas e s sanns 19,087 18,738 18,477 18,405

Three Months Ended
Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31,

2005 2005 2005 2008
RBVEITUES. ...t ieevet et ettt e ettt s s are st e et eea b e ss s s ke saessnssrnesbesare $ 11,746 § 11,337 5§ 9412 § 6,957
COSE OF FEVETILES 1eveutreceirierceeteieriesce s seestetesee e sresseses st tese sy e esasseeseseeneres 2,031 2,046 1,692 1,007
GIOSS PIOFI..rieieieccie e re e sarccess e era s s s e vasnaa s 9,715 9,291 7,720 5,950
Operating eXpenses . .....veerecreerererennare eerrreeene it e ettt e e e e 7.693 1.677 6.544 5.004
Income fTom OPErationS.......civviniirerere et e 2,022 1,614 1,176 946
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ...... 5,572 1,759 1,261 1,067
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ..........cooveereeevnnene, — — — —
INEE INCOIMIE . ..v et e ricarei e e e sa s e e e s e sr e e smeen s e e reneenenrnes § 5572 % 17593 1,261 § 1,067
Basic net income per common share:
Before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle............... $ 031% 010% 007 %8 0407
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ......ococececerveinnnn — — — —
Basic net inCome Per SHATE ...cverevvevererieerecrsrenreriecesaeresessssnreesorsansserasenes § 031% 010% 007 § 007
Diluted net income per common share:
Before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle...ooee.. $ 028 8 009 % 007 § 006
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ........covcivienenes -— o — —
Diluted net income Per Share ......cocoveeeeererseniiiersseeesseseesssesser s § 028% 009% 007§ 006
Shares used in per share calculations:
BASIC cuecececiete ettt e 18,243 18,094 17,102 15,447
DI ..ottt e s resesenenens 19,884 19,757 18,459 16,922

Itemn 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated
and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure
controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is
required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

As required by Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 13a-15(b), we carried out an evaluation, under the

supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December
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31, 2006, the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief
financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance
level as of December 31, 2006.

(b) Management’s Report on [nternal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting is
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and includes
those policies and procedures that:

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of our assets;

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary {o permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with the authorization of our management and directors; and

(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting
objectives because of inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error and circumvention by collusion
or overriding of controls. Accordingly, even an effective internal control system may not prevent or detect material
misstatements on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework in /nternal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organization of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

Management has excluded Visual Sciences, LLC from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2006 because it was acquired by the company in a purchase business combination during 2006.
Visual Sciences’ total assets and total revenues represent 37% and 15%, respectively, of the related consolidated
financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006.

\

|

. . ) |

Based on the results of this assessment and on the criteria set forth in /nternal Control-Integrated Framework

issued by the COSO, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of

December 31, 2006, ‘
Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December

31, 2006, has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as

stated in their report which appears herein.

(¢) Remediation of Previously Existing Material Weaknesses

As previously disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005
and the Company’s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the periods ended March 31, 2006, June 30, 2006 and
September 30, 2006, our management concluded that, as of each of those dates, two material weaknesses existed: (i)
insufficient staffing in our accounting and financial reporting functions; and (ii) the recognition of leasing
transactions in accordance with related generally accepted accounting principles.
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We have taken the following actions to remediate the material weakness related to insufficient staffing in our
accounting and financial reporting functions:

* In February 2006, we hired a new chief financial officer. Qur chief financial officer is a CPA with 17 years
of experience as a financial professional, including Big Four public accounting experience. Qur chief
financial officer possesses a strong background in technical accounting and the application of generally
accepted accounting principles.

+ In May 2006, we hired a director of financial reporting and compliance to support our financial accounting
and reporting functions. In addition, we have improved the documentation of our job descriptions within the
financial accounting and reporting functions.

e In July 2006, we established an Internal Audit function and hired a CPA with over 25 years experience with
public companies to assist us with the evaluation and improvement of our internal control over financial
reporting.

+ In November 2006, we hired a director of revenue recognition which further strengthens the financial
expertise in the accounting department.

+ Existing staff, together with these new hires, represent a sufficient complement of personnel with an
appropriate level of accounting knowledge, experience and training. Additional accounting and finance
personnel hired in 2006 have had sufficient time in their positions and have gained a thorough understanding
of the company as of December 31, 2006. Additionally, we have used experienced qualified consultants as
needed to assist management in the accounting and financial reporting functions. As deemed necessary, we
will continue to leverage the resources and expertise of financial consultants to help us maintain compliance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have taken the following actions to remediate the material weakness related to the recording of leasing
transactions in accordance with related generally accepted accounting principles:

»  We implemented controls surrounding the evaluation of, and accounting for, leases and sub-leases, which
consists of review and approval of the accounting for leases by appropriate personnel.

As of December 31, 2006, management has implemented these additional policies, procedures and controls.
Additionally, we have evaluated the design of these new controls, which have been placed in operation for a
sufficient period of time, and tested their operating effectiveness. The steps identified and implemented above have
improved the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, as well as our disclosure
controls and procedures, and as of December 31, 2006, the identified material weaknesses have been remediated.
(d) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

As described above under the heading “Remediation of Previously Existing Material Weaknesses,” there were
changes to our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of 2006, that materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement, or Proxy Statement, to
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with our 2007 annual stockholders meeting,
which is expected to be filed not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, and
which is incorporated in this annual report by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this annual
report by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this annual
report by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this annual
report by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this anniral
report by reference.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) Documents filed as part of this report;
1. Financial statements; Please see the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, which appears
on page F-1 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm, the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements listed in the
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, which appear beginning on page F-2 of this Annual Report en Form
10-K, are incorporated by reference into {tem 8 above.
2. List of financial statement schedules: Financial Statement Schedules have been omitted because the
information required to be set forth therein is either not applicable or is included in the Consolidated Financial
Statements or the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. List of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K: See Item 15(b) below.

¢b) Exhibits. The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index immediately following our consolidated
financial statements referred to in Item 15(a) above are filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

{c} Financial Statement Schedules. Reference is made to Item 13{a)(2) abave,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WEBSIDESTORY, INC.

Dated: March 13, 2007 By: /s/ JAMES W. MACINTYRE, IV

James W. Maclntyre, IV
Chief Executive Officer and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ JAMES W. MACINTYRE, IV Chief Executive Officer, President and Director ~ March 13, 2007
James W. Maclntyre, IV (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ CLAIRE T.ONG Chief Financial Officer March 13, 2007
Claire Long - (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Director March 13, 2007
Anil Arora
/s/ CHARLES J. FITZGERALD. JR. Director March 13, 2007
Charles J. Fitzgerald, Ir. ;
/s/ JAMES R, GLYNN Director March 13, 2007
James R. Glynn
/s WILLIAM H. HARRIS, JR. Non-Executive Chairman of the Board March 13, 2007
William H. Harris, Jr.
/s/ KURT R. JAGGERS Director March 13, 2007
Kurt R. Jaggers
/s/ DOUGLAS LINDROTH Director March 13, 2007
Douglas Lindroth
/s/ JEFFREY W. LUNSFORD Director March 13, 2007

Jeffrey W. Lunsford

/s/ JAMES S, MAHAN, 111 Director March 13, 2007
James S. Mahan, I1I
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REPORT OF
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of WebSideStory, Inc.:

We have completed integrated audits of WebSideStory, Inc.’s 2006 and 2005 consolidated financial statements
and of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 and an audit of its 2004 consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(1) present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of WebSideStory, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2006
and 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it
accounts for share-based compensation in 2006.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated F ramework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all
material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s
assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; {ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iit) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.




Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management has excluded
Visual Sciences, LLC from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006
because it was acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination during 2006. We have also excluded
Visual Sciences, LLC from our audit of internal control over financial reporting. Visual Sciences, LLC is a wholly-
owned subsidiary whose total assets and total revenues represent approximately 37% and 15%, respectively, of the
related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the vear ended December 31, 2006.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Diego, California
March 9, 2007
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WEBSIDESTORY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash eqQUIVAIEILS ..........oceeceviriiiiinnren e s
Investments.......c.coeveenien
Accounts receivable, NEL ... et
DIEFEITEA LAX BSSCLS 1uureerrereerursiarreaamesiassenanessseeaasetsseeaeset s s r e s abasa v T e n st e s b e e s ses b ne it r e s
Prepaid expenses and Other CUITENt ASSETS ...vvwrurureercmrcriisniessinsss s
"TOUAL CLITETIE ASSELS 1veeeerernreressrereraineissrnsneesassreaesssunrsssaeessssatnarsennaasensanasasansesssronss

Property and eqUIPMENE, NEL.... ..o s
DLV S ITIEIIES . .- ovtieeererssssnreeeseaassane et asssmsnssisreeeesbas EEEraass s s iR R R R e P PR b es e sabnrnn e s i bn e s s nar e s a s amnn s
GOOAWIT o oeeooeeeeaieseveestaeeeeeaseraseaaesabeessessnereaereeabes e seeabasabssm e ebanerasernba e s e en s e g sapansaaneennsbs
INLANEZIDIE ASSELS, NMEL....vrivieiriusrrmeersiesssn st s
DIEFETTEA LAX ASSELS . eereererareaeereresaseaesstsssssssarseeasetrreaaseantesnsssnssanssreaassnassysannsbnsrnsandaens
LT BSSEIS. . veveemeerseeseesesresressessss sreesessssssenersesssansonberesanerssessastsresnnasscomsstsineassmibarssanasasas

Liabilities and Stockhelders’ Equity
Current liabilities
ACCOUNES PAYADIE 1.vevnevieiiscemcrcrmcrri e s
ACCTUET LABIIITIES +veveeeoe st vttt mrrssere s estess s asa s asa e seem s sese e s e s e nsras e
DEFEITEA TEVEIIUE ...veveviiereceeviinesseessresessisbessn s s e st sr s r s s e ee s bhar a0 pe bbb n e s e e s
Capital 16a5€ SHOTT-ETIML ... ..ot et
Current maturities of notes payable ...
Total current Habiliies ... ... iseres st

Capital [ease 1ONZ-IErM ... criivueemecrersirresc s
OTHET HADIIHES c.vvveeverermeereserevsessescmnasaesemesnerermeamssbsrerarsbassasassaraeasantitssasnsssesssssnssrasnnasass
Tota] TABIIEIES «vevervisvreeiererremeeeseesrnresesrc e smsbb e ses s e s s sa bbb s

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Stockholders® equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized and no shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005................
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 75,000,000 shares authorized, 19,238,781 and
18,401,180 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2006 and December
31, 2005, reSPECLIVELY woooceiiisirccrer ettt
Additional paid-in capital.........cooovvmieiiimi
Unearned stock-based COMPENSALON ..o s
Accumulated other COMPrehensive iNCOME ....eovuiirrreeseseriseimiisis s
ACCUMUIALED AETICIL -ocvverteeiierirserereeeeeesbe et et ee e e se b s sr e s st saa e e e nms s aees
Total stocKholders’ EQUILY .....ovvermeermeirrmrn s e s

See accompanying notes.
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December 31, December 31,
2006 2005

$ 19,713 $ 19968
5,606 11,712
15,654 7,842

708 507

3.943 2,304
45,624 42,333
6,562 2,532

—_ 3,276

49,380 21,286
19,732 6,901
14,956 9,166
1,314 2.249

$ 137568 § 87,743
3 987 $ 877
9,327 3,880
20,924 12,801

38 83

16,708 —
50,984 17,641

50 90

781 196

51,815 17,927

19 18

137,862 114,934
(22) (630)

219 103
(52,325) (44.609)
85,753 69,816

§ 137,568 § 87,743




WEBSIDESTORY, INC,
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Revenues
Subscription, hosting and SUPPOT........ccccvveiereerrererinieresesesrerersennes S 53,307 $ 36,732 % 22,405
LICEIISE ...ccvveviiereevnecrtieee s e e et ece e srbesssesrr s st s sansaessrnssanesaeasbnanbnentaeas 3,524 — —
Professional SEIVICES.....iivei et e sr e s smes 5,319 996 71
AQVEITISINZ...coeviicineeneee et ee ettt ss st earaes 2377 1,724 126
TOtal FEVEMUES......vivecicrrrririe e recasrsasrsssesa e saevesarereseesnasane 64,521 39.452 22,602
Cost of revenues
COSE OF FEVEIIUE e vveeee e cveei et crr ettt eemes ettt eerentst e eennrs 16,283 6,574 3,315
Amortization of infangible assets.........cvviiirirecciiniinniie e 2,646 202 —
Total COSt Of TEVENUES ....eeeev ettt eme e en e 18,929 6.776 3315
GPOSS PIOFIL.c.cciiiicretci ettt st st te st e e s e s e e e e et 45,598 32,676 19,287
Operating expenses
Sales and MAarketing........cccoeoeervcieimnisie e 26,450 14,654 9,922
Technology development. ... ... cnerenaeeerevnsens 12,824 4,955 3,792
General and administrative . e errveeee e e 14,277 6,162 3,931
Amortization of intangible aSSEIS.........vvervevvrirre v s ecsevennns 3.202 1,147 —
Total OPerating EXPENSES.......oocceeviuisieeemrrraras e e rrase s s rrssreenes 56,753 26,918 17.645
(Loss) income from Operations........vceevvevenienennseserensieiessessssssnsenss (11,155) 5,758 1,642
INTETEST EXPEIISE -ocerriiiiiie e e rerenisserrererranssb b e e s b e sassanarr s s aassssnen (1,765) (34) (38)
INEErest iNCOME ..o e araseeaes 696 905 205
Other (eXPense) INCOME ......ecuverrreereieririeersiesesrsnieeersssmsresssrerasnas 4 (43) 5
Total other (eXPENSE) INCOME. . .ccccvrmrrrereererir e s eeeeeeres (1.065) 828 172
(Loss) income before iNCOmMEe tAXES «........vvveveeeeverrereee s cesreseesrsssenean (12,220) 6,586 1,814
(Benefit from) provision for INCOME LAXES ..vovvevvrvie vt (4.491) (3.073) 46
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle {Net 0 18X} ..ovvii i (7,72%) 9,659 1,768
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (net of tax)...... 13 — —
Net (J0SS) INCOMIE. .......covrvrecmcecresinrecreresennrereeresstenesssesnessnssrasasesesssnss (7,716) 9,659 1,768
Constructive dividend on redemption of redeemable preferred
SEOCK 1ot rensne s e s erts s b e bessae st et s as e ee st ettt enn — — (1,389)
Accretion of discount on redeemable preferred stock ...........c..ce....., ey - (1.326)
Net (loss} income artributable to common stockholders.................... $ (7.116) 9659 § (947
Basic net (loss) income per common share:
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of change change in
ACCOUNTING PHNCIPIE. ... ovirieetiiieriee et et $ (041) $ 0.56 % (0.13)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .........c........ — — —
Basic net (loss) income per common Share ..............cceeeveveeecveenennnnnn. b 0.4 $ 0.56 3 (0.13)
Diluted net {loss) income per common share:
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of change change in
accounting prinCiple.... ..o 5 04D § 0.51 % (0.13)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .................... — — —
Diluted net (loss) income per common Share ............ccceocveeeeeeevennnee. 3 041 3 0.5] % (0.13)
Shares used in per share calculations:
BASIC ..eirirei et e e e b ns 18,678,099 17,231,411
DHIULEd ..o et bbb e srssar e s ar s 18,678,099 _ 18,774,978 __ 7,300,809

See accompanying notes.
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WEBSIDESTORY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated
Additional  Unearned Other Stockholders’ Comprehensive
Common Stock Paid-in Stock-based Comprehensi Acer lated (Dreficit) / (Loss)/
Shares Amount Capital = Compensation Income Deficit Equity Income
Balance at December 31, 2003w, 4,577,437 § 5% 17,7331 % (1L157) § 276§ (56,036) § (39,179) § (1,922)
[ssuance of common stock for cash
net of $4.4 million issuance costs...  5,000,00¢ 5 38,082 — — — 38,087 —
Conversion of convertible
redeemable preferred stock .o 5,634,131 6 28,000 — — — 28,006 —
Exercise of stock options and
WAITANIS 1ocecoreenemrenemsmemems ettt ssssn i ren 413,288 — 439 — — — 439 —_
Unearned stock-based
COMPENSALON. ...eerveaectsranssssenmessssonns —_ —_ 504 (504} — — —_ —
Amortization of stock-based
COMPENSALIONL 111 ssrereme e e sememsinens — —_ —_ 882 —_ — 882 -_
Accretion of discount on
redeemable preferred stoek ...e...oe.c. a— —_ (1,305} —_ — — (1,305) —_

Amortization of premium on Series

A convertible redeemable

preferred Stock . _ — 852 — — — 852 —
Accretion of discount on Series B

and Series C convertible

redecmable preferred stock ............. — — 1) — — — @2n —
Constructive dividend on

redemption of redeemable

preferred stock — — (1,389) — —_ — (1,389) —
Foreign cumrency adjustment.. -_ — —_ —_ 5 —_ 5 5
Net income ... _— — — e — 1,768 1,768 1,768
Balance at December 31, 2004............. 15,624,856 16 82,895 (779) 281 (54,268) 28,145 1,773
Exercise of S1ock OPHONS vovvvriresceneeee 334,713 — 974 - — — 974 —_
Tax benefit from stock option
exercise — — 1,729 -— — — 1,729 —
Warrant Exercise ... 74,639 — — —_ —_ — —_ —
Stock isswance for acquisition 2,366,972 2 29,138 — — — 29.140 —
Warrant issuance — 7 — — — 77 —
Option assumption for acquisition.... — — — (651) —_ — (651) _—
Modification of option award............ - — 138 — — — 138 —
Uneamned stock-based
COMPENSALION....o.vvisrirsressrmnmsimsnssnias — — an 17 — — — —
Amortization of stock-based
compensation - — — 783 — — 783 —
Foreign currency adjustment............ — — — -— @2n — zn (21}
Unrealized loss on available-for-
sale securities ..., -_ -—_ — —_ {157} — (157) {157y
Net income — — — — — 9,659 9,639 9.659
Balance at December 31, 2005....ue 18,401,180 18 114,934 (630) 103 (44,609 69,816 9,481
Exercise of s1ock OPHONS o.vviverreriesnns 230,979 1 1,463 — — — 1,464 —
Vesting of restricted stock awards 9,166 — — — — — — —
Warrant EXCLCISE. .oemiiiremiarrssreenese 271,918 — — —_ —_ — —_ —_
Tax benefit from stock option
exercise . — —_ 857 — _ — 857 —
Stock issuance for Avivo escrow
release. 325,538 — 3417 — -— — 3,417 -
Warrant issuance for acquisition....... —_ — 6,358 —_ — — 6,358 —
Transfer of unearned stock-based
compensation upon adoption of
SFAS No. 123Rcmiies — — (534) 534 — — —_ —
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle .....oeeniiei — — 13} a— — — (13) —
Amortization of stock-based
compensation.... — — 11,380 74 — — 11.454 —
Foreign currency adj
1% OF $16. et serse e cissens — — — — 51 — 51 51
Unrealized gain on available-for-
sale securities, net of tax of $28...... —_ — — — 44 — 44 44
Reclassification adjustment for
realized Yoss on available-for-sale
securities, net of tax of $14 ... . — — — — 21 — 21 2zl
Net foss = — — — — (7.716) (7,716} {7.716)
Balance at December 31, 2006.ccin. 19238781 8 19 S 137,862 § 22) 8 219 § (52325) § .. 85753 §__ (7,600}

See accompanying notes.
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WEBSIDESTORY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
INet (1055) INCOME .....coviviiieiircrriien st rer e e s sre e vt e e s rr e sessn e sba s re e besssenmssnns
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization .......c..ceoevieeeemrursereereinneieerrsnasesrerassenn
Debt discount amortiZation ..........ueeceeervicieserninseresrnee e rreresse s essasesesnes
Bad debt proviston. .. e rsssnrm s e as
Stock-based COMPENSAION .......ccorereeerririrce et eeesesnenas
L0s5 0n 518 OF SECUTIHIES ...o..coveivrreen it cectvsia ettt sr v
Windfall tax benefits from stock options exercised.........ccovuveorrnirinenns
Deeferred INCOME tAXES .ocorrirevereeceetereesenecrerne e eseesaesenesesesnseserasseseserrs
Cumnulative effect of change in accounting principle ... -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquxsnmn
Accounts receivable ..o aerens
Prepaid expenses and Other aSSets........coviaerinvrcasisssrnarnsssesssrasnsans
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ..........ccoocovmrrerccirerernennnns
Deferred revenue. .. .....c.cocovrerevernnr ettt ania s
Other Habilities oo e

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of iNVESHMENES .......cocoeevriinrrmriiiis e sssee et nraens
Sales of INVESIIIENES ...coccoeivrr it sttt st e st st eeenenns

Purchase of property and equipment.............cocoevecvrrienecnieeseer s emenenas
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment...........ocoveveevrenveeeeisereeneninns
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and Investments .......c.ocevnnnrciiinnennne
Acquisition, net of cash acquired ........covevveirvrccccre s

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities........c.eenu...

Cash flows from financing activities
Exercise of stock options and Warrants.........eove s eciinieee e
Windfall tax benefits from stock option eXercises .......cuvvieveriniineecsvarirnnns
Payments on capital 16a5€ ......ccovvrriirenuisueicreserestem et eteee s st er e sse e
Payments on note payable.......ccococviieciiinecccn s
Redemption of redeemable preferred stock ......cccovvviveeceniincncrieriiesnnnonns
Proceeds from sale of common stock ..
Net cash provided by financmg actlvmes ....................................
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ash ...........ccoceevecieceinicece e
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents..........c.ccocecverneecrveeeennen.
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of Year .......cuevevininrsieinnnrerenes
Cash and cash equivalents at end of Year ... cervveercrnisie e
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid fOr MTEEST ... ottt et senes e esenannas
Cash paid for INCOME tAXES ..ottt
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Business combination with Visual Sciences
Cash paid for business combination, net of cash acquired...........ccooervrnnnnns
Fair value of debt issued in business combination.........c..o.cocecevvnrreeiervernnn.
Fair value of warrants issued in business combination .........ccoeveeceiscnininrn,
Liabilities assumed in business combination..............cccovveveeernveereeereeennn,

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
$ (7,716) $ 9,659 § 1,768
8,956 2,660 1,009
968 — —
343 112 28
11,424 998 882
35 — —
(519) — —
(4,756)  (3,318) 64
(13) — —
(5572)  (3,633)  (1,475)
675 (3,019) (717)
2,685 1,323 829
6,504 3,238 2,430
587 (133) (115)
13,601 7,887 4,703
(10,786)  (15,276)  (34,156)
11,677 — —
8,561 25,131 9,157
(4,336)  (1,526)  (1,438)
35 — —
(442) —

(20.630) __ (2.684)

(15.921) 5645 (26437)
1,463 974 439
519 — —
(84) (62) (27)
— (85) .
— — (16,750)
— — 38,087
1,898 827 _ 21749
167 (101) 5
(255) 14,258 20
19.968 5.710 5690
$ 19713 § 19968 § 5710
$ — 8 — % 4
2 77 7
$ 20,18 $ — % —
18,740 — —
6,358 — —
3,521 — —
$ 48805 § — 3 —




]

WEBSIDESTORY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS-Continued
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Business combination with Atomz
Cash paid for business combination, net of cash acquired .......ccocoverccresirerisenn. 5 444 $ 2684 § —
Fair value of common stock issued in business combmatton voe reverrraaans 3,418 27,731 —
Fair value of common stock options granted as part of busmess combmatlon - — 1,409 —
Liabilities assumed in business combINAtION ..o csaaens — 4,451 —

Total fair value of assets acquired in business combination ... § 3862 $ 36275 § —
Non-cash purchases of property and eqUIPIMENT .....ccocovoereerirmieuninnmiirnnntss i $ 573 % -— § =
Equipment acquired under capital lease and note payable ... § —3 — $ 153

See accompanying notes.
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WEBSIDESTORY, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. The Company and Nature of Business

WebSideStory, lnc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company™) was founded and commenced operations in
September 1996 and is a provider of real-time customer intelligence solutions. The Company currently operates
through two divisions - the WebSideStory division and the Visual Sciences division. The WebSideStory division
sells products to build and optimize a company’s online presence such as web analytics, website search, web content
management and keyword bid management. The Visual Sciences division, which was acquired through the merger
of a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company with Visual Sciences, LLC (*Visual Sciences™) on February 1, 2006,
sells products that analyze customer interactions and data across a company’s business, such as web, call center and
messaging analytics. Customers use the services offered by the WebSideStory division to better understand how
Internet users respond to website design and content, online marketing and e-commerce offerings and to manage the
content of their web pages and make them searchable. Customers use the services offered by the Visual Sciences
division to analyze and understand customer interaction across multiple delivery channels. Delivery of the services
offered by the WebSideStory division occurs on-demand over the Internet using secure, proprietary and scalable
applications and system architectures. Delivery of the services offered by the Visual Sciences division occurs either
in-house by instatlation of licensed software on a customer’s hardware or on-demand over the Internet using secure,
proprietary and scalable applications and system architectures.

The majority of the Company’s operations are conducted in the United States. In order to pursue the sale of its
products and services in international markets, the Company established wholly owned subsidiaries in France
(February 2000}, the Netherlands (August 2000) and the United Kingdom (April 2003).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared using accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These principles require management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and
reported amounts of revenue and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of WebSideStory, Inc. and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. The results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 include the results of
operations of Visual Sciences commencing on February 1, 2006 and the results of operations of Avivo Corporation,
commencing on May 4, 2005. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated
financial statements.

Foreign Currency

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries utilize their local currency as their functional currency. The accounts of
these foreign subsidiaries have been translated into U.S. dollars using the current exchange rate as of the balance
sheet date for assets and liabilities and the average exchange rate for the period for revenues and expenses.
Cumulative transiation gains or losses are recorded as accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’

equity.
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Concentration of Risk

The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash
and cash equivalents, short-term marketable securities, long-term investments and trade accounts receivable.

Although the Company deposits its cash with multiple financial institutions, its deposits, at times, may exceed
federally insured limits.

The Company’s accounts receivable and revenue ar¢ derived from a large number of customers. Collateral is not
required for accounts receivable. The Company maintains an allowance for potential credit losses as considered
necessary.

Substantially all of the advertising revenue for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was derived
from one customer. Advertising revenue from that one customer accounted for approximately 4% of consolidated
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and approximately 1% for the year ended December 31,
2004. The Company had no revenue generated from a single customer that accounted for more than 10% of revenue
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 or 2004. There were no customers that individually accounted for
more than 10% of total accounts receivable as of December 31, 2006 or 2005.

The Company’s servers related to its services and its customer data are located at three, third-party co-location
facilities: one in San Diego, California, operated by Level 3 Communications, LLC; one in San Jose, California
operated by Equinix Operating Co., Inc.; and one in Ashburn, Virginia also operated by Equinix Operating Co., Inc.

The Company does not control the operation of these facilities, and such facilities are vulnerable to damage or
interruption in the event that one or more of such third-party co-location facilities fail.

Geographical Information

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, assets located outside the United States were 4% of total assets. Revenues
generated by subsidiaries outside the United States for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were
13%, 14% and 16%, respectively, of total revenues.

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenue from the sale of products and services that it classifies into the following four
categories: (1) subscription, hosting and support; (2) license; (3) professional services; and (4) advertising. The
Company sells its services and licenses its products primarily through its direct sales force. The Company utilizes
wrilten contracts as the means to establish the terms and conditions upon which its products and services are sold to
customers.

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“AICPA”™) Statement of Position (“SOP”)} 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, and related interpretations, SOP 98-
9, Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions, and Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC™) Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB™} No. 104 - Revenue Recognition. For
arrangements outside the scope of SOP 97-2, the Company evaluates if multiple elements can be accounted for
separately in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.

Subscription, Hosting and Support Revenue
Subscription, hosting and support revenue is recognized when all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1)
there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement; (2) the service has been provided to the customer as described

below; (3) the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable; and (4) the collection of the fees is
probable.
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The Company begins revenue recognition for services based on the following:

* Revenue recognition for subscription services begins when the customer has been given access 1o the service
or after acceptance.

* Revenue recognition for post-contract support begins upon execution of the software license agreement or
after acceptance of the related software license, and hosting support services begins upon acceptance of the
software. For contracts without acceptance provisions, revenue recognition for post-contract support begins
upon completion of installation and for hosting, upon delivery of the service.

Subscription and hosting revenues are recognized over the term of the related contract periods, which generally
range from six months to two years. The Company warrants certain levels of uptime reliability under subscription
arrangements and permits its customers to receive credits or terminate their agreements in the event that the
Company fails to meet those levels. The Company has rarely provided any such credits or termination rights.
Subscription and hosting revenues that are invoiced and paid in advance of delivery of the service are recorded as
deferred revenue.

All software license arrangements include initial term post-contract support services, which are recognized
ratably over the term of the post-contract service period, typically one year. Post-contract support services provide
customers with rights to when and if available updates, maintenance releases and patches released during the term of
the support period.

License Revenue

The Company derives its license revenue from selling perpetual software licenses to its customers. The
Company does not provide custom software development services or create tailored products to sell to specific
customers. Pricing is based on a standard price list with volume and marketing related discounts. The perpetual
software licenses are sold with the first year of post-contract services, installation and training. As such, the
combination of these products and services represent a “multiple-element” arrangement for revenue recognition
purposes.

For contracts with multiple elements, the Company recognizes revenue using the residual method in accordance
with SOP 98-9. Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining
portion of the arrangement fee is allocated to the delivered elements and recognized as revenue, assuming all other
revenue recognition criteria have been met. If evidence of fair value for each undelivered element of the
arrangement does not exist, all revenue from the arrangement is recognized when evidence of fair value is
determined or when all elements of the arrangement are delivered. Vendor specific objective evidence (*“VSOE”) for
post-contract services is based on the stated renewal rate in the contract if that rate is substantive.

Revenue for perpetual software licenses is recognized when all of the following occur:

1. Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, which consists of a written contract signed by both the
customer and the Company.

2. Delivery has occurred, which is after acceptance of the software, or for contracts without acceptance
provisions, delivery occurs after completion of installation.

3. The fee is fixed or determinable, which occurs when the Company has a signed contract that states the agreed
upon fee for its products and/or services and specifies the related terms and conditions that govern that
arrangement,

4. Collection is probable as determined by the payment history of the customer and the customer’s financial
position.
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Professional Services Revenue

VSOE of fair value for professional consulting and training services is determined by reference to the
Company’s established pricing and discounting practices for these services when sold separately. Revenue is derived
primarily from time and material based contracts and is recognized as time is incurred.

Advertising Revenue
Advertising revenue is recognized based on actual delivery of advertisements.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash
and cash equivalents, Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of money market funds. The carrying amounts
approximate fair value due to the short maturities of these instruments.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of the remaining $202,000 of the original Escrow Amount that was held back to secure
certain ongoing indemnification obligations of Avivo and, non-cancelable letters of credit in the aggregate amount
of $442,000 to secure future payments under leases for two facilities. The hold back for the indemnification
obligations and the funds that secure the letters of credit for the bank have been classified as restricted cash and
included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2006.

Investments

Management determines the appropriate classification of marketable securities at the time of purchase and re-
evaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 all marketable
securities have been classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value as
determined by the most recently traded price of each security at the balance sheet date. The net unrealized gains or
losses on available-for-sale securities are reported as a component of comprehensive income (loss), net of tax.
Declines in the fair value of these securities judged to be other than temporary, if any, are included in interest
expense. Interest and dividends on available-for-sale securities are included in interest income, Realized gains and
losses are recognized based on the specific identification method. The Company defines short term investments as
income yielding securities that can readily be converted to cash.

The Company regularly monitors and evaluates the realizable value of its investments to assess for other than
temporary declines in value. In the event that the carrying value of an investment exceeds its fair value and the
decline in value is determined to be other-than-temporary, an impairment charge is recorded and a new cost basis for
the investment is established. In order to determine whether a decline in value is other-than-temporary, the Company
evaluates, among other factors: the duration and extent to which the fair value has been less than the carrying value;
the Company’s financial condition and business outlook, including key operational and cash flow metrics, current
market conditions and future trends in the industry; and the Company’s intent and ability to retain the investment for
a period of time sufficient o allow for any anticipated recovery in fair market value.

Accounts Receivable

The Company’s accounts receivable are derived from a large number of direct customers. Collateral is not
required for accounts receivable. The Company maintains an allowance for potential credit losses as considered
necessary. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the allowance for potential credit losses was $566,000 and $365,000,
respectively. The Company performs ongoing reviews of all customers that have breached their payment terms or
for whom information has become available indicating a risk of non-recoverability. The Company records an
allowance for bad debts for specific customers identified as well as an allowance based on its historical collection
experience. The Company’s evaluation of the allowance for potential credit losses requires the use of estimates and
the actual results may differ from these estimates.




Deferred Commissions

Deferred commissions are the incremental direct cost of sales commissions paid to the Company’s direct sales
force. The timing of commission payments varies but typically 50% of the commissions are paid 30 days after
access to the hosted services is provided. The balance of the commissions is generally paid in 12 monthly
installments. The deferred commission amounts are recoverable through the future revenue streams under non-
cancelable customer contracts; therefore, the commissions are deferred and amortized over the non-cancelable terms
of the related customer contracts. Deferred commissions are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization of deferred commissions is included in sales and
marketing expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Deferred commissions as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $1.7 million and $1.3 million, respectively.
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of those assets as follows:

Computers, equipment and software 3 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the estimated useful life of 7 years or the remaining
lease term

Upon the retirement or disposition of property and equipment, the related cost and accumulated depreciation or
amortization is removed and the gain or loss is recorded. Repair and maintenance costs are expensed in the period
incurred.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 142 requires that
goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets with indefinite useful lives be tested for impairment at least
annually. SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible assets with estimabie useful lives be amortized over their
respective estimated useful lives and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually, in the second
quarter of each fiscal year, or more frequently if events and circumstances warrant.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company accounts for long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144. The Company assesses potential
impairment to its long-lived assets when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of
the long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not
recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset. Any required impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of a
long-lived asset exceeds its fair value and is recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the related asset and a
charge to operating results. There has been no impairment loss recognized through December 31, 2006.

Internal-use Software and Website Development Costs

The Company capitalizes qualifying software and website development costs in accordance with SOP 98-1,
Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, and EITF 00-02,
Accounting for Website Development Costs. These costs are incurred during the application development stage, and
amortized over their estimated useful lives ranging from two to three years. The Company capitalized $0.4 million
and $1.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively. The amounts capitalized in
2006 primarily relate to software that is used to support the Company’s keyword bid management application which
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was released in May 2006. Net capitalized software and website development costs of $1.2 million and $1.3 million
as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, are included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. Amortization expense totaled $491,000, $154,000 and $58,000 during the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Software Development Costs

Costs incurred in the research and development of new software products and enhancements to existing software
products are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility has been established. The Company determines
technological feasibility when a working model has been completed. After technological feasibility is established,
any additional costs are capitalized in accordance with SFAS No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software to Be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed, until the product is available for general release. The Company
has not capitalized any software development costs because technological feasibility has not been established for
software being developed during the year ended December 31, 2006.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from
transactions and other events, including foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized gains and losses on
available-for-sale investments. The reclassification adjustment for net realized gains (losses) results from the
recognition of the net realized gains (losses) in the statement of operations when marketable securities are sold. The
Company presents comprehensive income (loss) in its consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity.

Cost of Revenues

The Company’s cost of revenues primarily consists of internet connectivity costs, collocation facility charges,
depreciation on network infrastructure and personnel associated with the Company’s professional services as well as
network operations. A substantial portion of these costs are related to the subscription, hosting and support revenue
line item in the consolidated statements of operations.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), Share-Based
Payment (*SFAS No. 123R”), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, Adccounting for Stock-Based Compensation
(“SFAS No. 123”). SFAS No. 123R supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting Jfor Stock
Issued to Employees (“APB Opinion No. 25™), and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows (“SFAS No.
95™). SFAS No. 123R requires companies to recognize in the income statement the estimated fair value of stock-
based compensation.

The Company previously accounted for its stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method as defined
in APB Opinion No. 25 and accordingly, prior to January 1, 2006, compensation expense for stock options was
measured as the excess, if any, of the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant over the
amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. The Company used the modified prospective transition method
to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 123R. Under this method, unvested awards at the date of adoption are
amortized based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123,
with the exception of options granted prior to the Company’s initial public offering (“pre-[PO awards”). The pre-
IPO awards will continue to be amortized based on the grant date intrinsic value in accordance with APB Opinion
No. 25. Awards that are granted or modified after the date of adoption will be measured and accounted for in
accordance with SFAS No. 123R. Based upon the Company’s analysis of the requirements of SFAS No. 123R, the
Company reclassified its unamortized deferred compensation related to the issuance of unvested common stock
awards (excluding pre-IPO awards) that was reported in the equity section of the balance sheet to additional paid-in
capital.




As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company’s loss from continuing operations and loss before
income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2006 were each approximately $7.3 million higher, net loss was
approximately $4.4 million higher, net cash provided by operating activities was approximately $519,000 lower and
net cash provided by financing activities was approximately $519,000 higher than under the Company’s previous
accounting method for stock-based compensation. Basic and diluted net loss per common share for the year ended
December 31, 2006 both increased by $0.24.

In periods prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, the Company did not present the pro forma effects of
capitalizing certain stock-based compensation costs on the balance sheet. However, in accordance with SFAS No.
123R, the Company has capitalized $45,000 of stock-based compensation costs related to internal-use software
development costs during the year ended December 31, 2006.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R benefits of expected tax deductions in excess of recognized 7
compensation costs (“windfall benefits”) were reported as operating activity cash flows, SFAS No. 123R amended
SFAS No. 95 and requires that such windfall benefits be recorded as a financing activity cash inflow. As a result, the
Company has shown the windfall tax benetit amount of $519,000 in the cash flows from financing activities section
of the consolidated statement of cash flows with a corresponding reduction in the cash flows from operating
activities for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Under SFAS No. 123, the Company previously followed an accounting policy of recognizing forfeitures as they
occuired. SFAS No. 123R requires that compensation cost be recorded only for the awards that are expected to be
carned and therefore an estimate of expected forfeitures must be used. As part of the implementation of SFAS No.
123R, the Company estimated expected forfeitures based upon its history and experience and expectations for the
future. Totai stock-based compensation expense has been recorded net of expected forfeitures. The Company has
also applied the estimated forfeiture rate to adjust stock-based compensation expense recognized in prior periods for
awards not expected to vest. This adjustment, totaling approximately $13,000 net of taxes, has been presented as a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.

The Company adopted the alternative transition method provided in FASB Staff Position No, FAS 123(R)-3,
Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards. The alternative
transition method includes a simplified method to establish the beginning balance of the additional paid-in capital
poal (APIC pool) related to the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation which is available to absorb tax
deficiencies recognized subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R. The Company has adopted the tax law
ordering approach for the utilization of tax attributes.

The following table presents the stock-based compensation expense included in the Company’s cost of revenues,
sales and marketing, technology development, and general and administrative expenses for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
COSE OF TEVEIIUES ..ovuiiviiiei ettt et s b e eee s e et b e b e e e e sabs e s bt esm et sabsasbeneeenseabean $ 2359% 58 § 15
Sales and MArkEEINE . .....ccocevviiicie it et s et e e et b s seeaa et bt ee e e emr e reseen 3,791 183 209
Technology AevVelOPIMENT ... ... ete e ereeae e eacs et gt e se e sa s oo 2,555 334 37
General and admMiniStratiVe ...o.ce.eoeeerereeiene e rsb e b e eneen 2,719 423 621
Stock-based COMPENSAtION EXPETNISE ......ocvereereeiceretrrrseetrereeseeseemesasseseenese e e esens § 11424 % 998 §_ 882

The fair value of each stock-based compensation award granted during the year ended December 31, 2006 was
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing mode! (“Black-Scholes™) with the following
weighted average assumptions:

Year Ended
December 31, 2006
RiSk fTEE IMEETESE FALE oo ittt erereseseae e s na e as e e rarar s ntae et b ne 4.52%
Expected dividend yield ............oc oo s e re e en e ere e r s nanan —
Expected vOlatility ... nneneecvsnerare s rrsse s sn e s et s nr e st e r e e 46.5%
Expected Life (I FEAIS} ..o creit st rererat s ecsasnenree e nsssns st ettt tn s sa s s nenpesesenes 39
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The risk-free interest rate is based on the currently available rate on a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issue with a
remaining term equal to the expected term of the option converted into a continuously compounded rate. The
expected volatility of stock options is based on an average of historical volatility of a peer group of companies
comparable to the Company. The expected life of the Company’s options is based on an average of expected option
terms disclosed by a peer group of companies comparable to the Company. The dividend yield reflects the fact that
the Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends and does not currently anticipate paying cash dividends
in the future,

Prior to adopting the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, the Company recorded compensation expense for employee
stock options based upon their intrinsic value on the date of grant pursuant to APB Opinion No. 25. Had
compensation expense for employee stock options been determined based on the fair value of the options on the date
of grant, using the assumptions discussed below for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company’s
net income would have been as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders - as reported........cocooieieecenens $ 9,659 $ (947
Add: Stock-based compensation as reported in the statements of operations
determined under the intrinsic value based method .........cvoeeennvenniii 998 882
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the
fair value based MEthOG ....oociiuieiiee et et sanar (3.440) (1.127)
Pro forma net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders.......oovuveinniniies § 7217 $ (1,192)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders
BASIC — 85 TEPOTLED ...vvucereemecmrtibiainsee s s s e bbb bbb bt $ 056 $ (013
Diluted — 88 TEPOIIEU . o.everevciereiiiseiisre st s emebstse s a st s b et e s § 051 (0,13

5042 3 _(0.19)
b 038 5§ _(0.10)

Basic — Pro FOTNA..c..covomirirceree bt s s s
Diluted — Pro FOTMA ..ecucriuirnrmerssiesis st erses e ecrs bttt

st [y

The pro forma effects of estimated stock-based compensation expense on net income and earnings per share for
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004
RUSK fTEE IMIETEEE TALE ..oveeeeeeeieserereesessereesaesesessesiesmsnetesmsan st e sbsane e se s r s s s sasasnstatsasasn arcanane 3.70% 2.95%
Expected dividend yIeld ... — —
EXDECted VOLAGIILY ..onvreveeeeeeeiiessses et st 52.4% 31.9%
Expected life (I YEAIS).....orcueiinrimrernneiereiesisiisissssns s i3 39

The risk-free interest rate is based on the currently available rate on a U.S Treasury zero-coupon issue with a
remaining term equal to the expected term of the option. The expected volatility of stock options is based on the
historical volatility of the Company. The expected life of the Company’s options is estimated based on historical
exercise patterns of the Company. The dividend yield reflects the fact that the Company has never declared or paid
any cash dividends and does not currently anticipate paying cash dividends in the future.

Net (Loss) Income per Share

Basic net (loss) income per share is determined by dividing net (loss) income available to common stockholders
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect
the potential dilution that could occur if options and warrants 1o purchase common stock were exercised. In periods
in which the inclusion of such instruments was anti-dilutive, the effect of such securities was not given
consideration.
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The Company has excluded outstanding stock options and unvested common stock subject to repurchase from
the calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2006 because such securities are anti-
dilutive for that period as the Company was in a net loss position. The Company has excluded all convertible
redeemable preferred stock, outstanding stock options and unvested common stock subject to repurchase from the
calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2004 because such securities were anti-dihntive
for these periods. The total number of potential common shares excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per
share is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Potential shares excluded from diluted loss per share
Unvested COMMON STOCK ....viivviitei i icieer et ernree s st e esste e ssssbessstsesssanssssnnes 70,619 — 285,200
OPHions and WAITAILS ....ocvvvuiereierereese s e ersre e e seesessss st en s st esse et ensnsasssnes 1,230,863 — 1,084,220
Convertible redeemable preferred StOCK ....covvveeiriiiiicicceneeee vt — — 4,225,598
1,301,482 — 5 13

In addition, employee stock options and restricted common stock to purchase 1,497,960, 108,552 and 203,567
shares of common stock during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, were outstanding
but not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share, because the option price was greater than the
average market price of the common stock, and therefore, the effect on diluted earnings per share would be anti-
dilutive.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Numerator:
Net (loss) income aitributable to common stockholders.......ooveennn by (7.716) 3% 9659 % {947)
Denominator;
Weighted average common shares outstanding ..........cccoocvvvevvennnns 18.678.099 17,231 411 7,300,809
Denominator of basic calcUlation ......v...eervovveierereevesseieesesernens 18,678,099 17,231,411 7,300,809
Effect of dilutive securities:
Weighted average stock options, warrants and restricted common
SEOCK -t errerr e eeeerreestase e e rrrresrsbe e e e e besaabe T e b e see b e e pr et e e e neesne e e — 1,543,567 —
Denominator of diluted calculation..........cccceeeevrviviveceeeevere s 18.678.099 18,774.978 _ 7.300,809
Net (loss) income per common share;
BAaSIC vueeerrii e s sb b rsntanseaerbennente | D 041) § 0.56 § (0.13)
DIIUEEA oottt st eanaas e s eve s s sanansse s st anane s $ 041) $ 0.51 % (0.13)

The amount of accretion related to the amortization of the discount on the redeemable preferred stock was $0 for
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The amount
of the unamortized discount on the redeemable preferred stock on October 1, 2004 (the redemption date) was
recorded as a dividend in arriving at net loss attributable to common stockholders in the amount of $1.4 million.

fncome Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes using the liability method. Under the liability method, current income
tax expense or benefit is the amount of income taxes expected to be payable or refundable for the current year. A
deferred income tax asset or liability is computed for the expected future impact of differences between the financial
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and for the expected future tax benefit to be derived from tax credit
and loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of
management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The
ultimate realization of future income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of sufficient future taxable income
during the period in which the deferred tax assets are recoverable. Management assesses the likelihood that the
deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and whether a valuation allowance is required to
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reflect any uncertainty. Management has determined that no such valuation allowance was necessary as of
December 31, 2006. Realization is dependent on generating sufficient taxable income prior to expiration of the loss
carryforwards and the Company’s stock price exceeding the exercise price of the related stock options at the time of
exercise. Although realization is not assured, management believes it is more likely than not that all of the deferred
tax asset will be realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be reduced in
the near term if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced. Tax rate changes are
reflected in the computation of the income tax provision during the period such changes are enacted. In connection
with the Company’s initial public offering, the Company triggered a change in control resulting in annual limitations
on the amount of the historical net operating losses that can be utilized to offset future taxable income.

The Company has not provided applicable U.S. income and foreign withholding taxes on undistributed earnings
from foreign subsidiaries at December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, since they are expected to be reinvested
indefinitely outside the U.S. Upon distribution of those earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company
would be subject to both U.S. income taxes and withholding taxes payable to various foreign countries. It is not
practicable to determine the amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability that might be payable if
those earnings were eventually repatriated. The Company’s cumulative undistributed earnings were approximately
$498.000 as of December 31, 2006,

Warranties and Indemnification

The Company warrants certain levels of uptime reliability and permits its customers to receive credits or
terminate their agreements in the event that the Company fails to meet those levels. The Company has rarely
provided any such credits or termination rights.

The Company’s agreements generally require the Company to indemnify its customers for third party intellectual
property infringement claims.

The Company has also agreed to indemnify its directors and executive officers for costs associated with any fees,
expenses, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by any of those persons in any action or proceeding to
which any of those persons is, or is threatened to be, made a party by reason of the person’s service as a director or
officer, including any action by the Company, arising out of that person’s services as a director or officer or that
person’s services provided to any other company or enterprise at the Company’s request.

Advertising Expenses

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004 totaled $627,000, $280,000 and $268,000, respectively, and are included in sales and marketing expense.

Leases

The Company accounts for its leases and subsequent amendments under the provisions of SFAS No. 13,
Accounting for Leases, which requires that leases be evaluated and classified as operating or capital leases for
financial reporting purposes. All of the Company’s leases for office facilities are classified as operating leases.
Minimum base rent for the Company’s operating leases, which generally have escalating rentals over the term of the
lease, are recorded on a straight-line basis over the initial lease term.

Future Accounting Requirements

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN No. 487), Accounting Jor Uncertainty in
Income Taxes, which prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement process for recording in the financial
statements uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Additionally, FIN No. 48 provides
guidance on the derecognition, classification, accounting in interim periods and disclosure requirements for
uncertain tax positions. The accounting provisions of FIN No. 48 will be effective for the Company beginning
January 1, 2007. The Company is in the process of determining the effect, if any, the adoption of FIN No. 48 wili
have on its financial statements.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 (“SFAS No. 157), Fair Value Measurements, which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires additicnal disclosures about fair
value measurements. The accounting provisions of SFAS No. 157 will be effective for the Company beginning
January 1, 2008. The Company is in the process of determining the effect, if any, the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will
have on its financial statements.

In September 2006, the SEC Staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (“SAB No. 108"), Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements, which
addresses how the effects of prior-year uncorrected misstatements should be considered when quantifying
misstatements in current-year financial statements. SAB No. 108 requires companies to quantify misstatements
using both the balance sheet and income statement approaches to evaluate whether either approach results in
quantifying an error that is material in light of relevant quantitative and qualitative factors. When the initial adoption
is determined to be material, SAB No. 108 allows companies to record that effect as a cumulative effect adjustment
to beginning-of-year retained earnings. The accounting provisions of SAB No. 108 became effective for the
Company as of the end of its 2006 fiscal year. There was no impact to the Company’s financial staternents as a
result of the adoption of SAB No. 108,

3. Compoeosition of Certain Balance Sheet Captions
Investments

Short-term and long term investments, which are classified as available-for-sale, consist of the following (in

thousands):
Short-term Long-term
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 2006 2005

Certificates of deposit........cocveeceeririeniiricsne e $ 767 § 3418 3 — % 755
AUCtion rate SECULITIES .oovvvivvvevvieeeercrerere e e ‘ 1,000 — — —
Mortgage backed securities .........cccveeeericrninniricnnns 3,839 3,983 — 2,521
Federal agencies .........cocovveeveeceniennnnnnes e 4,311 — —

$5606 s §___— 3276

Available-for-sale securities were comprised as foilows (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Unrealized  Unrealized

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

As of December 31, 2006
Certificates 0F deposit....c.ccvvvcviriiererereiirerreererserersresrsnns § 768 § — §F (0 3 767
AUCLION TALE SECUITTIES . uuvuverarmrmrnrnrnrnrnrnrnrnrnrnrnrseresessssresssnsnsssssnsnsns 1,000 — — 1,000
Mortgage backed securities.........cccevimvninen e 3,889 — (50} 3,839
Federal agencies.......ccooevviccniennennieesinste e s — - — —
§_5651 3§ — 5 _(51y 3 5606

As of December 31, 2005
Certificates 0f deposil..... ..o vrireeenesesreesmmen e e eee e crers $ 4203 $ — $ (G0 4,173
AUCHION TALE SECUTITIIES. ...viivverieeeerreesrereeseeeseeeeseeeesrererrrrenserarssessses — — — —
Mortgage backed SECUTBEEs . .....ocoveviecieieenniinieeeee e 6,588 — (84) 6,504
Federal agencies. ..o eceveeene i ececvratn et 4,354 — (43) 4311
$ 15145 § _ — $ (157 §$ 14,988

In accordance with EITF No. (3-01, The Meaning of Other Than Temporary Impairment and Its Application to
Certain Investments, the table above summarizes the fair value and gross unrealized losses related to available-for-
sale securities, aggregated by individual investment category. The individual mortgage backed securities have been
in a loss position the entire year and are the result of having a fixed interest rate yield while market interest rates
have been rising from the time they were purchased in 2004. In February 2006, all marketable securities were sold to
fund the acquisition of Visual Sciences. As a result of selling the marketable securities before maturity, the
Company realized a loss of $35,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006. There were no realized gains or losses in
2005.
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Fixed-income securities included in short-term investments above, are summarized by their contractual
maturities as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2006
1255 thilll ONIE YEAT ....c.cveeereirerreresrereraresaesesssreraresasnssrans rereresnsspss et sests bbb bbb e R AR b e b s e b b s s bas b s sentamaasnbns 5 —
ON1E 10 fIVE YBAIS .o e e LS bbb sa R 619
FAVE L0 €11 YEAIS...cecuiriieririieririiias it s s sa b bt saba e s b asas s b e sa e e ea s r e oo r e e E R TR TS e oRress e e e s seemembesasbbe s b ebeabbe bbb aasans 703
L L (TR - O OO O OO UVOIOUTOVC TP 2,517
3 3839

Accounts Receivable

The following table sets forth the components of accounts receivable (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
Accounts receivable
Trade acCOUNTS TECEIVADIE ....ovcie e ceirrie it esin s e e e saaaessaasasasessans $ 16,220 $ 8207
Allowance for doubtful ACCOUNES .....uvvvvvrcii e cricecreerccrereressinneeseernns s s mre e s e s (566) (365)

$_15,634 $ 7842
The following table sets forth the activity within the allowance for doubtful accounts (in thousands):

December 31, December 31, December 31,

2006 2008 2004
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Beginning balance ... e $ 365 $ 407 $ 553
Bad debt provision.........inee s 343 112 28
WTILE Off5 .o (196) (207) (192)
WIHLE O TECOVETIES ..vevvrerrrereceecsessvesssssssessserssessnessasssssseessersnssar 54 53 18
Ending Balance .........coceveeveeervesnsrereremmiensississesssiimnss s £ 566 3 365 3407

Frepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

The foliowing table sets forth the components of prepaid expenses and other current assets (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
DeferTed COMIMISSIONS cuviiiiiiriiirisiissreesesssersarsesssssssessnsssesrsesssssserssrsestreasbmsmssstssssssessses $ 1,672 $ 1,314
Restricted cash held in escrow and restricted for letters of credit.........cccoevnrvirirresseeea 644 —
Other Prepaitd EXPENSES.......cooirii et e e s 1,627 990

$ 3,943 $ 2,304
Property and Equipment

The following table sets forth the components of property and equipment (in thousands}):

December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
Computers and office eqUIPIMENt ...t essss s $ 11,603 $ 5252
Furniture and fIXIULES ...vvvveieeicerreniecsssisserecsressrecssecssmessnrsneranssmmermnsssbiss s sbs ks sabssanssans 1,288 1,025
Leasehold improVemenIS .. ...coiiiiirrnriresinirmsrrersrrereracs et bttt is st 870 369

13,761 6,646
Accumulated depreciation and amortization ... (7.199) (4.114)

3 6562 2§ 2532

Total depreciation expense was $2.6 million, $1.2 million and $0.9 million for the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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The Company leases certain computer and office equipment under capital leases. As of December 31, 2006 and
2005, $121,000 of such equipment is included in property and equipment. Accumulated amortization relating to this
equipment totaled $50,000 and $26,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows
(in thousands):

Goodwill
Balance as of December 31, 2004 .......ooveiiiiiiiiriiiiieiseiesesesasesssasasesessssssistetsssassesssssssssnsssssssessenentesssnsasons $ —
ACGUISTHOM OF AVIVO..c.i ettt eta st seea b et e st e b ebesrassebssr s be st astaba st s sbebssaenentons 21,286
Balance as 0f December 31, 2005 ..ot siees sttt s antessaesesesoassetatas s satas s s sstsssessntsssasasssserabessassaeens 21,286
Acquisition Of VISUAL SCIEMCES ....c.viiiiiiiiiicieintniietrtes ettt sesse e eemese bbb et en et emenss 24,145
Avivo net purchase price AdJUSIIMENES. .. ..cvveerieieriviirieiessrereensracrrsssseraserssseesssiese s asssssrissessasasessriasereeneaes 87
AVIVO BSCIOW TELEASE 1.vevivieciiesieisisietisierieetissesbeieasessesassss s ssbassesbessnsbesssntsshssssasetssabebesabethsatssasetsessetnsabass 3.862
Balance as of December 31, 2006 ........c.oieoreeeiereeree e eee e e see s sns e snnnnennssenneeenenees 43,380
The following table sets forth the components of intangible assets, net {(in thousands):
December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Net _Amount Amortization Net
Customer relationships ........ccoeeurvenne $ 11,240 % (3,985 § 7,255 § 7,340 $ (1,147) $ 6,193
Maintenance contracts ..........c.ceeveeene.. 1,670 (263) 1,407 — — —
Acquired complete technology .......... 13,690 (2,849) 10,841 910 (202) 708
Trade name ...........ccoeeeeecvvvvvvrerenen, 330 (101) 229 —

$26030 § (7199 § 19732 5825 § (1349 56901

The customer relationships, maintenance contracts, acquired complete technology and trade name have weighted
average amortization periods of approximately 63 months, 120 months, 58 months and 36 months, respectively. The
values assigned to the intangible assets were, in large part, based on the values determined using a discounted cash
fiow model. The customer relationships and maintenance contracts are amortized based on the pattern in which the
economic benefit is consumed and the acquired complete technology and trade name are amortized on a straight-line
basis, which approximates that pattern.

Total amortization expense was $5.8 million, $1.3 million and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively. Future amortization expense for 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and thereafter is expected to
be $5.4 million, $4.8 million, $4.4 million, $4.1 million, $0.6 million and $0.4 million, respectively, excluding any
incremental expense that could result if we consummate future acquisitions.

Other Assets

Other assets consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
Capitalized internal-use software development costs, net of accumulated
amortization of $730 and $239, respectively.......ccccivinnivinnininnncirineccsesesnenennes $ 1,170 $ 1,280
Restricted cash held in €8CTOW........ccviiiiiiiiinnrinsremrreesssremrsessenessensensersenees — 807
Long term deposits and other NONCUITENE ASSELS ......ccvevvrererrrerereesneeneeesesnesesessessssesnas 144 162
$ 1314 5 2,249
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Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

The following table sets forth the components of accrued liabilities (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2006 2005

Accrued bonuses and COMMISSIONS uuvvivireiiirieieieieieisrrersssreeesssvstsissstasssssaseesssaressvarares $ 3,318 $ 1,579
Accrued payroll and vacation ... e 1,094 1,017
Accrued accounting and legal SErviCes.....ooveeiiiiiii e L177 487
ACCTUBT INTETEST .1ttt e e et st e r e asaen 730 —
Accrued sublease Labilify ..o i s — 240
Accrued sales and INCOME TAXES civiiiirirrvriris i re e see e st ssssssssssasssanssosesssss 1,011 248
Accrued tenant iMProVEMENTS .....c.vcveiieiereereesiestesesses s e e s e s s bbb 373 —
Other aCCrued BXPENSES ....oveciriierinrictesrreinees s e esssrassnerasssnsnsstasatrrrs e sesnsns e s srenas 1,424 309

$ 9327 $ 3,880

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The following table sets forth the components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of taxes (in
thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2006 2005
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale S€CUMTHES ......c.oovvivnvininnensinis e seeesvncesresvneses 5 9y 5 (157
Foreign currency translation adjustment............c..ccociin e 312 260
$ 219 § 103

4. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 75,000,000 shares of common stock. At December 31, 2006, shares of
common stock reserved for future issuance are as follows:

December 31,
2006

Stock options QUESTANAING ...ttt s s e poaa s e 3,881,395
Restricted common stock OUSANAIRG ..ot et cecsessaere v nerassrarassnsres st s e reas 185,637
WarTants OUESTANGIIE ....ovevveeverrerrrermir oo d s b s e sab s b s bs th e ve e sE e e st e s e e e st e ses e st e srsnarasnnnantons 1,092,923
Stock options available for future grant...............coiii 442 706

5,602,661

Warrants

In November 2005, the Company issued a warrant to a consulting group to purchase 10,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock with an exercise price of $17.84. The warrant is exercisable, in whole or in part during
the term commencing on September 5, 2007 and ending on September 5, 2010. Additionally, as part of the merger
with Visual Sciences in February 2006, the Company issued warrants to purchase 1,082,923 shares of the
Company’s common stock to the former holders of units of membership interest in Visual Sciences. These warrants
expire on August 1, 2007 and have an exercise price of $18.47 per share. The warrants issued to the former holders
of units of membership interest in Visual Sciences can be exercised through a net settlement in shares of the
Company’s commen stock.
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The following table sets forth the Company’s common stock warrants:

As of December 31, 2006
Number Number
of Shares of Shares Expiration Exercise
Outstanding Exercisable Date Price
10,000 — September 2010 b3 17.84
1.082.923 1.082.923 August 2007 $ 18.47
1,092,923 1,082,923
As of December 31, 2005
Number ) Number
of Shares of Shares Expiration Exercise
Outstanding Exercisable Date Price
10,000 — September 2010 $ 17.84
303,537 202,358 January 2013 5 —
313,537 202,358

In November 2006, the outstanding warrant for 303,537 shares of common stock was exercised with respect to
271,918 shares of the Company’s common stock, The remaining 31,619 shares of common stock were forfeited.
Stock-based compensation expense related to warrants during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
was $56,000, $212,000 and $255,000, respectively.

5. Business Cembinations
Visual Sciences

On February 1, 2006, pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), the Company
acquired all of the outstanding units of membership interest (the “Units™) of Visual Sciences, a provider of
streaming data analysis and visualization software and services, for approximately $47.1 million in consideration,
consisting of approximately $22.0 million in cash, senior notes with an estimated fair value of $18.7 million
(aggregate principal amount of $20.0 million) (the “Senior Notes™) and warrants to purchase 1,082,923 shares of the
Company’s common stock with an estimated fair value of approximately $6.4 million. In addition, the Company
issued 568,512 shares of common stock {the “Escrowed Common Stock™), which will be held in escrow until April
1, 2007 pursuant to the terms of an escrow agreement to satisfy indemnification claims, if any, of the Company
against Visual Sciences’ former members. In addition to the consideration outlined above, the Company also
incurred approximately $1.3 million in transaction costs.

The Company also granted to certain employees of Visual Sciences 189,507 shares of restricted common stock
with an aggregate estimated fair value of $3.9 million and non-qualified stock options to purchase 350,000 shares of
common stock with an aggregate estimated fair value of $2.9 million, each of which will be recorded as stock-based
compensation over the respective, requisite service periods pursuant to SFAS No. 123R. The merger with Visual
Sciences allows the Company to offer an in-house, software based, technology platform to measure, collect,
integrate, manage, analyze and visualize high volumes of data across multiple channels. Visual Sciences is operated
as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

The $18.7 million estimated fair value assigned to the Senior Notes is the calculated fair market value of the
notes based on a discount rate of 9.5%. The Senior Notes accrue interest at a rate of 4% per annum and mature on
August 1, 2007. The Senior Notes are subject to mandatory repayment, on demand, at any time after April 1, 2007
or upon certain underwritten public offerings of the Company’s common stock and must be repaid if the Company
incurs indebtedness that ranks senior or pati passu with the priority of payment attributable to the indebtedness
represented by the Senior Notes, subject to certain exceptions for permitted indebtedness under the Senior Notes. Of
the total $20 million in principal amount of the Senior Notes, $6.0 million is payable to current officers of the
Company. In the first quarter of 2007, the Company repaid all of the outstanding Senior Notes. See Note 12
“Subsequent Events” below.
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The $6.4 million estimated fair value assigned to the warrants, which were fully vested upon issuance, was
calculated using the Black-Scholes valuation model based on, among other things, the average closing price of the
Company’s common stock of $20.21 from the period two days before and including the day of the public
announcement and consummation of the merger, a warrant exercise price of $18.47 per share, a term of 1.5 years,
volatility of 47% and the 1,082,923 shares of Company common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants.

As noted above, the Escrowed Common Stock will be held in escrow until April 1, 2007 to secure
indemnification claims, if any, of the Company against Visual Sciences’ former members and optionholders. The
payment of the Escrowed Common Stock to the former members and optionholders of Visual Sciences is contingent
on the outcome of events that cannot be determined at this time. Any part of the Escrowed Common Stock paid to
the former owners of Visual Sciences will be accounted for as additional purchase price if, and when, such stock is
no longer subject to the indemnification obligations under the Merger Agreement.

The purchase price has been allocated as follows (in thousands):

February 1,
2006
(00T  FS SO U OO U O OO OO OOV PO POTION $ 3,083
A CCOUNES TECEIVADIE vt iiietiretiee et sereeesssstetsssinrree s rnreeeaseeeeetsbssesatstasennraessamanessassdssssnbs s sbrarantarnseasatnsaebabane 2,348
Prepaid expenses and other current assets, and deferred tax assels-cutrent..........coviiiiinnein 1,831
Property and SqUIPIMETE........iiiiii it st e e s 1,760
OLhEr 1ONZ-TETTII ASSELS 1.veverrrerscecemercceeemeti s iratis s e e e e e b T4y SR e RS E A bbb bR bbbt s aa e s 41
INEANZIDIE ASSETS. ... eerereeeeceer ettt e h eSS  nnee 18,680
GOOAWILL - oiieieteeiieis et e v esevereearesa e s e s seseesaeesasasstassbas s e es e emsesaee s e s emd s had s PR LSRR Lo R e e nbea b e e sereassshba e benb b st 24,145
Accounts payable and accrued Habilities. ... (2,210)
DEEITE TEVETIUES .. ooeevvveierererrereieseesevesesst et terarnneenseeaenes et oneetstsaabesesnessnsesnsnsssnsssssnssinssirsntessesmnesennsessissss (1.311)
Purchase price, including transaction COSES..........couviiiiiiiiin s ss st § 48367

The acquired intangible assets and goodwill have been classified in the Visual Sciences reportable segment. The
total amount assigned to goodwill is deductible for tax purposes. The weighted average amortization period for the
acquired intangible assets is as follows:

« completed technology of $12.8 million: 5 years
« customer relationships of $3.9 million: 5 years
« maintenance contracts of $1.7 million: 10 years
« trade name of $0.3 million: 3 years

The Company is currently finalizing its purchase price allocation relating to potential liabilities associated with
sales taxes. The Company expects that the purchase price will be finalized during the first quarter of 2007.

The merger with Visual Sciences closed on February 1, 2006. Therefore, the Company’s results of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2006 include the results of operations of Visual Sciences beginning February 1, 2006.
The following table summarizes unaudited pro forma operating results for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005 as if the Company had completed the merger as of the beginning of each period presented (in thousands,
except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005
RIEVEIIUES . .. cneeeeeeeeeeteitvessussetisssss s sebessnae sk aaasneeaaseansn e e saseeenset e asbeanbednme e s be s same s sab e e antssr s $ 65,330 $ 48,236
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .................. (7,754) 4,489
Net (10S8) INCOME ..cuevrrivereereeeseeseeeeesasneerers s eserere bt s s s e e sE s E g b b (7,741) 4,489
(Loss) earnings per share — DasiC. ... (0.41) 0.26
(Loss) eamings per share — diluted ... (0.41) 0.24
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This information has been prepared for comparative purposes only and does not purport to be indicative of the
results of operations which actually would have resulted had the merger occurred as of the beginning of each period
presented, nor is it indicative of future financial results.

Avivo

On May 4, 2005, the Company completed the acquisition of Avivo Corporation (“Avivo”), a provider of on-
demand website search and content solutions. The Company paid approximately $4.2 million in cash, and issued
2,958,713 shares of common stock and options to purchase 164,434 shares of common stock, to acquire Avivo. On
the acquisition date, approximately $0.8 million of the $4.2 million total cash consideration and approximately
592,000 of the 2,958,713 shares of commen stock (together, the “Escrow Amount™) were deposited in ¢scrow to
secure indemnification obligations of Avivo and possible adjustments to the purchase price. In August 2006, upon
the 15-month anniversary of the closing, 325,538 shares of the Company’s common stock and cash in the amount of
approximately $444,000 were released from escrow. The Company recorded an increase to goodwill of $3.9 million
as a result of the value of the shares released from escrow based on the closing price of its common stock on August
4, 2006. In addition, approximately $161,000 in cash was transferred out of the escrow to the Company and 118,261
shares of common stock were cancelled as a result of an earn-out adjustment. One-fourth of the original Escrow
Amount was held back for an additional nine months to secure certain ongoing indemnification obligations of
Avivo. The payment of the remaining Escrow Amount to the shareholders of Avivo is contingent on the outcome of
events that cannot be determined at this time. Any part of the remaining Escrow Amount paid to the selling
shareholders of Avivo will be accounted for as additional purchase price if, and when, such part of the remaining
Escrow Amount is no longer subject to the indemnification obligations under the Avivo merger agreement.

The Company calculated an aggregate purchase price of approximately $33.0 million including approximately
$3.4 million in cash, $27.7 million in common stock and $1.4 million in options issued to Avivo shareholders as
well as transaction expenses of $0.5 million. The $27.7 million assumed value of common stock is calcutated based
on approximately 2,367,000 shares of WebSideStory common stock and the average closing price of the common
stock from the period two days before to two days after the public announcement of the Merger Agreement. The
2,367,000 shares of WebSideStory common stock is the balance remaining after the total share consideration of
2,958,713 is reduced by approximately 592,000 shares held back as part of the Escrow Amount.

The acquisition of Avivo closed on May 4, 2005. Therefore, the Company’s results of operations for the year
ended December 31, 2005 includes the results of operations of Avivo beginning May 4, 2005. The following table
summarizes unaudited pro forma operating results for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 as if the
Company had completed the acquisition as of the beginning of each period presented (in thousands, except per share
data):

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004
RV EIIUES. ..o verrretretreree i eece i ersereist et e st et s saseteeaeet e saas s e s s s s s enssreearasatosssubesesnssresnsnsnanresnees $ 42,821 $ 28,957
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ................... 9,466 (2,141)
NELINCOME (J0S5) . cuietiriiiieeieeee ittt sbe e eceee e s e s e sttt e e esee e envasesrssbe bt ebemsneneannenenes 9,466 (2,141)
Earnings (1085} per share — basiC.......ccooeeiiiiiererieireeecenee et 0.48 {0.22)
Earnings (loss) per share — diluted..........c.ccovvvivieiinieecie e e 0.45 (0.22)

This information has been prepared for comparative purposes only and does not purport to be indicative of the
results of operations which actually would have resulted had the acquisition occurred as of the beginning of each
period presented, nor is it indicative of future financial results.

6. Debt

In connection with the merger with Visual Sciences (described in Note 5), the Company issued senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of $20 million to former members of Visual Sciences. The senior notes accrue interest at
a rate of 4% per annum and mature on August 1, 2007, Interest on the notes is payable at maturity or on certain
earlier repayment or prepayment dates. The senior notes are subject to mandatory repayment, on demand, at any
time after April 1, 2007 or upon certain underwritten public offerings of the Company’s common stock and must be
repaid if the Company incurs indebtedness that ranks senior or pari passu with the priority of payment attributable to
the indebtedness represented by the senior notes, subject to certain exceptions for permitted indebtedness under the
senior notes. The Company has the right to prepay, in whole or in part, the outstanding principal amount of these
senior notes and all accrued interest thereon at any time without penalty.
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The Company has recorded imputed interest on the senior notes based on an effective interest rate of 9.5%. The
discount of $1.3 million is being amortized, using the effective interest method, over the period ending April 1,
2007, which is the date on which the senior notes become payable upon demand. Total discount amortization of
$968,000 was recorded as interest expense during the year ended December 31, 2006. Interest expense, inclusive of
discount amortization, totaled $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.

As described in Note 12, in February 2007 the Company entered into a loan and security agreement with Silicon
Valley Bank, which provides for a $15 million revolving credit facility through February 2009. As of March 9,
2007, the Company had used $5.0 million of initial borrowings under this credit facility, together with cash-on-hand,
to repay all of the senior notes issued in connection with the Visual Sciences merger.

7. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company adopted the 2004 Equity Incentive Award Plan (“2004 Plan”) effective on September 28, 2004.
The 2004 Plan authorized the Company to initially issue up to 2,100,000 shares of common stock. Commencing on
January 1, 2005 and on each January 1 thereafter during the ten-year term of the 2004 Plan, the number of shares of
common stock that may be issued pursuant to awards granted under the 2004 Plan is automatically increased by that
number of shares equal to the lesser of (1) four percent of the outstanding shares of common stock on such date, (2)
1,000,000 shares or (3) a lesser amount determined by the Company’s board of directors.

The 2004 Plan replaced the Company’s 2000 equity incentive plan (2000 Plan”) but all awards outstanding
under the 2000 Plan as of the effective date of the 2004 Plan remained outstanding and exercisable pursuant to the
terms of the 2000 Plan and the terms of such individual grants, but no additional awards will be granted under the
2000 Plan. The 2004 Plan provides for awards consisting of stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights,
performance awards, dividend equivalents, stock payments, restricted stock units and other stock related benefits, or
any combination thereof. The 2004 Plan provides for the grant of options and restricted (nonvested) stock awards to
selected employees and directors of, and consultants to, the Company to purchase shares of the Company’s common
stock.

In May 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 Employment Commencement Equity Incentive Award Plan (the
“2006 Plan”). The 2006 Plan authorizes the issuance of up to 500,000 shares of common stock and it provides for
awards consisting of stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, dividend equivalents, stock payments,
restricted stock units and other stock-based awards, or any combination thereof. Awards under the 2006 Plan may
only be made to new employees of the Company (or following a bona fide period of non-employment) in connection
with such employee’s commencement of employment with the Company if such grant is an inducement material to
such employee’s entering into employment with the Company.

In the event of a change of control, as defined in each of the 2006 Plan, 2004 Plan and 2000 Plan (collectively,
the “Plans™) where the acquirer does not assume or replace awards granted under the Plans, such awards that are
held by participants whose employment or service with the Company has not terminated will be subject to
accelerated vesting such that 100% of such awards will become vested and exercisable in connection with such
change of control.

Vesting provisions and other terms and conditions of awards granted under each of the Plans are determined by
the compensation committee at the time of grant. Options granted under the Plans generally vest over four years and
restricted stock awards generally vest over one year. Options generally expire seven or ten years from the date of
grant and restricted stock awards generally have a contractual term of one year. Stock-based compensation is
measured at the grant-date fair value and is amortized over the vesting term using an accelerated graded method as
allowed by SFAS No. 123R. Upon option exercise, the Company issues new shares of common stock.

In connection with the acquisition of Avive Corporation in May 2005, the Company assumed all of the options
then outstanding under the Avivo 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Avivo Plan”), which then became exercisable for
approximately 164,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The options will continue to vest under the terms of
the Avivo Plan. These options generally vest over five years and expire ten years from the grant date. The Company
does not intend to grant any additional options under the Avivo Plan. All information below includes the options
assumed by the Company under the Avivo Plan,
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Information under SFAS No. 123R for 2006

The Company has recorded approximately $7.8 million of compensation expense relative to stock options for the
vear ended December 31, 2006 in accordance with SFAS No. 123R. As of December 31, 2006, there was
approximately $9.4 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to stock options. These costs are
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.46 years. Stock option activity under all plans is
summarized as follows:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Options Exercise Contractual Value
Qutstanding Prices Term (vears) {in_miltions}
Balance at December 31, 2005 ........ovviv i e e 2,814,596 % 9.29
L) 7214121 AU UTSURP 2,183,369 16.66
EXETCISed .cooveecriisi it (230,979) 6.34
FOrfeited.......v oot s (885.591) 12.67
Balance at December 31, 2006 ...c..o.oooviiiiiiiiiiee e 3,881,395 12.84 167 3 73
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2006................ 3,508,019 12,62 0.90 $ 76
Exercisable at December 31,2006 ..........ccccoorvvvvvevienciiniann. 1,140,816 8.13 112 § 58

The Company has recorded $3.6 million of compensation expense relative to restricted stock awards for the year
ended December 31, 2006 in accordance with SFAS No. 123R. As of December 31, 2006, there was $0.3 million of
total unrecognized compensation costs related to the restricted stock awards. These costs are expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 0.09 years. Restricted (nonvested) stock activity under all plans is
summarized as follows:

Weighted

Average
Restricted Remaining
Stock Contractual

QOuitstanding Term {in years)
Nonvested shares at December 31, 2005 o e —

AWEREd ...ttt n et eeene e e e nnre s 199,507
VSR ettt ee et e v e sre e ra e et et s e b e eesae e eaeeeneeaneeareeseaebesbeanaeen (9,166)
FOrfeited. ... ..o e e e (4.704)
Nonvested shares at December 31, 2006 ... e 185,637 0.09

The weighted average grant-date estimated fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31,
2006 was $6.76 and the weighted average grant-date fair value of restricted stock awards granted during the year
ended December 31, 2006 was $20.40 per share. For the year ended December 31, 2006, the total intrinsic value of
options exercised was $1.8 million and the total fair value of restricted stock awards vested was $122,000.

The following table presents the stock-based compensation expense included in the Company’s cost of revenues,

sales and marketing, technology development, and general and administrative expenses for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

COST OF FEVEITUES ...covvevniereiereisreisesstessessses st ssntsstsseeestasabasatesasesassssssanssensssnesreessesssasans $ 2359 3§ 58 §% 15
Sales and Marketing ...t 3,791 183 209
Technology development ... e e 2,555 334 37
General and adminiStrative ... veeerei e e s 2,719 423 621
Stock-based compensation expense before taxes ........ccoevvreinineenei e 11,424 998 882
Related income tax benefHs.........ccooiiiiiiiiie e e (4,530) (396) —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax .......occoevvievncceens (13) — —

Stock-based compensation expense, net of taXes....coovevevvreeverevevcrcsnsrerseereeeeeeeee. 50,881 8 602  § 882

F-27




Information under SFAS No. 123 for Periods Prior to 2006

Stock option transactions under ali plans are summarized as follows:

Weighted-

Average

Options Exercise

. _Outstanding __Prices

Balance at December 31, 2003 ...ocociiiiireicrerrs e tatsabs smss s s e s 1,089,444 § 2.00
GEANEEA 1orovere oot e tese st eeseesasssemeebssatersessnre et aantaresrse st obeabSar e e e 4 1A PRSP m e bEESE BT PR SRS s b 1,053,321 7.54
EXEECISEA o.neeeveeeeeeeeetestssiasssrerssssssess e sanesssssaraer s bss et saraseessababasbaara s arasanseasrssbabsbabasabsrarnsanas (406,862) 1.04
FOITRILEA oo eeeeeeeeeeeteeeeeeee e st ereseeneeesetsss s e e s e e ba s s s s s saceamd s a8 e s AR e e AR e e b r e p e e e s b b as b b s aan s n b bes (99.241) 4.88
Balance at December 31, 2004 .......ooververerecree st ssssps s st st s e 1,636,662 5.62
GTAMEEA oot teeeveeesteeasuenseesenessstssbareseseanssvsreenss s bd et asRnssab e samesa e e s ek EH b e e e e sad s 4 e H At s rnsnan st 1,644,598 11.65
EXOICISEO oo ouvereeeeeeeeerstereeesasoreressran e s sabasbsassatasbesaneresnneassabasssantmrne e anaranmsit s it are st e essttanenss (334,713) 2.92

Lo S T 1=y FRUTTRT O U U PSPPSR UTOT PRIt (131,951) 9.31
Balance at December 31, 2005 ..ot e etts e s e e 2,814,596 §_9.29%
Options exercisable at December 31, 2005 ..o, _ 552363 $_4.68
Options exercisable at December 31, 2004 ... _ 405795 §__3.31

The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of options granted for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004 was as follows:

Year Ended

_ December 31,

2005 2004

Weighted-average fair value:

Options granted below fair VAIUS. ... st $ R840 8 1.92

Options granted above faIF VAIUE ........coviiommiinicr s 4.72 021

Options equal t0 fAIT VAIUE....c.ccuirriireee sttt bt 5.14 437
Weighted-average exercise price:

Options granted at or below fAir VAU ... 11.64 759

Options granted above fail VAIUE . ....ccouviiiimmccii s 12.02 6.74

The weighted average grant-date estimated fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2004 was $5.54 and $2.93 per share, respectively. There were no restricted stock awards granted during
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $4.5 million and
$0.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The intrinsic value per share, which is the difference between the fair value per share and the exercise price, was
recognized as compensation expense over the applicable vesting period for awards accounted for under APB No. 25.
Unearned stock-based compensation is being amortized over the vesting term using an accelerated graded method in
accordance with FIN No. 28. The fair value of common stock was determined on a retrospective basis for all grants
prior to the Company’s initial public offering on October 1, 2004.

8. Qualified Retirement Plan

The Company maintains an employee savings plan that qualifies as a deferred salary arrangement under Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under the savings plan, participating employees may contribute a portion of
their pre-tax earnings, up to the Internal Revenue Service annual contribution limit. Additionally, the Company may
elect to make matching contributions into the savings plan at its sole discretion. Beginning in 2005 the Company
initiated a 50% match of up to 4% of the employee’s contributions, which was increased to a 50% match of up to
5% of the employee’s contributions effective January 1, 2006. The Company’s total contributions to the 401(k) plan
were $425,000 and $185,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively.
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9, Income Taxes

(Loss) income before income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
United SHALES.......oovviticeeece e et $ (12914) § 5952 § 1,264
INEEINALONAL.....vvs e e 694 634 550

3 (12.220) § 6,586 § 1814

The components of the (benefit from) provision for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Current —
FedeTal .......cooiiirnie ettt e s s s st be s a4 e e e e bt s e bbb e A bt e eme e eeeanntes b 23 % 64 $ 25
Y7 11 OSSO USROS PO USRS RRR 9 56 2
FOPRIBI. ..ttt st e e b e e et emn e e e 233 204 2]
265 324 48

Deferred

Feaeral ... oot esiais st s st e es cab s bbb s r e e e tns e bt b bbb e sa bt e eeeneen (3,702)  (2,997) —
AL ettt oo et es b e s tabsbs e emmes e e gs s AR e e Rt e b e e e e emaneabt s b A b e e e e eeneeneenratas (1 054) (438) —
FOUBIEI. oottt e e v bbb e et e e s e se et 38 (2)
(4,756) (3397 _ ()
S (4491 3 (3,073) 3§ 46

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2006 2008
Deferred tax assets
Accrued BONUSES AN VACATION .........iceeeeee e ecreevsesessinsssaeeeereressresssesssssrasseasessearesseresesseasase $ 208 % 250
Allowance for dOUDLIUl AUCOUNES .......oovveeeereeererertierereeessiseesereerrreretotssstesesesssanseerasersnsreserens 150 95
Stock-based compensation related to nonstatutory stock oOptions.........cevovoveeeccvevvervinnannns 4322 1,111
Depreciation and amortiZAtON .........c.cceieeceenioriiiisieieesesieseesee s rese e e steseseesssseseesseseesarseneas 480 308
Federal net operating 10sS carryfOrWard ..........c.ooevveervrureverececcceeerercnnssesesesreseeeesreceecnens 10,419 10,078
State net operating 1085 CArTYTOIWard ... ..o 1,503 1,030
rEILS. 1o veetveteeeeits e ittt ettt e et e e s eae s bt enseaeeer e st e et eeabassesansaanssansebesntsssbes e aeaneenssamsannsanees 23 —
BT ot ettt e e e v s e e e s eh kst e e e e e e vt e e e rtaeatah i e e e e aeeeeneenrane et ey ateean e e eamnaaeeaate 204 75

17,309 12,947

Deferred tax liabilities

Other identified intangibles ... - {1,251) (2,764)
Capitalized software and website development COSES voverrressserseressemsreseessreeseesrs s (394) {510)
(1,645)  (3,274)

Valuation AlIOWAICE ...ttt et sttt s sanesbe bt secmcenenerea — —
3 15,664 § 9,673

At December 31, 2006, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $30.6
million and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $22.3 million, which are available to offset
future taxable income. The federal net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2020. The state net
operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2012,

In 2006, net deferred tax assets increased approximately $6.0 million primarily due to the recognition of
approximately $4.3 million of net deferred tax assets in connection with compensation expense related to stock
options. The realization of the tax benefits of this deferred tax asset is dependent upon the stock price of the
Company exceeding the exercise price of the related stock options at the time of exercise, as well as the sufficiency
of taxable income in future years. The Company’s net deferred tax assets also consist of accumulated net operating
losses which are also subject to Section 382 as a result of prior ownership changes. The combined deferred tax
assets represent the amounts expected to be realized before expiration.
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The Company periodically assesses the likelihood that it will be able to recover its deferred tax assets. The
Company considers all available evidence, both positive and negative, including historical levels of income,
expectations and risks associated with estimates of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible profits.
As a result of this analysis of all available evidence, both positive and negative, the Company concluded that it is
more-likely-than-not that its net deferred tax assets will ultimately be recovered and, accordingly, no valuation
allowance was recorded as of December 31, 2006.

A reconciliation of the income tax (benefit) expense computed using the U.S. federal statutory tax rate (34%)
and the Company’s provision for income taxes follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2005 2004
Computed expected federal tax (benefit) eXpense ... $ 4,161) % 2208 3 61l
State taxes, net of federal benefit.. ... (690) 391 139
Stock-based COMPENSALION EXPENSE. curuiumreresrseerirsrsinii st s s (2) (13) 30)
ANErnative MINIMUIT t8X ....ooviorieiereireeirere s oot srs i s se sy s s sy — — 11
Original issue diScount aMOTHZAtON .....c.cveniiiii s 311 — —
OMPET v eeeteeeeeeeeeserts e saeseeeeses b esaseseeaear b be e sesas e e b s bR e R SRR R e R RSy e RS s 51 215 58
W AIUATION AIIOWAIICE 1ereeeeeeeee e erisreeisnseertesosaesensaessnsraseaeuessasnessnnrsanrensnsssssssatssnansesarnses — (5.874) _ (743

$ (440D § (.07 546

10. Segment Information

As a result of the Company’s merger with Visual Sciences in February 2006, the Company has two reportable
business segments: WebSideStory and Visual Sciences, as defined by SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of
an Enterprise and Related Information. WebSideStory sells products to build and optimize a company’s online
presence such as web analytics, website search, web content management, and keyword bid management. Visual
Sciences sells products that analyze customer interactions and data across a company’s business, such as web, call
center and messaging analytics. Customers use the services offered by WebSideStory to better understand how
Internet users respond to website design and content, online marketing and e-commerce offerings and to manage the
content of their web pages and make them searchable. Customers use the services offered by Visual Sciences to
analyze and understand customer interaction across multiple delivery channels. Delivery of the services offered by
WebSideStory occurs on-demand over the Internet using secure, proprietary and scalable applications and system
architectures. Delivery of the services offered by the Visual Sciences division occurs either in-house by installation
of licensed software on a customer’s hardware or on-demand over the Internet using secure, proprietary and scalable
applications and system architectures.

The Company uses the management approach, which designates the internal organization that is used by
management to make operating decisions and assess performance, as the source of the Company’s reportable
segments. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the notes to these consolidated
financial statements included in Note 2.

The following table sets forth the Company’s segment information (in thousands):

Yisual
WebSideStory Sciences Total
Year Ended December 31, 2006
Revenues from external CUSIOMETS ... o ceeereenciimiminininssrs e e sneen s $ 55101 S 9426 % 64,527
L 0SS fTOM OPEratioNns ........covviiirrisimnenrcn st (874) (10,281)  (11,155)
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle............ (389) (7.340) (7,729)
Depreciation and amortization EXPense ... 2,154 955 3,109
Amortization of intangible aSSets.......irirrre s 2,216 3,633 5,849
Stock-based cOMPENSALION EXPENSE .ivvierermrmrirrreee i 6,434 4,990 11,424
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Visual
WebSideStory _Sciences Total

Year Ended December 31, 2005

Revenues from eXternal CUSIOIMEIS ... uvuvrev i reieinecseseeeisecsererssnseraresssssessrasosessssns $ 39,452 $— § 39452

INCOME fTOM OPETALIONS .. .vvvivereeesereesiiiierissieressie st esis e r e et e seeeeeseemae e eeeeeeeeenes 5,758 — 5,758

Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ............... 9,659 — 9,659

Depreciation and amortization EXPENSE ... e s s e snrans 1,311 — 1,311

Amortization of Intangible ASSEIS ..o ierriereererarereeresesrerareseceneesenranin 1,349 — 1,349

Stock-based cOMPENSATION EXPENSE ... ..cciuiirieinreniriaeiienieesessees e seessesee e seeens 998 — 9938
Visual

WebSideStory  _Sciences Total
Year Ended December 31, 2004

Revenues from external CUSIOMETS ........ocoeveieeeeeeeeeeeeeeevevec et aesrersensenesserssssares $ 22,602 §— $ 22,602
INCOME fTOM OPEIALIONS ..cvvveeeecicnecc bbb 1,642 — 1,642
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ............... 1,768 — 1,768
Depreciation and amortization EXPENSE v errvrreirirersnreerrrrsirsrrsessssresiessessins 1,009 — 1,609
Amortization of intangible asseS.......coimiiii e — — —
Stock-based compensation eXPENSE........coccvivevieiniiirininieei e e 882 — 882
Yisual
WebSideStory _ Sciences Total
As of December 31, 2006
GOOAWILL ..ottt r et s st b n e e ee s reeaneneenes $ 25235 324,145 § 49,380
INtangible a8SE1S, MEL..uireceeee e cnrrrrsiiseieresiatens e snrsre s sres e se s sesres s ssesaes 4,685 15,047 19,732
Qe VR = RPNt 87,068 50,500 137,568
Visual
WebSideStory  _Sciences Total
As of December 31, 2005
GOOAWILL ..ottt ettt e et e e te e teeae et e s e eae s re e v neeresreraranes $ 21,286 §— % 21,286
INANZIDIE ASSELS, ML, \vivuieriieice e eeeee e sy v s sre st st e e s sr e reres 6,901 — 6,901
TOUAL BSSEIS...vverricrreereirrrirrsiessie e e esseesesseeenseeseesaresnessnsesrsesnssnsssssssnsantraneranesnnes 87,743 — 87,743

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, 4% of the Company’s total assets were located outside the United States.
Revenues for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 by subsidiary geographic region were as follows
(in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
UNIEEE SEALES. ..o eeteecieeeieeeee et babtsctse b e e e e seeeseme s nss s ens e s e s s nenns s $ 56,234 § 33,831 $§ 18,983
BUIOPE .ttt ettt e he e e e s e m s aerae s s e e r e e 8,293 5,621 3,619

$ 64527 $ 39452 § 22,602

No individual European subsidiary accounted for 10% or more of total revenue for the years ended December
31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

On February 3, 2006, NetRatings, Inc., an internet media and market research company, filed a lawsuit against
the Company in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York. The suit alleges willful
infringement of United States Patent Nos. 5,675,510, 6,108,637, 6,115,680, 6,138,155, 6,763,386. In the complaint,
NetRatings seeks a preliminary and permanent injunction, unspecified monetary damages {(compensatory and
enhanced) and recovery of its attorneys’ fees and costs. The Company’s answer to the complaint, in which it denied
the material allegations of the complaint, was filed on March 24, 2006. A Markman claim construction hearing was
held on February 1, 2007. A final pre-trial conference for this case is scheduled for fuly 25, 2007. No trial date is
currently set for this case., Although there can be no assurance that an unfavorable outcome in this matter would not
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operating results, liquidity or financial position, the Company
believes the claims made by NetRatings are without merit and intends to vigorously defend the action, As such, the
Company does not believe a probable or estimable loss contingency related to this matter exists as of December 31,
2006, therefore, no loss accrual has been recorded.
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On February 22, 2006, the Company filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of California charging NetRatings with willful infringement of United States Patent No. 6,393,479. The
complaint seeks a permanent injunction against continued infringement as well as unspecified monetary damages
{compensatory and enhanced) and recovery of the Company’s attorneys’ fees and costs. On March 30, 2006, the
Company filed a first amended complaint containing additional details regarding the NetRatings products currently
accused of infringing the ‘479 Patent. NetRatings answered the amended complaint on April 12, 2006, denying the
material allegations of the amended complaint and asserting counterclaims for a declaration of non-infringement and
invalidity/unenforceability of the ‘479 Patent. On May 5, 2006, the Company replied to the counterclaims, denying
their material allegations. A Markman claim construction hearing was held on January 24, 2007. A pre-trial
conference for this case is scheduled for September 10, 2007. No trial date is currently set for this case. Given the
nature of patent litigation, at the present time the Company is unable to quantify the amount of remuneration it will
ultimately seek in this proceeding or the likelihood of recovering any portion of such remuneration once quantified.

From time to time, the Company is also involved in other routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of its
business. While the results of such litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company believes that the final
outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows,

During 2006, the Company entered into non-cancelable letters of credit in the aggregate amount of $442,000 to
secure future payments under leases for two facilities. The letters of credit expire in 2007 and contain automatic
renewal terms extending through 2013. No amounts have been drawn against either letter of credit as of December
31, 2006. The funds that secure the letters of credit for the bank have been classified as restricted cash and included
in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2006.

The Company leases its office facilities and office equipment under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements
that expire on various dates through January 2013 and, with respect to the office leases, contain certain renewal
options. Rent expense under non-cancelable operating lease arrangements is accounted for on a straight-line basis
and totaled $2.0 million, $1.3 million and $0.9 million during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Rent expense for
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was net of sublease income of $778,000, $768,000 and
$744,000, respectively.

The following table summarizes the approximate future minimum rentals under non-cancelable operating lease
arrangements, net of sublease rental income of $597,000 in 2007, in effect at December 31, 2006 (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31:

D007 ooooe oo s oo e st s eeat e e se e et e ARt ettt eeer ettt $ 2,168
2008 oo ee oo ereseeee e s 2see 22 e e e e oSt e e et 2SRttt e e bttt et sttt 2619
2009 1o e oo oo et oot 1 2oes 4212ttt reree e e ees ettt r et re s eee st at e et 2,635
2000 oo oeeseeseeeeeeeo oo oo oo e s e s eeseees 2sses oo e eees eeeeeesese et re e ese e seeesemsesessseeat et sr e rernses 2,639
2011 eooereeooesees oo oeeeeee oo oo e seseeee s s esseesee e e s e esea s s e s s vesermeeererema eSS e 2,718
TRELEATIEL «veveeeeeteereerssie e e seieeeaeeaesaaeeeesbsbsssssssnssassssneannnssnsernsnrrersnesasarnnteerannnt s amasaesernereeenbbdbasanbasssssibansnanss 3.033

TOMAL onreooveeeeeeresesaseneseeaseseeeeeeeessetststsssssessessassbssasaesensas st e st sastsresensnsmsanasannsesesnsntatatatebesssssssninnesstenensenneness 319,812
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12. Subsequent Events

New Credit Facility

In February 2007, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank (the
“Credit Agreement”), which provides for a $15 million senior secured revolving credit facility through February
2009. Amounts borrowed under the Credit Agreement bear interest at 0.25 percent less than the prime rate, or
LIBOR plus 2.50 percent, as selected by the Company. All advances made under the Credit Agreement are
guaranteed by the Company’s domestic subsidiaries and are secured by a first priority security interest in
substantially all of the present and future personal property of the Company and certain domestic subsidiaries, other
than intellectual property rights and the capital stock of foreign subsidiaries. Advances under the revolving credit
facility will be used by the Company for working capital, to help repay the $20 million in aggregate principal
amount of senior notes issued in connection with the merger with Visual Sciences, and to fund the Company’s
general business requirements.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company is subject to certain limitations including limitations on its ability to
incur additional debt, sell assets, make certain investments or acquisitions, grant liens, pay dividends and enter into
certain merger and consolidation transactions, among other restrictions. The Company is also required to maintain
compliance with financial covenants which include a minimum consolidated adjusted quick ratio and a minimum
level of earnings before stock-based compensation, income taxes, depreciation and amortization expense.

As of March 9, 2007, the Company had used $5.0 million of initial borrowings under this credit facility, together
with cash-on-hand, to repay all of the senior notes it had issued in connection with the Visual Sciences merger.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2{{)2

I, James W. Maclntyre, 1V, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WebSideStory, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
matertal fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and intemal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)} for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

{(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,

process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date; March 13, 2007

By: /s JAMES W. MACINTYRE, 1V

James W. Maclntyre, [V
Chief Executive Officer and President




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Claire Long, certify that;

1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WebSideStory, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
peried in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 2007

By: /s CLAIRE LONG
Claire Long
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of WebSideStory, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period
ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™),
I, James W. Maclntyre, IV, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C,
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

2. That information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company,

Date: March 13, 2007

/s/ JAMES W. MACINTYRE, IV
James W. Maclntyre, 1V
Chief Executive Officer and President

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of WebSideStory, Inc. (the “Company™) for the period
ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™),
I, Ctaire Long, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.5.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuarnt to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

2. That information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 13, 2007
/s! CLAIRE LONG

Claire Long
Chief Financial Officer
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the percentage change in our cumulative total stockholder return on our
common stock during a period commencing on September 30, 2004, the date our shares began trading following our
initial public offering, and ending on December 31, 2006 (as measured by dividing (A) the difference between our
share price at the end and the beginning of the measurement period by (B) our share price at the beginning of the
measurement period) with the cumulative total return of the Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S. companies) Index, which
we refer to as the Nasdaq Market Composite Index, and the Nasdaq Computer Index during such period. The
Nasdaq Computer Index contains Nasdaq listed companies that manufacture and distribute computers and
associated electronic data processing equipment, accessories, semiconductor capital equipment, wafers and chips,
providers of computer services and IT consultants, Internet access providers, internet software and on-line service
providers, and producers and distributors of computer software.

The graph assumes that $100 was invested on September 30, 2004 in our common stock, the Nasdaq Market
Composite Index and the Nasdaq Computer Index and assumes reinvestment of any dividends. We have not paid
any dividends on our common stock, and we do not include dividends in the representation of our performance. The
stock price performance on the graph below does not necessarily indicate future price performance.
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WebSideStory, Inc. 100 134 131 160 188 199 186 132 143 137
Nasdag Market
Composite Index 100 111 106 109 113 116 124 115 120 128
Nasdaq Computer Index| 100 113 108 112 115 120 121 111 120 127

The above performance graph and related material is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed “filed” with the
SEC and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporating by reference such
information into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically
incorporate this information by reference, and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under such acts.
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CEQ, WebSideStory
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Investor Contact Information

Transfer Agent and Registrar Independent Registered
U.S. Stock Transfer Carporation Public Accounting Firm
1745 Gardena Ave. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Glendale, CA 91204 750 B Street, Suite 2900
818.502.1404 San Diego, CA 92101

619.744.8000

Legal Counsel

Latham & Watkins LLP

12636 High BIuff Drive, Suite 400
San Diego, CA 92130
858.523.5400

Investor Relations

Additional copies of this repert, the Proxy Statement, the Annual Report on Form
10-K or other financial information will be provided free of charge. To abtain these
documents please contact WebSideStory Investor Relations.

Investor Contact: Claire Long, Chief Financial Officer

Mailing Address: 10182 Telesis Court
San Diego, CA 92121

Phone Number:  858.546.0040

The commen stock of the Company is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under
the symbol “WSSI.”

Annual Stockholders Meeting: May 7, 2007 at 9:00 am at Corporate Headquarters

WebSideStory Offices

Corporate Headquarters
10182 Telesis Court

San Diego, CA 92121
Phone: 858.546.0040

Fax: 858.546.0480

European Operations
Neptunusstraat 23

2132 JA Hoofddorp

The Netherlands

Phone: +31 (0) 23.554.10.10
Fax: +31 (0) 23.554.10.11

www.WebSideStory.com
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